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CHANGES OF SUBSTANCE FROM THE 2021 EDITION OF THE HANDBOOK
AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

References

This handbook contains references to International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs). Unless otherwise indicated, references to IASs and IFRSs are to the IASs and IFRSs in effect at the date of preparing a
pronouncement. Accordingly, readers are cautioned that, where a revised IAS or IFRS has been issued subsequently, reference should
be made to the most recent IAS or IFRS.

References to “country” in this handbook should be read as “country or jurisdiction.”

Pronouncements Issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board

This handbook contains the complete set of International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board’s (IAASB) standards on quality
management, auditing, review, other assurance and related services, as well as the non-authoritative International Auditing
Practice Notes (IAPN). It also includes a preface to the IAASB’s pronouncements, a glossary of terms, and other non-authoritative
material. This 2022 edition of the IAASB Handbook replaces the 2021 edition of the IAASB Handbook.

Additions and Changes
Part I of the IAASB Handbook

Quality Management Standards
The following standards have been incorporated into the 2022 edition of the IAASB Handbook:

. ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or
Related Services Engagements

. ISQM 2, Engagement Quality Reviews
. ISA 220 (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements

These standards were presented on pages 706—796 in the 2021 edition of the [AASB Handbook. Changes have been made throughout
as appropriate for referencing to the revised standards. Changes for the conforming and consequential amendments to the ISAs and
related material presented on pages 797—817 of the 2021 edition of the IAASB Handbook have also been made in the 2022 edition of
the IAASB Handbook, including to update cross-referencing, where relevant, because of the revised standards.

Part Il of the IAASB Handbook

ISRS 4400 (Revised) has been incorporated into the 2022 TAASB Handbook. This standard was presented on pages 265-286 in Part II
of the 2021 edition of the IAASB Handbook. Changes have been made throughout as appropriate for referencing to the revised standard.

Changes for the conforming and consequential amendments to other international standards arising from the new and revised quality
management standards presented on pages 287-338 in Part II of the 2021 edition of the IAASB Handbook have been made in the 2022
edition of the IAASB Handbook , including to update cross-referencing, where relevant, because of the revised standards.

Part IlI of the IAASB Handbook

Changes for the conforming and consequential amendments to the International Framework for Assurance Engagements arising from
the new and revised quality management standards presented on pages 61-62 in Part III of the 2021 edition of the IAASB Handbook
have been made in the 2022 edition of the IAASB Handbook.

Withdrawals

The following standards included in the 2021 TAASB Handbook have been withdrawn and replaced with a revised standard that is now
effective:
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Part I of the IAASB Handbook

. ISQC 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other Assurance and Related
Services Engagements

. ISA 220, Quality Control for an Audit of Financial Statements

Part Il of the IAASB Handbook
. ISRS 4400, Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures Regarding Financial Information (Previously IS4 920)

Part I1I of the [IAASB Handbook
There are no withdrawals in Part III of the 2022 IAASB Handbook.

Standards Not Yet Effective

The following standards, which are not yet effective, have been included in the back of Part I of the 2022 edition of the IAASB
Handbook:

. ISA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
(pages 798-845)

. Conforming and Consequential Amendments to Other International Standards Arising from ISA 600 (Revised) (pages 846—871)

Editorial and Other Changes Made in the 2022 IAASB Handbook

In addition to minor editorials made, the following lists the changes that have been made to the previously published handbook or
pronouncements.

Addressing Amendments to IAS 1

As described in the IAASB’s IASB Liaison Working Group Publication, Amendments to IAS 1 and the Impact on the ISAs: Disclosure
of Material Accounting Policy Information (November 2022), changes have been made to address certain narrow-scope amendments

made by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements.

. [llustrations of Auditors’ Reports in the following standards have been updated to reflect the change in terminology from ‘a
summary of significant accounting policies’ to ‘material accounting policy information’:

o ISA 510, Initial Audit Engagement—Opening Balances
o ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern
o ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)

o ISA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component
Auditors)

o ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion on the Financial Statements

o ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report

o ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor’s Report
o ISA 710, Comparative Information— Corresponding Figures and Comparative Financial Statements

o ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information

o ISRE 2400 (Revised), Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements

. The example of an audit engagement letter in Appendix 1 of ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements and Appendix
1 of ISRE 2400 (Revised) have also been updated to reflect the change in terminology described above.

Part 1
. At the beginning of the handbook, added information regarding the IAASB and the International Foundation for Ethics and Audit
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to the role of the International Federation of Accountants.

° Glossary of Terms has been updated for new and revised definitions from the Quality Management Standards and ISRS 4400
(Revised).

° ISA 600, paragraphs 4 and 11 have been updated to include the appropriate references to ISA 220 (Revised) in the footnotes (not
previously included in the related Conforming Amendments).

° ISA 600, paragraphs A33—A35 have been updated to refer to ‘quality management’ rather than ‘quality control’ and to be
consistent with other terminology used in ISQM 1 (not previously included in the related Conforming Amendments).

° ISA 510, Appendix—removed ‘Note’ no longer needed from above Illustration 1.

. ISA 705 (Revised), Illustration 2—corrected wording under ‘Other Information’ to refer to 'adverse’ opinion rather than

‘qualified’ opinion.

. ISA 800 (Revised), paragraph 10 has been updated to be consistent with ISA 315 (Revised 2019).

Part 11

. ISAE 3402, Appendix 2, Illustration 2—updated description referring to the IESBA code, consistent with Illustration 1.
. ISAE 3410, paragraph A127—footnote updated to correct reference to ISAE 3000 (Revised).

. ISRS 4400 (Revised) has been updated to remove grey shading no longer applicable.

. ISRS 4410 (Revised), paragraph A9 has been updated to be consistent with terminology used in the quality management
standards (not previously included in related Conforming Amendments).
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ABOUT THE IAASB, IFEA AND IFAC

ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL AUDITING AND ASSURANCE STANDARDS BOARD®

The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB®) is an independent global standard-setting board. The IAASB
serves the public interest by setting high-quality international standards for auditing and assurance, quality management, reviews
and related services, and by facilitating the convergence of international and national standards. In doing so, the IAASB enhances
the quality and uniformity of practice throughout the world and strengthens public confidence in the global auditing and assurance
profession.

The IAASB develops and issues its standards independently and in accordance with an approved due process and the Public Interest
Framework, overseen by the Public Interest Oversight Board. Board meetings are open to the public, and agenda materials are
available on the JAASB website.

Please visit www.iaash.org for more information.

ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL FOUNDATION FOR ETHICS AND AUDIT

The International Foundation for Ethics and Audit (IFEA or the Foundation) is a nonprofit organization that supports high-quality,
international standard setting in ethics, audit, and assurance in the public interest. The Foundation fulfills its mission through its
two standard-setting boards, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants.

The Foundation represents the implementation of a key recommendation contemplated in the Monitoring Group’s July 2020
Recommendations, Strengthening the International Audit and Ethics Standard-Setting System.

The Foundation’s mission is to support the development of high-quality international standards in ethics, audit, and assurance by:
o Ensuring an independent, technically expert, and rigorous standard-setting process for ethics, audit, and assurance;
e Supporting the public interest throughout the entire standard-setting process in ethics, audit, and assurance; and

e Through the IAASB and IESBA, conducting research to support developing, adopting, and implementing international
standards and to help educate and inform stakeholders.

Transparent, high-quality international standards are essential pillars of the global external reporting architecture. Their adoption
and implementation improve the availability of high-quality financial and non-financial information for stakeholders, investors, and
the public supporting trust and confidence in external reporting and assurance and greater economic growth.

Visit the Foundation website at www.ethicsandaudit.org for more information.

ABOUT THE INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS

The International Federation of Accountants® (IFAC®) is the global organization for the accountancy profession. It serves the public
interest by working with its member organizations to help ensure a skilled, knowledgeable, and ethical workforce of professional
accountants around the world; by contributing to the development of sustainable private and public sector organizations; and by
supporting strong international financial markets and economies.

IFAC’s membership comprises more than 180 professional accountancy organizations in over 135 jurisdictions, representing more
than 3 million professional accountants in public practice, industry, government and education.

As part of its public interest mandate, IFAC contributes to the development, adoption, and implementation of high-quality
international standards and facilitates the processes that support the operations of the IAASB.

Visit the IFAC website at www.ifac.org for further information.
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PREFACE TO THE INTERNATIONAL QUALITY MANAGEMENT, AUDITING, REVIEW,
OTHER ASSURANCE, AND RELATED SERVICES PRONOUNCEMENTS

Introduction

1. This preface to the International Quality Management, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services
Pronouncements is issued to facilitate understanding of the scope and authority of the pronouncements the International
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) issues, as set forth in the IAASB’s Terms of Reference.

2. The IAASB is committed to the goal of developing a set of International Standards and other pronouncements which are
generally accepted worldwide. JAASB members act in the common interest of the public at large and the worldwide
accountancy profession. This could result in their taking a position on a matter that is not in accordance with current practice
in their country or firm or not in accordance with the position taken by those who put them forward for membership of the
IAASB.

The IAASB’s Pronouncements

TAASB Authoritative Pronouncements

3. The IAASB’s pronouncements govern audit, review, other assurance, and related services engagements that are conducted in
accordance with International Standards. They do not override the local laws or regulations that govern the audit of historical
financial statements or assurance engagements on other information in a particular country required to be followed in
accordance with that country’s national standards. In the event that local laws or regulations differ from, or conflict with, the
IAASB’s Standards on a particular subject, an engagement conducted in accordance with local laws or regulations will not
automatically comply with the IAASB’s Standards. A professional accountant should not represent compliance with the
TAASB’s Standards unless the professional accountant has complied fully with all standards relevant to the engagement.

4. The authoritative pronouncements of the IAASB are the International Standards, which are issued following the IAASB’s
stated due process.

The Authority Attaching to International Standards Issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board

5. International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) are to be applied in the audit of historical financial information.
6. International Standards on Review Engagements (ISREs) are to be applied in the review of historical financial information.
7. International Standards on Assurance Engagements (ISAEs) are to be applied in assurance engagements other than audits or

reviews of historical financial information.

8. International Standards on Related Services (ISRSs) are to be applied to compilation engagements, engagements to apply
agreed upon procedures to information and other related services engagements as specified by the IAASB.

9. ISAs, ISREs, ISAEs, and ISRSs are collectively referred to as the IAASB’s Engagement Standards.

10.  International Standards on Quality Management (ISQMs) are to be applied for all services falling under the IAASB’s
Engagement Standards.

International Standards on Auditing

11.  ISAs are written in the context of an audit of financial statements' by an independent auditor. They are to be adapted as
necessary in the circumstances when applied to audits of other historical financial information. The authority of ISAs is set
out in ISA 200.2

International Standards on Quality Management

12.  ISQMs are written to apply to firms in respect of all their services falling under the IAASB’s Engagement Standards. The
authority of ISQMs is set out in the introduction to each ISQM.?

Other International Standards

13. Some International Standards identified in paragraphs 6—8 contain: objectives, requirements, application and other

Unless otherwise stated, “financial statements” mean financial statements comprising historical financial information.
2 ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements,
paragraph 12 and ISQM 2, Engagement Quality Reviews, paragraph 10
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PREFACE TO THE INTERNATIONAL QUALITY MANAGEMENT, AUDITING, REVIEW,
OTHER ASSURANCE, AND RELATED SERVICES PRONOUNCEMENTS

explanatory material, introductory material and definitions. These terms are to be interpreted in a directly analogous way to
how they are explained in the context of ISA and financial statement audits in ISA 200.

14.  Other International Standards identified in paragraphs 6—8 contain basic principles and essential procedures (identified in
bold type lettering and by the word “should”) together with related guidance in the form of explanatory and other material,
including appendices. The basic principles and essential procedures are to be understood and applied in the context of the
explanatory and other material that provides guidance for their application. It is therefore necessary to consider the entire text
of a Standard to understand and apply the basic principles and essential procedures.

15.  The basic principles and essential procedures of a Standard are to be applied in all cases where they are relevant in the
circumstances of the engagement. In exceptional circumstances, however, a professional accountant may judge it necessary
to depart from a relevant essential procedure in order to achieve the purpose of that procedure. When such a situation arises,
the professional accountant is required to document how alternative procedures performed achieve the purpose of the
procedure and, unless otherwise clear, the reasons for the departure. The need for the professional accountant to depart from
a relevant essential procedure is expected to arise only where, in the specific circumstances of the engagement, that
procedure would be ineffective.

16.  Appendices, which form part of the application material, are an integral part of a Standard. The purpose and intended use of
an appendix are explained in the body of the related Standard or within the title and introduction of the appendix itself.

Professional Judgment

17.  The nature of the International Standards requires the professional accountant to exercise professional judgment in applying
them.

Applicability of the International Standards

18.  The scope, effective date and any specific limitation of the applicability of a specific International Standard is made clear in
the Standard. Unless otherwise stated in the International Standard, the professional accountant is permitted to apply an
International Standard before the effective date specified therein.

19. International Standards are relevant to engagements in the public sector. When appropriate, additional considerations
specific to public sector entities are included:

(a)  Within the body of an International Standard in the case of ISAs and ISQMs; or

(b)  Ina Public Sector Perspective (PSP) appearing at the end of other International Standards.

Non-Authoritative Material

20.  Non-authoritative material includes Practice Notes issued by the IAASB and staff publications. Non-authoritative material is
not part of the IAASB’s International Standards.

International Auditing Practice Notes

21.  International Auditing Practice Notes (IAPNs) do not impose additional requirements on auditors beyond those included in
the ISAs, nor do they change the auditor’s responsibility to comply with all ISA relevant to the audit. IAPNs provide
practical assistance to auditors. They are intended to be disseminated by those responsible for national standards, or used in
developing corresponding national material. They also provide material that firms can use in developing their training
programs and internal guidance.

22.  Depending on the nature of the topic(s) covered, an IAPN may assist the auditor in:

e  Obtaining an understanding of the circumstances of the entity, and in making judgments about the identification and
assessment of risks of material misstatement;

e  Making judgments about how to respond to assessed risks, including judgments about procedures that may be
appropriate in the circumstances; or

e  Addressing reporting considerations, including forming an opinion on the financial statements and communicating
with those charged with governance.

Practice Notes Relating to Other International Standards

23.  The IAASB may also issue International Review Engagement Practice Notes (IREPNs), International Assurance
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Engagement Practice Notes (IAEPNs), and International Related Services Practice Notes (IRSPNs) to serve the same
purpose for ISREs, ISAEs, and ISRSs respectively.

Staff Publications

24.  Staff publications are used to help raise practitioners’ awareness of significant new or emerging issues by referring to
existing requirements and application material, or to direct their attention to relevant provisions of [AASB pronouncements.

Language

25.  The sole official text of an IAASB International Standard, Practice Note, exposure draft or other publication is that published
by the IAASB in the English language.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS!
(2022 Edition)

Access controls—Procedures designed to restrict access to on-line terminal devices, programs and data. Access controls consist of
“user authentication” and “user authorization.” “User authentication” typically attempts to identify a user through unique logon
identifications, passwords, access cards or biometric data. “User authorization” consists of access rules to determine the computer
resources each user may access. Specifically, such procedures are designed to prevent or detect:

e  Unauthorized access to on-line terminal devices, programs and data;
e Entry of unauthorized transactions;

e  Unauthorized changes to data files;

e  The use of computer programs by unauthorized personnel; and

e  The use of computer programs that have not been authorized.

*Accounting estimate—A monetary amount for which the measurement, in accordance with the requirements of the applicable
financial reporting framework, is subject to estimation uncertainty.

*Accounting records—The records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as checks and records of electronic
fund transfers; invoices; contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers, journal entries and other adjustments to the financial
statements that are not reflected in formal journal entries; and records such as work sheets and spreadsheets supporting cost
allocations, computations, reconciliations and disclosures.

Agreed-upon procedures — Procedures that have been agreed to by the practitioner and the engaging party (and if relevant, other
parties).

Agreed-upon procedures engagement — An engagement in which a practitioner is engaged to carry out procedures to which the
practitioner and the engaging party (and if relevant, other parties) have agreed and to communicate the procedures performed and
the related findings in an agreed-upon procedures report

*Analytical procedures—Evaluations of financial information through analysis of plausible relationships among both financial and
non-financial data. Analytical procedures also encompass such investigation as is necessary of identified fluctuations or
relationships that are inconsistent with other relevant information or that differ from expected values by a significant amount.

*Annual report—A document, or combination of documents, prepared typically on an annual basis by management or those
charged with governance in accordance with law, regulation or custom, the purpose of which is to provide owners (or similar
stakeholders) with information on the entity’s operations and the entity’s financial results and financial position as set out in the
financial statements. An annual report contains or accompanies the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon and usually
includes information about the entity’s developments, its future outlook and risks and uncertainties, a statement by the entity’s
governing body, and reports covering governance matters.

*Anomaly—A misstatement or deviation that is demonstrably not representative of misstatements or deviations in a population.

Applicable criteria (in the context of ISAE 3410°)—The criteria used by the entity to quantify and report its emissions in the GHG
statement.

Applicable criteria (in the context of ISAE 3420°)—The criteria used by the responsible party when compiling the pro forma financial
information. Criteria may be established by an authorized or recognized standard-setting organization or by law or regulation. Where
established criteria do not exist, they will be developed by the responsible party.

*Applicable financial reporting framework—The financial reporting framework adopted by management and, where appropriate, those
charged with governance in the preparation of the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the

Denotes a term defined in the ISAs
Denotes a term defined in the International Standards on Quality Management
In the case of public sector engagements, the terms in this glossary should be read as referring to their public sector equivalents.

Where accounting terms have not been defined in the pronouncements of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, reference should be made
to the Glossary of Terms published by the International Accounting Standards Board.

ISAE 3410, Assurance Engagements on Greenhouse Gas Statements

ISAE 3420, Assurance Engagements to Report on the Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information Included in a Prospectus
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objective of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation. In the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised),* reference is to the
financial information, rather than to the financial statements.

The term “fair presentation framework” is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the
requirements of the framework and:

(a) Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, it may be necessary for
management to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required by the framework; or

(b) Acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management to depart from a requirement of the framework to
achieve fair presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are expected to be necessary only in extremely rare
circumstances.

th)

The term “compliance framework” is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the
requirements of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgements in (a) or (b) above.

Application controls in information technology— Manual or automated procedures that typically operate at a business process level.
Application controls can be preventative or detective in nature and are designed to ensure the integrity of the accounting records.
Accordingly, application controls relate to procedures used to initiate, record, process and report transactions or other financial data.

*Applied criteria (in the context of ISA 810 (Revised)’)—The criteria applied by management in the preparation of the summary
financial statements.

*Appropriateness (of audit evidence)—The measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in
providing support for the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is based.

*Arm’s length transaction—A transaction conducted on such terms and conditions as between a willing buyer and a willing seller
who are unrelated and are acting independently of each other and pursuing their own best interests.

*Assertions—Representations, explicit or otherwise, with respect to the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
information in the financial statements which are inherent in management representing that the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Assertions are used by the auditor to consider the different types of
potential misstatements that may occur when identifying, assessing and responding to the risks of material misstatement.

Assess—Analyze identified risks of material misstatement to conclude on their significance. “Assess,” by convention, is used only
in relation to risk. (also see Evaluate)

Association—(see Auditor association with financial information)
Assurance—(see Reasonable assurance)

Assurance engagement—An engagement in which a practitioner aims to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence in order to express a
conclusion designed to enhance the degree of confidence of the intended users other than the responsible party about the subject
matter information (that is, the outcome of the measurement or evaluation of an underlying subject matter against criteria). Each
assurance engagement is classified on two dimensions:

(i) Either a reasonable assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement:

a. Reasonable assurance engagement—An assurance engagement in which the practitioner reduces engagement risk to
an acceptably low level in the circumstances of the engagement as the basis for the practitioner’s conclusion. The
practitioner’s conclusion is expressed in a form that conveys the practitioner’s opinion on the outcome of the meas-
urement or evaluation of the underlying subject matter against criteria.

b. Limited assurance engagement—An assurance engagement in which the practitioner reduces engagement risk to a
level that is acceptable in the circumstances of the engagement but where that risk is greater than for a reasonable
assurance engagement as the basis for expressing a conclusion in a form that conveys whether, based on the proce-
dures performed and evidence obtained, a matter(s) has come to the practitioner’s attention to cause the practitioner to
believe the subject matter information is materially misstated. The nature, timing and extent of procedures performed
in a limited assurance engagement is limited compared with that necessary in a reasonable assurance engagement but
is planned to obtain a level of assurance that is, in the practitioner’s professional judgment, meaningful. To be

4 ISRS 4410 (Revised), Compilation Engagements

3 ISA 810 (Revised), Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

meaningful, the level of assurance obtained by the practitioner is likely to enhance the intended users’ confidence
about the subject matter information to a degree that is clearly more than inconsequential.

(ii))  Either an attestation engagement or a direct engagement:

a. Attestation engagement—An assurance engagement in which a party other than the practitioner measures or evalu-
ates the underlying subject matter against the criteria. A party other than the practitioner also often presents the re-
sulting subject matter information in a report or statement. In some cases, however, the subject matter information
may be presented by the practitioner in the assurance report. In an attestation engagement, the practitioner’s conclu-
sion addresses whether the subject matter information is free from material misstatement. The practitioner’s con-
clusion may be phrased in terms of:

i. The underlying subject matter and the applicable criteria;
ii. The subject matter information and the applicable criteria; or
iii. A statement made by the appropriate party(ies).

b. Direct engagement—An assurance engagement in which the practitioner measures or evaluates the underlying subject
matter against the applicable criteria and the practitioner presents the resulting subject matter information as part of, or ac-
companying, the assurance report. In a direct engagement, the practitioner’s conclusion addresses the reported outcome of
the measurement or evaluation of the underlying subject matter against the criteria.

Assurance engagement risk—The risk that the practitioner expresses an inappropriate conclusion when the subject matter
information is materially misstated.

Assurance skills and techniques—Those planning, evidence gathering, evidence evaluation, communication and reporting skills
and techniques demonstrated by an assurance practitioner that are distinct from expertise in the underlying subject matter of any
particular assurance engagement or its measurement or evaluation.

*Audit documentation—The record of audit procedures performed, relevant audit evidence obtained, and conclusions the auditor
reached (terms such as “working papers” or “workpapers” are also sometimes used).

*Audit evidence—Information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is based. Audit
evidence includes both information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and other information.
(See Sufficiency of audit evidence and Appropriateness of audit evidence.)

*Audit file— One or more folders or other storage media, in physical or electronic form, containing the records that comprise
the audit documentation for a specific engagement.

Audit firm—(see Firm)
*Audit opinion—(see Modified opinion and Unmodified opinion)

*Audit risk—The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial statements are materially
misstated. Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk.

*Audit sampling (sampling)—The application of audit procedures to less than 100% of items within a population of audit relevance
such that all sampling units have a chance of selection in order to provide the auditor with a reasonable basis on which to draw
conclusions about the entire population.

*Audited financial statements (in the context of ISA 810 (Revised))—Financial statements® audited by the auditor in accordance
with ISAs, and from which the summary financial statements are derived.

*Auditor—“Auditor” is used to refer to the person or persons conducting the audit, usually the engagement partner or other
members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm. Where an ISA expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be
fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term “engagement partner” rather than “auditor” is used. “Engagement partner” and “firm”
are to be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.

Auditor association with financial information—An auditor is associated with financial information when the auditor attaches a
report to that information or consents to the use of the auditor’s name in a professional connection.

6 ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraph 13(f),
defines the term “financial statements.”
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*Auditor’s expert—An individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than accounting or auditing, whose work in that
field is used by the auditor to assist the auditor in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. An auditor’s expert may be either an
auditor’s internal expert (who is a partner’ or staff, including temporary staff, of the auditor’s firm or a network firm), or an auditor’s
external expert.

*Auditor’s point estimate or auditor’s range—An amount, or range of amounts, respectively, developed by the auditor in evaluating
management’s point estimate.

*Auditor’s range—(see Auditor’s point estimate)
Base year—A specific year or an average over multiple years against which an entity’s emissions are compared over time.

*Business risk—A risk resulting from significant conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions that could adversely affect
an entity’s ability to achieve its objectives and execute its strategies, or from the setting of inappropriate objectives and strategies.

Cap and trade—A system that sets overall emissions limits, allocates emissions allowances to participants, and allows them to trade
allowances and emission credits with each other.

Carve-out method—Method of dealing with the services provided by a subservice organization, whereby the service organization’s
description of its system includes the nature of the services provided by a subservice organization, but that subservice organization’s
relevant control objectives and related controls are excluded from the service organization’s description of its system and from the
scope of the service auditor’s engagement. The service organization’s description of its system and the scope of the service auditor’s
engagement include controls at the service organization to monitor the effectiveness of controls at the subservice organization,
which may include the service organization’s review of an assurance report on controls at the subservice organization.

*Comparative financial statements—Comparative information where amounts and other disclosures for the prior period are
included for comparison with the financial statements of the current period but, if audited, are referred to in the auditor’s opinion.
The level of information included in those comparative financial statements is comparable with that of the financial statements of
the current period.

*Comparative information—The amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements in respect of one or more prior
periods in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. In the context of ISAE 3410, comparative information is
defined as the amounts and disclosures included in the GHG statement in respect of one or more prior periods.

Compilation engagement— An engagement in which a practitioner applies accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist
management in the preparation and presentation of financial information of an entity in accordance with an applicable financial

CEINNT3

reporting framework, and reports as required by this ISRS. Throughout ISRS 4410 (Revised), the words “compile”, “compiling”
and “compiled” are used in this context.

*Complementary user entity controls—Controls that the service organization assumes, in the design of its service, will be
implemented by user entities, and which, if necessary to achieve control objectives, are identified in the description of its system.

*Compliance framework—(see Applicable financial reporting framework and General purpose framework)

*Component—An entity or business activity for which group or component management prepares financial information that should be
included in the group financial statements.

*Component auditor—An auditor who, at the request of the group engagement team, performs work on financial information
related to a component for the group audit.

*Component management—Management responsible for the preparation of the financial information of a component.
*Component materiality—The materiality for a component determined by the group engagement team.

Computer-assisted audit techniques—Applications of auditing procedures using the computer as an audit tool (also known as
CAATS).

*Controls—Policies or procedures that an entity establishes to achieve the control objectives of management or those charged with
governance. In this context:

(1) Policies are statements of what should, or should not, be done within the entity to effect control. Such statements may be
documented, explicitly stated in communications, or implied through actions and decisions.

7 “Partner” and “firm” should be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

(1)  Procedures are actions to implement policies.

Control environment-—TIncludes the governance and management functions and the attitudes, awareness and actions of those
charged with governance and management concerning the entity’s internal control and its importance in the entity. The control
environment is a component of internal control.

Control objective—The aim or purpose of a particular aspect of controls. Control objectives relate to risks that controls seek to mitigate.
*Control risk—(see Risk of material misstatement)

Controls at the service organization—Controls over the achievement of a control objective that is covered by the service auditor’s
assurance report.

Controls at a subservice organization—Controls at a subservice organization to provide reasonable assurance about the
achievement of a control objective.

Corporate governance—(see Governance)

*Corresponding figures—Comparative information where amounts and other disclosures for the prior period are included as an
integral part of the current period financial statements, and are intended to be read only in relation to the amounts and other
disclosures relating to the current period (referred to as “current period figures”). The level of detail presented in the corresponding
amounts and disclosures is dictated primarily by its relevance to the current period figures.

Criteria— The benchmarks used to measure or evaluate the underlying subject matter. The “applicable criteria” are the criteria used
for the particular engagement.

*Date of approval of the financial statements—The date on which all the statements that comprise the financial statements,
including the related notes, have been prepared and those with the recognized authority have asserted that they have taken
responsibility for those financial statements.

*Date of the auditor’s report—The date the auditor dates the report on the financial statements in accordance with ISA 700
(Revised).®

*Date of the financial statements—The date of the end of the latest period covered by the financial statements.

*Date the financial statements are issued—The date that the auditor’s report and audited financial statements are made available to
third parties.

*Deficiency in internal control—This exists when:

(a) A control is designed, implemented or operated in such a way that it is unable to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements in the financial statements on a timely basis; or

(b) A control necessary to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements in the financial statements on a timely basis is missing.
#Deficiency in the firm’s system of quality management (in the context of ISOM 1°)—This exists when:

(1) A quality objective required to achieve the objective of the system of quality management is not established;

(1) A quality risk, or combination of quality risks, is not identified or properly assessed;

(iil) A response, or combination of responses, does not reduce to an acceptably low level the likelihood of a related quality risk
occurring because the response(s) is not properly designed, implemented or operating effectively; or

(iv) An other aspect of the system of quality management is absent, or not properly designed, implemented or operating
effectively, such that a requirement of this ISQM has not been addressed.

*Detection risk—The risk that the procedures performed by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level will not detect
a misstatement that exists and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements.

*Direct assistance—The use of internal auditors to perform audit procedures under the direction, supervision and review of the
external auditor.

8 ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements
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*Element—(see Element of a financial statement)
*Element of a financial statement (in the context of ISA 805 (Revised)'’)—An element, account or item of a financial statement.

Emissions—The GHGs that, during the relevant period, have been emitted to the atmosphere or would have been emitted to the
atmosphere had they not been captured and channeled to a sink. Emissions can be categorized as:

e Direct emissions (also known as Scope 1 emissions), which are emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the
entity.

e Indirect emissions, which are emissions that are a consequence of the activities of the entity, but which occur at sources that are
owned or controlled by another entity. Indirect emissions can be further categorized as:

o Scope 2 emissions, which are emissions associated with energy that is transferred to and consumed by the entity.
o Scope 3 emissions, which are all other indirect emissions.

Emissions deduction—Any item included in the entity’s GHG statement that is deducted from the total reported emissions, but
which is not a removal; it commonly includes purchased offsets, but can also include a variety of other instruments or mechanisms
such as performance credits and allowances that are recognized by a regulatory or other scheme of which the entity is a part.

Emissions factor—A mathematical factor or ratio for converting the measure of an activity (for example, liters of fuel consumed,
kilometers travelled, the number of animals in husbandry, or tonnes of product produced) into an estimate of the quantity of GHGs
associated with that activity.

Emissions trading scheme—A market-based approach used to control greenhouse gases by providing economic incentives for
achieving reductions in the emissions of such gases.

*Emphasis of Matter paragraph—A paragraph included in the auditor’s report that refers to a matter appropriately presented or
disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor’s judgment, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’
understanding of the financial statements.

Engagement circumstances—The broad context defining the particular engagement, which includes: the terms of the engagement;
whether it is a reasonable assurance engagement or a limited assurance engagement, the characteristics of the underlying subject
matter; the measurement or evaluation criteria; the information needs of the intended users; relevant characteristics of the
responsible party, the measurer or evaluator, and the engaging party and their environment; and other matters, for example events,
transactions, conditions and practices, that may have a significant effect on the engagement.

tEngagement documentation—The record of work performed, results obtained, and conclusions the practitioner reached (terms
such as “working papers” or “workpapers” are sometimes used).

Engagement letter—Written terms of an engagement in the form of a letter.

tEngagement partner (in the context of ISOM I)— The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is responsible for the
engagement and its performance, and for the report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and who, where required, has the appropriate
authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

*Engagement partner (in the context of the ISAs, defined in ISA 220 (Revised)'!)— The partner or other individual, appointed by the
firm, who is responsible for the engagement and its performance, and for the auditor’s report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and
who, where required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

Engagement partner (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised)'?)— The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is
responsible for the engagement and its performance, and for the assurance report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and who, where
required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

Engagement partner (in the context of ISRS 4400 (Revised)'’)— The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is
responsible for the engagement and its performance, and for the agreed-upon-procedures report that is issued on behalf of the firm,
and who, where required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

ISA 805 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Single Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement
ISA 220, (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements

ISAE 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information

ISRS 4400 (Revised), Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Engagement partner (in the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised))— The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is
responsible for the engagement and its performance, and for the compilation report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and who,
where required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

*tEngagement quality review— An objective evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and the
conclusions reached thereon, performed by the engagement quality reviewer and completed on or before the date of the engagement
report.

*tEngagement quality reviewer— A partner, other individual in the firm, or an external individual, appointed by the firm to perform
the engagement quality review.

Engagement risk —The risk that the practitioner expresses an inappropriate conclusion when the subject matter information is
materially misstated.

tEngagement team (in the context of ISOM 1)—All partners and staff performing the engagement, and any other individuals who
perform procedures on the engagement, excluding an external expert'* and internal auditors who provide direct assistance on an
engagement.

*Engagement team (in the context of the ISAs, defined in ISA 220 (Revised))— All partners and staff performing the audit
engagement, and any other individuals who perform audit procedures on the engagement, excluding an external expert'> and
internal auditors who provide direct assistance on an engagement'®.

Engagement team (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised)— All partners and staff performing the engagement, and any other
individuals who perform procedures on the engagement excluding a practitioner’s external expert.

Engagement team (in the context of ISRS 4400 (Revised)— All partners and staff performing the agreed-upon procedures
engagement, and any other individuals who perform procedures on the engagement excluding a practitioner’s external expert.

Engagement team (in the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised)— All partners and staff performing the engagement, and any other
individuals who perform procedures on the engagement excluding a practitioner’s external expert engaged by the firm or a network
firm.

Engaging party—The party(ies) that engages the practitioner to perform the assurance engagement.

Entity (in the context of ISAE 3410)—The legal entity, economic entity, or the identifiable portion of a legal or economic entity (for
example, a single factory or other form of facility, such as a land fill site), or combination of legal or other entities or portions of
those entities (for example, a joint venture) to which the emissions in the GHG statement relate.

Error—An unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an amount or a disclosure.
*Estimation uncertainty—Susceptibility to an inherent lack of precision in measurement.

Evaluate—Identify and analyze the relevant issues, including performing further procedures as necessary, to come to a specific conclusion
on a matter. “Evaluation,” by convention, is used only in relation to a range of matters, including evidence, the results of procedures and
the effectiveness of management’s response to a risk. (also see Assess)

Evidence—Information used by the practitioner in arriving at the practitioner’s conclusion. Evidence includes both information
contained in relevant information systems, if any, and other information. For purposes of the ISAEs:

(i)  Sufficiency of evidence is the measure of the quantity of evidence.
(ii))  Appropriateness of evidence is the measure of the quality of evidence.

*Exception—A response that indicates a difference between information requested to be confirmed, or contained in the entity’s
records, and information provided by the confirming party.

*Experienced auditor—An individual (whether internal or external to the firm) who has practical audit experience, and a reasonable
understanding of:

(a) Audit processes;

ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert, paragraph 6(a), defines the term “auditor’s expert.”
ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert, paragraph 6(a), defines the term “auditor’s expert.”

ISA 610 (Revised 2013), Using the Work of Internal Auditors, establishes limits on the use of direct assistance. It also acknowledges that the external auditor
may be prohibited by law or regulation from obtaining direct assistance from internal auditors. Therefore, the use of direct assistance is restricted to situations
where it is permitted.
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(b) ISAs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
(¢) The business environment in which the entity operates; and

(d) Auditing and financial reporting issues relevant to the entity’s industry.
*Expert—(see Auditor’s expert and Management’s expert)
* Expertise—Skills, knowledge and experience in a particular field.

*External confirmation—Audit evidence obtained as a direct written response to the auditor from a third party (the confirming
party), in paper form, or by electronic or other medium.

*External information source—An external individual or organization that provides information that has been used by the entity in
preparing the financial statements, or that has been obtained by the auditor as audit evidence, when such information is suitable for
use by a broad range of users. When information has been provided by an individual or organization acting in the capacity of a
management’s expert, service organization!’, or auditor’s expert!® the individual or organization is not considered an external
information source with respect to that particular information.

tExternal inspections—Inspections or investigations, undertaken by an external oversight authority, related to the firm’s system of
quality management or engagements performed by the firm.

*Fair presentation framework —(see Applicable financial reporting framework and General purpose framework)

*Financial statements—A structured representation of historical financial information, including disclosures, intended to communicate
an entity’s economic resources or obligations at a point in time, or the changes therein for a period of time, in accordance with a financial
reporting framework. The term “financial statements” ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements as determined by the
requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework, but can also refer to a single financial statement. Disclosures comprise
explanatory or descriptive information, set out as required, expressly permitted or otherwise allowed by the applicable financial
reporting framework, on the face of a financial statement, or in the notes, or incorporated therein by cross-reference.

tFindings (in relation to a system of quality management)—Information about the design, implementation and operation of the
system of quality management that has been accumulated from the performance of monitoring activities, external inspections and
other relevant sources, which indicates that one or more deficiencies may exist.

Findings (in relation to ISRS 4400 (Revised)— Findings are the factual results of agreed-upon procedures performed. Findings are
capable of being objectively verified. References to findings in ISRS 4400 (Revised) exclude opinions or conclusions in any form as
well as any recommendations that the practitioner may make.

*+Firm— A sole practitioner, partnership or corporation or other entity of professional accountants, or public sector equivalent.

Forecast—Prospective financial information prepared on the basis of assumptions as to future events which management expects to
take place and the actions management expects to take as of the date the information is prepared (best-estimate assumptions).

*Fraud—An intentional act by one or more individuals among management, those charged with governance, employees, or third
parties, involving the use of deception to obtain an unjust or illegal advantage.

*Fraud risk factors—Events or conditions that indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to
commit fraud.

Fraudulent financial reporting—Involves intentional misstatements, including omissions of amounts or disclosures in financial
statements, to deceive financial statement users.

Further procedures—Procedures performed in response to assessed risks of material misstatement, including tests of controls (if any),
tests of details and analytical procedures.

*General information technology (IT) controls—Controls over the entity’s IT processes that support the continued proper operation
of the IT environment, including the continued effective functioning of information processing controls and the integrity of
information (i.e., the completeness, accuracy and validity of information) in the entity’s information system. Also see the definition
of IT environment.

*General purpose financial statements—Financial statements prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework.

*General purpose framework — A financial reporting framework designed to meet the common financial information needs of a

17 ISA 402, Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization, paragraph 8

8 ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert, paragraph 6
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wide range of users. The financial reporting framework may be a fair presentation framework or a compliance framework.

The term “fair presentation framework”™ is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the
requirements of the framework and:

(1) Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, it may be necessary for
management to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required by the framework; or

(il))  Acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management to depart from a requirement of the framework to achieve
fair presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are expected to be necessary only in extremely rare
circumstances.

tH]

The term “compliance framework™ is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the
requirements of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgements in (i) or (ii) above."’

GHG statement—A statement setting out constituent elements and quantifying an entity’s GHG emissions for a period (sometimes
known as an emissions inventory) and, where applicable, comparative information and explanatory notes including a summary of
significant quantification and reporting policies. An entity’s GHG statement may also include a categorized listing of removals or
emissions deductions. Where the engagement does not cover the entire GHG statement, the term “GHG statement” is to be read as
that portion that is covered by the engagement. The GHG statement is the “subject matter information” of the engagement.?

Greenhouse gases (GHGs)—Carbon dioxide (CO,) and any other gases required by the applicable criteria to be included in the GHG
statement, such as: methane; nitrous oxide; sulfur hexafluoride; hydrofluorocarbons; perfluorocarbons; and chlorofluorocarbons. Gases
other than carbon dioxide are often expressed in terms of carbon dioxide equivalents (CO,-¢).

Governance—Describes the role of person(s) or organization(s) with responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the
entity and obligations related to the accountability of the entity.

*Group—All the components whose financial information is included in the group financial statements. A group always has more
than one component.

*Group audit—The audit of group financial statements.
*Group audit opinion—The audit opinion on the group financial statements.

*Group engagement partner—The partner or other person in the firm who is responsible for the group audit engagement and its
performance, and for the auditor’s report on the group financial statements that is issued on behalf of the firm. Where joint auditors
conduct the group audit, the joint engagement partners and their engagement teams collectively constitute the group engagement
partner and the group engagement team.

*Group engagement team—Partners, including the group engagement partner, and staff who establish the overall group audit
strategy, communicate with component auditors, perform work on the consolidation process, and evaluate the conclusions drawn
from the audit evidence as the basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements.

*Group financial statements—Financial statements that include the financial information of more than one component. The term
“group financial statements” also refers to combined financial statements aggregating the financial information prepared by
components that have no parent but are under common control.

*Group management—Management responsible for the preparation of the group financial statements.
*Group-wide controls—Controls designed, implemented and maintained by group management over group financial reporting.

*Historical financial information—Information expressed in financial terms in relation to a particular entity, derived primarily from
that entity’s accounting system, about economic events occurring in past time periods or about economic conditions or
circumstances at points in time in the past.

Inclusive method—Method of dealing with the services provided by a subservice organization, whereby the service organization’s
description of its system includes the nature of the services provided by a subservice organization, and that subservice organization’s
relevant control objectives and related controls are included in the service organization’s description of its system and in the scope of
the service auditor’s engagement.

Independence’’ —Comprises:

19 ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraph 13(a)
2 ISAE 3000 (Revised), paragraph 12(x)
2l As defined in the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code)
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(a) Independence of mind—the state of mind that permits the expression of an opinion without being affected by influences
that compromise professional judgment, thereby allowing an individual to act with integrity, and exercise objectivity and
professional skepticism.

(b)  Independence in appearance—the avoidance of facts and circumstances that are so significant that a reasonable and
informed third party would be likely to conclude that a firm’s or an audit or assurance team member’s integrity, objectivity
or professional skepticism has been compromised.

*Information processing controls—Controls relating to the processing of information in IT applications or manual information
processes in the entity’s information system that directly address risks to the integrity of information (i.e., the completeness,
accuracy and validity of transactions and other information).

*Inherent risk—(see Risk of material misstatement)

*Inherent risk factors—Characteristics of events or conditions that affect susceptibility to misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, of an assertion about a class of transactions, account balance or disclosure, before consideration of controls. Such factors may
be qualitative or quantitative, and include complexity, subjectivity, change, uncertainty or susceptibility to misstatement due to
management bias or other fraud risk factors?® insofar as they affect inherent risk.

*Initial audit engagement—An engagement in which either:
(a) The financial statements for the prior period were not audited; or

(b)  The financial statements for the prior period were audited by a predecessor auditor.

Inquiry—Inquiry consists of seeking information of knowledgeable persons, both financial and non-financial, within the entity or
outside the entity.

Inquiry (in the context of ISRE 2400 (Revised)*’)—Inquiry consists of seeking information of knowledgeable persons from within
or outside the entity.

Inspection (as an audit procedure)—Examining records or documents, whether internal or external, in paper form, electronic form,
or other media, or a physical examination of an asset.

Intended users— The individual(s) or organization(s), or group(s) thereof that the practitioner expects will use the assurance report.
In some cases, there may be intended users other than those to whom the assurance report is addressed.

Interim financial information or statements—Financial information (which may be less than a complete set of financial statements
as defined above) issued at interim dates (usually half-yearly or quarterly) in respect of a financial period.

*Internal audit function—A function of an entity that performs assurance and consulting activities designed to evaluate and
improve the effectiveness of the entity’s governance, risk management and internal control processes.

Internal auditors—Those individuals who carry out the activities of the internal audit function. Internal auditors may belong to an
internal audit department or similar function.

Internal control—The process designed, implemented and maintained by those charged with governance, management and other
personnel to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of an entity’s objectives with regard to reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The term “controls”
refers to any aspects of one or more of the components of internal control.

*[nternational Financial Reporting Standards—The International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

Investigate—Inquire into matters arising from other procedures to resolve them.

IT environment—The IT applications and supporting IT infrastructure, as well as the IT processes and personnel involved in those
processes, that an entity uses to support business operations and achieve business strategies.

*Key audit matters—Those matters that, in the auditor’s professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters communicated with those charged with

2 ISA 240, paragraphs A24-A27

ISRE 2400 (Revised), Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements
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governance.

Limited assurance (in the context of ISRE 2400 (Revised))—The level of assurance obtained where engagement risk is reduced to a
level that is acceptable in the circumstances of the engagement, but where that risk is greater than for a reasonable assurance engagement,
as the basis for expressing a conclusion in accordance with this ISRE. The combination of the nature, timing and extent of evidence
gathering procedures is at least sufficient for the practitioner to obtain a meaningful level of assurance. To be meaningful, the level of
assurance obtained by the practitioner is likely to enhance the intended users’ confidence about the financial statements.

Limited assurance engagement—(see Assurance engagement)

*tListed entity—An entity whose shares, stock or debt are quoted or listed on a recognized stock exchange, or are marketed under
the regulations of a recognized stock exchange or other equivalent body.

*Management—The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity’s operations. For some entities in some
jurisdictions, management includes some or all of those charged with governance, for example, executive members of a governance
board, or an owner-manager.

*Management bias—A lack of neutrality by management in the preparation of information.

*Management’s expert—An individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than accounting or auditing, whose
work in that field is used by the entity to assist the entity in preparing the financial statements.

*Management’s point estimate—The amount selected by management for recognition or disclosure in the financial statements as an
accounting estimate.

Measurer or evaluator—The party(ies) who measures or evaluates the underlying subject matter against the criteria. The measurer
or evaluator possesses expertise in the underlying subject matter.

Misappropriation of assets—Involves the theft of an entity’s assets and is often perpetrated by employees in relatively small and
immaterial amounts. However, it can also involve management who are usually more capable of disguising or concealing
misappropriations in ways that are difficult to detect.

*Misstatement—A difference between the reported amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a financial statement item
and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud.

Where the auditor expresses an opinion on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, or give a
true and fair view, misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifications, presentation, or disclosures that, in the
auditor’s judgment, are necessary for the financial statements to be presented fairly, in all material respects, or to give a true and fair
view.

Misstatement (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—A difference between the subject matter information and the appropriate
measurement or evaluation of the underlying subject matter in accordance with the criteria. Misstatements can be intentional or
unintentional, qualitative or quantitative, and include omissions.

Misstatement (in the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised))— A difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure
of a reported item in the financial information, and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item
to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud.

Where the financial information is prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, misstatements also include those
adjustments of amounts, classifications, presentation, or disclosures that, in the practitioner’s judgment, are necessary for the
financial information to be presented fairly, in all material respects, or to give a true and fair view.

Misstatement of fact (with respect to other information) (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—Other information that is unrelated
to matters appearing in the subject matter information or the assurance report that is incorrectly stated or presented. A material
misstatement of fact may undermine the credibility of the document containing the subject matter information.

*Misstatement of the other information—A misstatement of the other information exists when the other information is incorrectly
stated or otherwise misleading (including because it omits or obscures information necessary for a proper understanding of a matter
disclosed in the other information).

*Modified opinion—A qualified opinion, an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements.

*Negative confirmation request—A request that the confirming party respond directly to the auditor only if the confirming party
disagrees with the information provided in the request.
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*+Network—A larger structure:
(a) Thatis aimed at cooperation, and

(b) That is clearly aimed at profit or cost-sharing or shares common ownership, control or management, common quality
management policies or procedures, common business strategy, the use of a common brand name, or a significant part of
professional resources.

*+Network firm—A firm or entity that belongs to the firm’s network.

*Non-compliance (in the context of ISA 250°/)—Acts of omission or commission, intentional or unintentional, committed by the
entity, or by those charged with governance, by management or by other individuals working for or under the direction of the entity,
which are contrary to the prevailing laws or regulations. Non-compliance does not include personal misconduct unrelated to the
business activities of the entity.

*Non-response—A failure of the confirming party to respond, or fully respond, to a positive confirmation request, or a confirmation
request returned undelivered.

*Non-sampling risk—The risk that the auditor reaches an erroneous conclusion for any reason not related to sampling risk.

Observation—Consists of looking at a process or procedure being performed by others, for example, the auditor’s observation of
inventory counting by the entity’s personnel, or of the performance of control activities.

*Opening balances—Those account balances that exist at the beginning of the period. Opening balances are based upon the closing
balances of the prior period and reflect the effects of transactions and events of prior periods and accounting policies applied in the
prior period. Opening balances also include matters requiring disclosure that existed at the beginning of the period, such as
contingencies and commitments.

Organizational boundary—The boundary that determines which operations to include in the entity’s GHG statement.

*Other information— Financial or non-financial information (other than financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon)
included in an entity’s annual report.

Other information (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised)) —Information (other than the subject matter information and the
assurance report thereon) which is included, either by law, regulation or custom, in a document containing the subject matter
information and the assurance report thereon.

*Other Matter paragraph—A paragraph included in the auditor’s report that refers to a matter other than those presented or
disclosed in the financial statements that, in the auditor’s judgment, is relevant to users’ understanding of the audit, the auditor’s
responsibilities or the auditor’s report.

*Outcome of an accounting estimate—The actual monetary amount that results from the resolution of the transaction(s), event(s) or
condition(s) addressed by an accounting estimate.

Overall audit strategy—Sets the scope, timing and direction of the audit, and guides the development of the more detailed audit plan.
*+Partner—Any individual with authority to bind the firm with respect to the performance of a professional services engagement.

*Performance materiality—The amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial statements as a whole to
reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for
the financial statements as a whole. If applicable, performance materiality also refers to the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less
than the materiality level or levels for particular classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures.

Performance materiality (in the context of ISAE 3410)— The amount or amounts set by the practitioner at less than materiality for the
GHG statement to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds materiality for the GHG statement. If applicable, performance materiality also refers to the amount or
amounts set by the practitioner at less than the materiality level or levels for particular types of emissions or disclosures.

Performing a walk-through—Selecting transactions and tracing them through the applicable process in the information system.
*+Personnel—Partners and staff in the firm.

*Pervasive—A term used, in the context of misstatements, to describe the effects on the financial statements of misstatements or the
possible effects on the financial statements of misstatements, if any, that are undetected due to an inability to obtain sufficient

2 ISA 250, Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements
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appropriate audit evidence. Pervasive effects on the financial statements are those that, in the auditor’s judgment:
(a) Are not confined to specific elements, accounts or items of the financial statements;
(b) If so confined, represent or could represent a substantial proportion of the financial statements; or

(c) Inrelation to disclosures, are fundamental to users’ understanding of the financial statements.
*Population—The entire set of data from which a sample is selected and about which the auditor wishes to draw conclusions.

*Positive confirmation request—A request that the confirming party respond directly to the auditor indicating whether the
confirming party agrees or disagrees with the information in the request, or providing the requested information.

Practitioner—A professional accountant in public practice.

Practitioner (in the context of ISRE 2400 (Revised))—A professional accountant in public practice. The term includes the engagement
partner or other members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm. Where ISRE 2400 (Revised) expressly intends that a
requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term “engagement partner” rather than “practitioner” is used.
“Engagement partner” and “firm” are to be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.

Practitioner (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—The individual(s) conducting the engagement (usually the engagement
partner or other members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm). Where this ISAE expressly intends that a requirement
or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term “engagement partner” rather than “practitioner” is used.

Practitioner (in the context of ISRS 4400 (Revised))— The individual(s) conducting the engagement (usually the engagement
partner or other members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm). Where ISRS 4400 (Revised) expressly intends that a
requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term “engagement partner” rather than “practitioner” is
used.

Practitioner (in the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised))—A professional accountant in public practice who conducts the compilation
engagement. The term includes the engagement partner or other members of the engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm.
Where ISRS 4410 (Revised) expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term
“engagement partner” rather than “practitioner” is used. “Engagement partner” and “firm” are to be read as referring to their public
sector equivalents where relevant.

Practitioner’s expert—An individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than assurance, whose work in that field is
used by the practitioner to assist the practitioner in obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence. A practitioner’s expert may be either a
practitioner’s internal expert (who is a partner or staff, including temporary staff, of the practitioner’s firm or a network firm), or a
practitioner’s external expert.

Practitioner’s expert (in the context of ISRS 4400 (Revised))— An individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other
than assurance and related services, whose work in that field is used to assist the practitioner in fulfilling the practitioner’s
responsibilities for the agreed-upon procedures engagement. A practitioner’s expert may be either a practitioner’s internal expert
(who is a partner or staff, including temporary staff, of the practitioner’s firm or a network firm) or a practitioner’s external expert.

*Preconditions for an audit—The use by management of an acceptable financial reporting framework in the preparation of the
financial statements and the agreement of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance to the premise® on
which an audit is conducted.

*Predecessor auditor—The auditor from a different audit firm, who audited the financial statements of an entity in the prior period
and who has been replaced by the current auditor.

*Premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, on which an
audit is conducted—That management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance have acknowledged and understand
that they have the following responsibilities that are fundamental to the conduct of an audit in accordance with ISAs. That is,
responsibility:

(a)  For the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, including
where relevant their fair presentation;

(b)  For such internal control as management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

2 ISA 200, paragraph 13
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(¢)  To provide the auditor with:

(1)  Access to all information of which management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance are aware that
is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

(i)  Additional information that the auditor may request from management and, where appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and

(iii)  Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.

In the case of a fair presentation framework, (a) above may be restated as “for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with the financial reporting framework,” or “for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework.”

The “premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, on which an
audit is conducted” may also be referred to as the “premise.”

Pro forma adjustments—In relation to unadjusted financial information, these include:

(@  Adjustments to unadjusted financial information that illustrate the impact of a significant event or transaction (“event” or
“transaction”) as if the event had occurred or the transaction had been undertaken at an earlier date selected for purposes of the
illustration; and

(b)  Adjustments to unadjusted financial information that are necessary for the pro forma financial information to be compiled on a
basis consistent with the applicable financial reporting framework of the reporting entity (“entity”’) and its accounting policies
under that framework.

Pro forma adjustments include the relevant financial information of a business that has been, or is to be, acquired (“acquiree”™), or a
business that has been, or is to be, divested (“divestee”), to the extent that such information is used in compiling the pro forma financial
information (“acquiree or divestee financial information”).

Pro forma financial information—Financial information shown together with adjustments to illustrate the impact of an event or
transaction on unadjusted financial information as if the event had occurred or the transaction had been undertaken at an earlier date
selected for purposes of the illustration. In this ISAE, it is presumed that pro forma financial information is presented in columnar
format consisting of (a) the unadjusted financial information; (b) the pro forma adjustments; and (c) the resulting pro forma column.

Professional accountant’*—An individual who is a member of an IFAC member body.

Professional accountant in public practice’’—A professional accountant, irrespective of functional classification (for example,
audit, tax or consulting) in a firm that provides professional services. This term is also used to refer to a firm of professional
accountants in public practice.

*Professional judgment—The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience, within the context provided by auditing,
accounting and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in the circumstances
of the audit engagement.

tProfessional judgment (in the context of ISOM 1)—The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience, within the
context of professional standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in the design,
implementation and operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

Professional judgment (in the context of ISRE 2400 (Revised))—The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience,
within the context provided by assurance, accounting and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that
are appropriate in the circumstances of the review engagement.

Professional judgment (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience,
within the context provided by assurance and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that are
appropriate in the circumstances of the engagement.

Professional judgment (in the context of ISRE 4440 (Revised))— The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience,

% As defined in the IESBA Code
27 As defined in the IESBA Code
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within the context provided by this ISRS and relevant ethical requirements, in making informed decisions about the courses of
action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the agreed-upon procedures engagement.

*Professional skepticism—An attitude that includes a questioning mind, being alert to conditions which may indicate possible
misstatement due to error or fraud, and a critical assessment of audit evidence.

Professional skepticism (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—An attitude that includes a questioning mind, being alert to
conditions which may indicate possible misstatement, and a critical assessment of evidence.

*Professional standards—International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and relevant ethical requirements

tProfessional standards (in the context of ISOM 1)—IAASB Engagement Standards, as defined in the IAASB’s Preface to the
International Quality Management, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services Pronouncements, and relevant ethical
requirements.

Projection—Prospective financial information prepared on the basis of:

(a)  Hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions which are not necessarily expected to take place,
such as when some entities are in a start-up phase or are considering a major change in the nature of operations; or

(b) A mixture of best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions.

Prospective financial information—Financial information based on assumptions about events that may occur in the future and
possible actions by an entity. Prospective financial information can be in the form of a forecast, a projection or a combination of
both. (see Forecast and Projection)

Prospectus—A document issued pursuant to legal or regulatory requirements relating to the entity’s securities on which it is
intended that a third party should make an investment decision.

Public sector—National governments, regional (for example, state, provincial, territorial) governments, local (for example, city,
town) governments and related governmental entities (for example, agencies, boards, commissions and enterprises).

Published financial information—Financial information of the entity or of an acquiree or a divestee that is made available publicly.

Purchased offset—An emissions deduction in which the entity pays for the lowering of another entity’s emissions (emissions
reductions) or the increasing of another entity’s removals (removal enhancements), compared to a hypothetical baseline.

TQuality objectives—The desired outcomes in relation to the components of the system of quality management to be achieved by
the firm.

TQuality risk—A risk that has a reasonable possibility of:
(1) Occurring; and
(i)  Individually, or in combination with other risks, adversely affecting the achievement of one or more quality objectives.

Quantification—The process of determining the quantity of GHGs that relate to the entity, either directly or indirectly, as emitted
(or removed) by particular sources (or sinks).

*tReasonable assurance (in the context of audit engagements, and ISOM 1)—A high, but not absolute, level of assurance.
Reasonable assurance engagement—(see Assurance engagement)
Recalculation—Consists of checking the mathematical accuracy of documents or records.

*Related party—A party that is either:
(a)  Arelated party as defined in the applicable financial reporting framework; or
(b)  Where the applicable financial reporting framework establishes minimal or no related party requirements:

(i) A person or other entity that has control or significant influence, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, over the reporting entity;

(1)  Another entity over which the reporting entity has control or significant influence, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries; or

(iii)  Another entity that is under common control with the reporting entity through having:
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a. Common controlling ownership;
b. Owners who are close family members; or
c. Common key management.

However, entities that are under common control by a state (that is, a national, regional or local government) are not
considered related unless they engage in significant transactions or share resources to a significant extent with one
another.

Related services—Comprise agreed-upon procedures and compilations.

*Relevant assertions—An assertion about a class of transactions, account balance or disclosure is relevant when it has an identified
risk of material misstatement. The determination of whether an assertion is a relevant assertion is made before consideration of any
related controls (i.e., the inherent risk).

TRelevant ethical requirements (in the context of ISOM 1)—Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are
applicable to professional accountants when undertaking engagements that are audits or reviews of financial statements or
other assurance or related services engagements. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily comprise the provisions of the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to audits or reviews of financial statements, or other assurance
or related services engagements, together with national requirements that are more restrictive.

TRelevant ethical requirements (in the context of ISOM 2)— Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are
applicable to a professional accountant when undertaking the engagement quality review. Relevant ethical requirements
ordinarily comprise the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to audits or reviews of
financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements, together with national requirements that are more
restrictive.

*Relevant ethical requirements (in the context of the 1SAs)—Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are
applicable to professional accountants when undertaking the audit engagement. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily comprise
the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to audits of financial statements, together
with national requirements that are more restrictive..

Relevant ethical requirements (in the context of ISRE 2400 (Revised))— Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements
that are applicable to-professional accountants when undertaking reviews of financial statements. Relevant ethical requirements
ordinarily comprise the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to reviews of financial
statements, together with national requirements that are more restrictive.

Relevant ethical requirements (in the context of ISRS 4400 (Revised))— Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements
that are applicable to the engagement team when undertaking agreed-upon engagements. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily
comprise the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with national requirements
that are more restrictive.

Relevant ethical requirements (in the context of ISRS 4410 (Revised))—Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements
that are applicable to the engagement team when undertaking compilation engagements. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily
comprise the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), together with national requirements
that are more restrictive.Removal—The GHGs that the entity has, during the period, removed from the atmosphere, or that would
have been emitted to the atmosphere had they not been captured and channeled to a sink.

Reperformance—The auditor’s independent execution of procedures or controls that were originally performed as part of the
entity’s internal controls.

*Report on the description and design of controls at a service organization (referrved to in ISA 402°% as a type 1 report)—A report
that comprises:

2 ISA 402, Audit Considerations Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization
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A description, prepared by management of the service organization, of the service organization’s system, control objectives
and related controls that have been designed and implemented as at a specified date; and

A report by the service auditor with the objective of conveying reasonable assurance that includes the service auditor’s
opinion on the description of the service organization’s system, control objectives and related controls and the suitability of
the design of the controls to achieve the specified control objectives.

Report on the description and design of controls at a service organization (referred to in ISAE 3402°° as a “type 1 report”)(in the
context of ISAE 3402)—A report that comprises:

(a)
(b)

©

The service organization’s description of its system;
A written statement by the service organization that, in all material respects, and based on suitable criteria:

(1)  The description fairly presents the service organization’s system as designed and implemented as at the specified date;
(ii))  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system were suitably
designed as at the specified date; and

A service auditor’s assurance report that conveys a reasonable assurance conclusion about the matters in (b)(i)—(ii) above.

*Report on the description, design, and operating effectiveness of controls at a service organization (referred to in ISA 402 as a type
2 report)—A report that comprises:

(a)

(b)

A description, prepared by management of the service organization, of the service organization’s system, control objectives
and related controls, their design and implementation as at a specified date or throughout a specified period and, in some
cases, their operating effectiveness throughout a specified period; and

A report by the service auditor with the objective of conveying reasonable assurance that includes:

6))] The service auditor’s opinion on the description of the service organization’s system, control objectives and related
controls, the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the specified control objectives, and the operating
effectiveness of the controls; and

(il)) A description of the service auditor’s tests of the controls and the results thereof.

Report on the description, design and operating effectiveness of controls at a service organization (referred to in ISAE 3402 as a
“type 2 report”)(in the context of ISAE 3402)—A report that comprises:

(@
(b)

©

The service organization’s description of its system;
A written statement by the service organization that, in all material respects, and based on suitable criteria:

(1)  The description fairly presents the service organization’s system as designed and implemented throughout the specified
period;

(i)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system were suitably
designed throughout the specified period; and

(iii)  The controls related to the control objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system operated
effectively throughout the specified period; and

A service auditor’s assurance report that:
1) Conveys a reasonable assurance conclusion about the matters in (b)(i)—(iii) above; and

(i)  Includes a description of the tests of controls and the results thereof.

Responsible party (in the context of the ISAEs)—The party(ies) responsible for the underlying subject matter.

Responsible party (in the context of ISRS 4400)—The party(ies) responsible for the underlying subject matter on which the
agreed-upon procedures are performed.

29

ISAE 3402, Assurance Reports on Controls at a Service Organization
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tResponse (in relation to a system of quality management)—Policies or procedures designed and implemented by the firm to
address one or more quality risk(s):

(i) Policies are statements of what should, or should not, be done to address a quality risk(s). Such statements may be
documented, explicitly stated in communications or implied through actions and decisions.

(ii))  Procedures are actions to implement policies.

Review engagement—The objective of a review engagement is to enable an auditor to state whether, on the basis of procedures
which do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit, anything has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial
reporting framework.

Review procedures—The procedures deemed necessary to meet the objective of a review engagement, primarily inquiries of entity
personnel and analytical procedures applied to financial data.

*Risk assessment procedures—The audit procedures designed and performed to identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, at the financial statement and assertion levels.

*Risk of material misstatement—The risk that the financial statements are materially misstated prior to audit. This consists of two
components, described as follows at the assertion level:

(a)  Inherent risk—The susceptibility of an assertion about a class of transaction, account balance or disclosure to a
misstatement that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, before consideration
of any related controls.

(b)  Control risk—The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an assertion about a class of transaction, account balance or
disclosure and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity’s controls.

Risk of material misstatement (in the context of ISAE 3000 (Revised))—The risk that the subject matter information is materially
misstated prior to the engagement.

*Risks arising from the use of IT—Susceptibility of information processing controls to ineffective design or operation, or risks to the
integrity of information (i.e., the completeness, accuracy and validity of transactions and other information) in the entity’s information
system, due to ineffective design or operation of controls in the entity’s IT processes (see IT environment).

*Sampling—(see Audit sampling)

*Sampling risk—The risk that the auditor’s conclusion based on a sample may be different from the conclusion if the entire
population were subjected to the same audit procedure. Sampling risk can lead to two types of erroneous conclusions:

(a)  In the case of a test of controls, that controls are more effective than they actually are, or in the case of a test of details, that a
material misstatement does not exist when in fact it does. The auditor is primarily concerned with this type of erroneous
conclusion because it affects audit effectiveness and is more likely to lead to an inappropriate audit opinion.

(b) Inthe case of a test of controls, that controls are less effective than they actually are, or in the case of a test of details, that a
material misstatement exists when in fact it does not. This type of erroneous conclusion affects audit efficiency as it would
usually lead to additional work to establish that initial conclusions were incorrect.

*Sampling unit—The individual items constituting a population.
Scope of a review—The review procedures deemed necessary in the circumstances to achieve the objective of the review.

*Service auditor—An auditor who, at the request of the service organization, provides an assurance report on the controls of a
service organization.

Service auditor (in the context of ISAE 3402)—A practitioner who, at the request of the service organization, provides an assurance
report on controls of a service organization.

*Service organization—A third-party organization (or segment of a third-party organization) that provides services to user entities
that are part of those entities’ information systems relevant to financial reporting.

Service organization (in the context of ISAE 3402)—A third-party organization (or segment of a third-party organization) that
provides services to user entities that are likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control as it relates to financial reporting.
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Service organization’s statement—The written statement about the matters referred to in (b) of the definition of a report on the description,
design and operating effectiveness of controls at a service organization (in the case of a type 2 report) or (b) of the definition of a report on the
description and design of controls at a service organization (in the case of a type 1 report).

*Service organization’s system—The policies and procedures designed, implemented and maintained by the service organization to
provide user entities with the services covered by the service auditor’s report.

Service organization’s system (or the system)(in the context of ISAE 3402)—The policies and procedures designed and implemented
by the service organization to provide user entities with the services covered by the service auditor’s assurance report. The service
organization’s description of its system includes identification of: the services covered; the period, or in the case of a type 1 report,
the date, to which the description relates; control objectives; and related controls.

tService provider—An individual or organization external to the firm that provides a resource that is used in the system of quality
management or in the performance of engagements. Service providers exclude the firm’s network, other network firms or other
structures or organizations in the network.

Significance—The relative importance of a matter, taken in context. The significance of a matter is judged by the practitioner in the
context in which it is being considered. This might include, for example, the reasonable prospect of its changing or influencing the
decisions of intended users of the practitioner’s report; or, as another example, where the context is a judgment about whether to
report a matter to those charged with governance, whether the matter would be regarded as important by them in relation to their
duties. Significance can be considered in the context of quantitative and qualitative factors, such as relative magnitude, the nature
and effect on the subject matter and the expressed interests of intended users or recipients.

*Significant class of transactions, account balance or disclosure—A class of transactions, account balance or disclosure for which
there is one or more relevant assertions.

*Significant component—A component identified by the group engagement team (i) that is of individual financial significance to
the group, or (ii) that, due to its specific nature or circumstances, is likely to include significant risks of material misstatement of the
group financial statements.

*Significant deficiency in internal control—A deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control that, in the auditor’s
professional judgment, is of sufficient importance to merit the attention of those charged with governance.

Significant facility—A facility that is of individual significance due to the size of its emissions relative to the aggregate emissions
included in the GHG statement or its specific nature or circumstances which give rise to particular risks of material misstatement.

*Significant risk—An identified risk of material misstatement

(i)  For which the assessment of inherent risk is close to the upper end of the spectrum of inherent risk due to the degree to which
inherent risk factors affect the combination of the likelihood of a misstatement occurring and the magnitude of the potential
misstatement should that misstatement occur; or

(ii)) That is to be treated as a significant risk in accordance with the requirements of other ISAs.
Sink—A physical unit or process that removes GHGs from the atmosphere.
Smaller entity—An entity which typically possesses qualitative characteristics such as:

(a)  Concentration of ownership and management in a small number of individuals (often a single individual — either a natural person
or another enterprise that owns the entity provided the owner exhibits the relevant qualitative characteristics); and

(b)  One or more of the following:
(i) Straightforward or uncomplicated transactions;
(il)  Simple record-keeping;
(iii) Few lines of business and few products within business lines;
(iv) Few internal controls;
(v)  Few levels of management with responsibility for a broad range of controls; or

(vi) Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties.

These qualitative characteristics are not exhaustive, they are not exclusive to smaller entities, and smaller entities do not
necessarily display all of these characteristics.
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Source—A physical unit or process that releases GHGs into the atmosphere.
*Special purpose financial statements—Financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework.

*Special purpose framework—A financial reporting framework designed to meet the financial information needs of specific users.
The financial reporting framework may be a fair presentation framework or a compliance framework.>

*+Staff—Professionals, other than partners, including any experts the firm employs.
*Statistical sampling—An approach to sampling that has the following characteristics:

(@) Random selection of the sample items; and

(b)  The use of probability theory to evaluate sample results, including measurement of sampling risk.
A sampling approach that does not have characteristics (a) and (b) is considered non-statistical sampling.

*Stratification—The process of dividing a population into sub-populations, each of which is a group of sampling units which have
similar characteristics (often monetary value).

Subject matter information— The outcome of the measurement or evaluation of the underlying subject matter against the criteria,
that is, the information that results from applying the criteria to the underlying subject matter.

*Subsequent events—Events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the auditor’s report, and facts
that become known to the auditor after the date of the auditor’s report.

*Subservice organization—A service organization used by another service organization to perform some of the services provided to
user entities that are part of those user entities’ information systems relevant to financial reporting.

Subservice organization (in the context of ISAE 3402)—A service organization used by another service organization to perform some
of the services provided to user entities that are likely to be relevant to user entities’ internal control as it relates to financial reporting.

*Substantive procedure—An audit procedure designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level. Substantive
procedures comprise:

(a) Tests of details (of classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures); and
(b)  Substantive analytical procedures.

*Sufficiency (of audit evidence)—The measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is
affected by the auditor’s assessment of the risks of material misstatement and also by the quality of such audit evidence.

Suitable criteria—(see Criteria)

*Summary financial statements (in the context of ISA 810 (Revised))—Historical financial information that is derived from financial
statements but that contains less detail than the financial statements, while still providing a structured representation consistent with
that provided by the financial statements of the entity’s economic resources or obligations at a point in time or the changes therein for a
period of time.3! Different jurisdictions may use different terminology to describe such historical financial information.

Supplementary information—Information that is presented together with the financial statements that is not required by the
applicable financial reporting framework used to prepare the financial statements, normally presented in either supplementary
schedules or as additional notes.

*System of internal control—The system designed, implemented and maintained by those charged with governance, management
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance about the achievement of an entity’s objectives with regard to reliability of
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. For the
purposes of the ISAs, the system of internal control consists of five inter-related components:

(a)  Control environment;
(b)  The entity’s risk assessment process;
(¢)  The entity’s process to monitor the system of internal control;

(d) The information system and communication; and

30 ISA 200, paragraph 13(a)
31 ISA 200, paragraph 13(f)
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(e)  Control activities.

tSystem of quality management—A system designed, implemented and operated by a firm to provide the firm with reasonable
assurance that:

(1) The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and requirements; and

(ii)) Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances.
Test—The application of procedures to some or all items in a population.

*Tests of controls—An audit procedure designed to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls in preventing, or detecting and
correcting, material misstatements at the assertion level.

Test of controls (in the context of ISAE 3402)—A procedure designed to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls in
achieving the control objectives stated in the service organization’s description of its system.

*Those charged with governance—The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) with responsibility for
overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and obligations related to the accountability of the entity. This includes overseeing the
financial reporting process. For some entities in some jurisdictions, those charged with governance may include management
personnel, for example, executive members of a governance board of a private or public sector entity, or an owner-manager.>?

*Tolerable misstatement—A monetary amount set by the auditor in respect of which the auditor seeks to obtain an appropriate level
of assurance that the monetary amount set by the auditor is not exceeded by the actual misstatement in the population.

*Tolerable rate of deviation—A rate of deviation from prescribed internal control procedures set by the auditor in respect of which
the auditor seeks to obtain an appropriate level of assurance that the rate of deviation set by the auditor is not exceeded by the actual
rate of deviation in the population.

Type of emission—A grouping of emissions based on, for example, source of emission, type of gas, region, or facility.

Unadjusted financial information—Financial information of the entity to which pro forma adjustments are applied by the
responsible party.

Uncertainty—A matter whose outcome depends on future actions or events not under the direct control of the entity but that may
affect the financial statements.

*Uncorrected misstatements—Misstatements that the auditor has accumulated during the audit and that have not been corrected.
Underlying subject matter—The phenomenon that is measured or evaluated by applying criteria.

*Unmodified opinion—The opinion expressed by the auditor when the auditor concludes that the financial statements are prepared,
in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.**

*User auditor—An auditor who audits and reports on the financial statements of a user entity.

User auditor (in the context of ISAE 3402)—An auditor who audits and reports on the financial statements of a user entity.>*
*User entity—An entity that uses a service organization and whose financial statements are being audited.

User entity (in the context of ISAE 3402)—An entity that uses a service organization.

Walk-through test—see Performing a walk-through.

*Written representation—A written statement by management provided to the auditor to confirm certain matters or to support other
audit evidence. Written representations in this context do not include financial statements, the assertions therein, or supporting
books and records.

32 For discussion of the diversity of governance structures, see paragraphs A1-A8 of ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance.

33 Paragraphs 25-26 deal with the phrases used to express this opinion in the case of a fair presentation framework and a compliance framework respectively.

3 In the case of a subservice organization, the service auditor of a service organization that uses the services of the subservice organization is also a user auditor.
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Introduction

Scope of this ISQM

1. This International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM) deals with a firm’s responsibilities to design, implement and
operate a system of quality management for audits or reviews of financial statements, or other assurance or related services
engagements.

2. Engagement quality reviews form part of the firm’s system of quality management and:

(a)  This ISQM deals with the firm’s responsibility to establish policies or procedures addressing engagements that are
required to be subject to engagement quality reviews.

(b) ISQM 2! deals with the appointment and eligibility of the engagement quality reviewer, and the performance and
documentation of the engagement quality review.

3. Other pronouncements of the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB):

(a)  Are premised on the basis that the firm is subject to the ISQMs or to national requirements that are at least as
demanding;* and

(b) Include requirements for engagement partners and other engagement team members regarding quality management
at the engagement level. For example, ISA 220 (Revised) deals with the specific responsibilities of the auditor
regarding quality management at the engagement level for an audit of financial statements and the related
responsibilities of the engagement partner. (Ref: Para. A1)

4. This ISQM is to be read in conjunction with relevant ethical requirements. Law, regulation or relevant ethical requirements
may establish responsibilities for the firm’s management of quality beyond those described in this ISQM. (Ref: Para. A2)

5. This ISQM applies to all firms performing audits or reviews of financial statements, or other assurance or related services
engagements (i.e., if the firm performs any of these engagements, this ISQM applies and the system of quality management
that is established in accordance with the requirements of this ISQM enables the consistent performance by the firm of all
such engagements).

The Firm’s System of Quality Management

6. A system of quality management operates in a continual and iterative manner and is responsive to changes in the nature and
circumstances of the firm and its engagements. It also does not operate in a linear manner. However, for the purposes of
this ISQM, a system of quality management addresses the following eight components: (Ref: Para. A3)

(a) The firm’s risk assessment process;

(b)  Governance and leadership;

(c) Relevant ethical requirements;

(d)  Acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific engagements;
(e) Engagement performance;

()  Resources;

(g) Information and communication; and

(h)  The monitoring and remediation process.

7. This ISQM requires the firm to apply a risk-based approach in designing, implementing and operating the components of
the system of quality management in an interconnected and coordinated manner such that the firm proactively manages the
quality of engagements performed by the firm. (Ref: Para. A4)

8. The risk-based approach is embedded in the requirements of this ISQM through:

(a) Establishing quality objectives. The quality objectives established by the firm consist of objectives in relation to the
components of the system of quality management that are to be achieved by the firm. The firm is required to

ISQM 2, Engagement Quality Reviews
See, for example, International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 220 (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements (Revised), paragraph 3
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establish the quality objectives specified by this ISQM and any additional quality objectives considered necessary
by the firm to achieve the objectives of the system of quality management.

(b) Identifying and assessing risks to the achievement of the quality objectives (referred to in this standard as quality
risks). The firm is required to identify and assess quality risks to provide a basis for the design and implementation
of responses.

(c) Designing and implementing responses to address the quality risks. The nature, timing and extent of the firm’s
responses to address the quality risks are based on and are responsive to the reasons for the assessments given to the
quality risks.

9. This ISQM requires that, at least annually, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the
system of quality management, on behalf of the firm, evaluates the system of quality management and concludes whether
the system of quality management provides the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system, stated in
paragraph 14(a) and (b), are being achieved. (Ref: Para. AS)

Scalability
10. In applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to take into account:
(a)  The nature and circumstances of the firm; and
(b)  The nature and circumstances of the engagements performed by the firm.

Accordingly, the design of the firm’s system of quality management, in particular the complexity and formality of the
system, will vary. For example, a firm that performs different types of engagements for a wide variety of entities, including
audits of financial statements of listed entities, will likely need to have a more complex and formalized system of quality
management and supporting documentation, than a firm that performs only reviews of financial statements or compilation
engagements.

Networks and Service Providers
11. This ISQM addresses the firm’s responsibilities when the firm:

(a) Belongs to a network, and the firm complies with network requirements or uses network services in the system of
quality management or in the performance of engagements; or

(b)  Uses resources from a service provider in the system of quality management or in the performance of engagements.

Even when the firm complies with network requirements or uses network services or resources from a service provider, the
firm is responsible for its system of quality management.

Authority of this ISQM
12. Paragraph 14 contains the objective of the firm in following this ISQM. This ISQM contains: (Ref: Para. A6)
(a) Requirements designed to enable the firm to meet the objective in paragraph 14; (Ref: Para. A7)
(b) Related guidance in the form of application and other explanatory material; (Ref: Para. A8)
(¢) Introductory material that provides context relevant to a proper understanding of this ISQM; and
(d) Definitions. (Ref: Para. A9)
Effective Date

13. Systems of quality management in compliance with this ISQM are required to be designed and implemented by December
15, 2022, and the evaluation of the system of quality management required by paragraphs 53—54 of this ISQM is required
to be performed within one year following December 15, 2022.

Objective

14. The objective of the firm is to design, implement and operate a system of quality management for audits or reviews of
financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements performed by the firm, that provides the firm with
reasonable assurance that:

(a) The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal
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and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and requirements; and
(b) Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances.

15. The public interest is served by the consistent performance of quality engagements. The design, implementation and
operation of the system of quality management enables the consistent performance of quality engagements by providing
the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system of quality management, stated in paragraph 14(a) and
(b), are achieved. Quality engagements are achieved through planning and performing engagements and reporting on them
in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Achieving the objectives of
those standards and complying with the requirements of applicable law or regulation involves exercising professional
judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement, exercising professional skepticism.

Definitions
16.  For purposes of this ISQM, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(a)  Deficiency in the firm’s system of quality management (referred to as “deficiency” in this ISQM) — This exists when:
(Ref: Para. A10, A159—A160)

(i) A quality objective required to achieve the objective of the system of quality management is not established;
(1) A quality risk, or combination of quality risks, is not identified or properly assessed; (Ref: Para. A11)

(iii) A response, or combination of responses, does not reduce to an acceptably low level the likelihood of a related
quality risk occurring because the response(s) is not properly designed, implemented or operating effectively;
or

(iv)  An other aspect of the system of quality management is absent, or not properly designed, implemented or op-
erating effectively, such that a requirement of this ISQM has not been addressed. (Ref: Para. A12)

(b)  Engagement documentation — The record of work performed, results obtained, and conclusions the practitioner
reached (terms such as “working papers” or “work papers” are sometimes used).

(c)  Engagement partner’ — The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is responsible for the engagement
and its performance, and for the report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and who, where required, has the appro-
priate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

(d)  Engagement quality review — An objective evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and
the conclusions reached thereon, performed by the engagement quality reviewer and completed on or before the date

of the engagement report.

(e)  Engagement quality reviewer — A partner, other individual in the firm, or an external individual, appointed by the firm
to perform the engagement quality review.

® Engagement team — All partners and staff performing the engagement, and any other individuals who perform pro-
cedures on the engagement, excluding an external expert* and internal auditors who provide direct assistance on an
engagement. (Ref: Para. A13)

(g)  External inspections — Inspections or investigations, undertaken by an external oversight authority, related to the
firm’s system of quality management or engagements performed by the firm. (Ref: Para. A14)

(h)  Findings (in relation to a system of quality management) — Information about the design, implementation and opera-
tion of the system of quality management that has been accumulated from the performance of monitoring activities,
external inspections and other relevant sources, which indicates that one or more deficiencies may exist. (Ref: Para.
A15-A17)

6) Firm — A sole practitioner, partnership or corporation or other entity of professional accountants, or public sector
equivalent. (Ref: Para. A18)

3 “Engagement partner” and “partner” is to be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.

4 ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert, paragraph 6(a), defines the term “auditor’s expert.”
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Listed entity — An entity whose shares, stock or debt are quoted or listed on a recognized stock exchange, or are
marketed under the regulations of a recognized stock exchange or other equivalent body.

Network firm — A firm or entity that belongs to the firm’s network.
Network — A larger structure: (Ref: Para. A19)
(1) That is aimed at cooperation; and

(i)  That is clearly aimed at profit or cost-sharing or shares common ownership, control or management, common
quality management policies or procedures, common business strategy, the use of a common brand name, or a
significant part of professional resources.

Partner — Any individual with authority to bind the firm with respect to the performance of a professional services
engagement.

Personnel — Partners and staff in the firm. (Ref: Para. A20-A21)

Professional judgment — The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience, within the context of
professional standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in the design,
implementation and operation of the firm’s system of quality management.

Professional standards — IAASB Engagement Standards, as defined in the IAASB’s Preface to the International
Quality Management, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services Pronouncements, and relevant
ethical requirements.

Quality objectives — The desired outcomes in relation to the components of the system of quality management to be
achieved by the firm.

Quality risk — A risk that has a reasonable possibility of:

(1)  Occurring; and

(i)  Individually, or in combination with other risks, adversely affecting the achievement of one or more quality
objectives.

Reasonable assurance — In the context of the ISQMs, a high, but not absolute, level of assurance.

Relevant ethical requirements — Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are applicable to
professional accountants when undertaking engagements that are audits or reviews of financial statements or other
assurance or related services engagements. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily comprise the provisions of the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to audits or reviews of financial statements,
or other assurance or related services engagements, together with national requirements that are more restrictive. (Ref:
Para. A22-A24, A62)

Response (in relation to a system of quality management) — Policies or procedures designed and implemented by the
firm to address one or more quality risk(s): (Ref: Para. A25-A27, A50)

(i) Policies are statements of what should, or should not, be done to address a quality risk(s). Such statements may
be documented, explicitly stated in communications or implied through actions and decisions.

(i)  Procedures are actions to implement policies.

Service provider (in the context of this ISQM) — An individual or organization external to the firm that provides a
resource that is used in the system of quality management or in the performance of engagements. Service providers
exclude the firm’s network, other network firms or other structures or organizations in the network. (Ref: Para. A28,
A105)

Staff — Professionals, other than partners, including any experts the firm employs.

System of quality management — A system designed, implemented and operated by a firm to provide the firm with
reasonable assurance that:
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(1) The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and
requirements; and

(ii)) Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances.

Requirements
Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements

17.  The firm shall comply with each requirement of this ISQM unless the requirement is not relevant to the firm because of the
nature and circumstances of the firm or its engagements. (Ref: Para. A29)

18.  The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the firm’s system of quality management, and the
individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the firm’s system of quality management shall have an understanding of
this ISQM, including the application and other explanatory material, to understand the objective of this ISQM and to apply its
requirements properly.

System of Quality Management

19.  The firm shall design, implement and operate a system of quality management. In doing so, the firm shall exercise
professional judgment, taking into account the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements. The governance
and leadership component of the system of quality management establishes the environment that supports the design,
implementation and operation of the system of quality management. (Ref: Para. A30-A31)

Responsibilities
20.  The firm shall assign: (Ref: Para. A32—-A35)

(a)  Ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management to the firm’s chief executive officer
or the firm’s managing partner (or equivalent) or, if appropriate, the firm’s managing board of partners (or equivalent);

(b)  Operational responsibility for the system of quality management;
(c)  Operational responsibility for specific aspects of the system of quality management, including:
(1) Compliance with independence requirements; and (Ref: Para. A36)

(i1))  The monitoring and remediation process.

21.  In assigning the roles in paragraph 20 the firm shall determine that the individual(s): (Ref: Para. A37)

(a)  Has the appropriate experience, knowledge, influence and authority within the firm, and sufficient time, to fulfill their
assigned responsibility; and (Ref: Para. A38)

(b)  Understands their assigned roles and that they are accountable for fulfilling them.

22.  The firm shall determine that the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the system of quality management,
compliance with independence requirements and the monitoring and remediation process, have a direct line of
communication to the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management.

The Firm’s Risk Assessment Process

23.  The firm shall design and implement a risk assessment process to establish quality objectives, identify and assess quality
risks and design and implement responses to address the quality risks. (Ref: Para. A39-A41)

24.  The firm shall establish the quality objectives specified by this ISQM and any additional quality objectives considered
necessary by the firm to achieve the objectives of the system of quality management. (Ref: Para. A42—-A44)

25.  The firm shall identify and assess quality risks to provide a basis for the design and implementation of responses. In doing so,
the firm shall:
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(a)  Obtain an understanding of the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions that may adversely affect the
achievement of the quality objectives, including: (Ref: Para. A45-A47)

(i) With respect to the nature and circumstances of the firm, those relating to:

a. The complexity and operating characteristics of the firm;

b. The strategic and operational decisions and actions, business processes and business model of the firm;
c. The characteristics and management style of leadership;

d. The resources of the firm, including the resources provided by service providers;

e. Law, regulation, professional standards and the environment in which the firm operates; and

f. In the case of a firm that belongs to a network, the nature and extent of the network requirements and

network services, if any.
(i)  With respect to the nature and circumstances of the engagements performed by the firm, those relating to:
a. The types of engagements performed by the firm and the reports to be issued; and
b. The types of entities for which such engagements are undertaken.

(b)  Take into account how, and the degree to which, the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions in
paragraph 25(a) may adversely affect the achievement of the quality objectives. (Ref: Para. A48)

26.  The firm shall design and implement responses to address the quality risks in a manner that is based on, and responsive to, the
reasons for the assessments given to the quality risks. The firm’s responses shall also include the responses specified in
paragraph 34. (Ref: Para. A49-A51)

27.  The firm shall establish policies or procedures that are designed to identify information that indicates additional quality
objectives, or additional or modified quality risks or responses, are needed due to changes in the nature and circumstances of
the firm or its engagements. If such information is identified, the firm shall consider the information and when appropriate:
(Ref: Para. A52—-A53)

(a)  Establish additional quality objectives or modify additional quality objectives already established by the firm; (Ref:
Para. A54)

(b)  Identify and assess additional quality risks, modify the quality risks or reassess the quality risks; or

(¢)  Design and implement additional responses, or modify the responses.

Governance and Leadership

28.  The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address the firm’s governance and leadership, which establishes
the environment that supports the system of quality management:

(a)  The firm demonstrates a commitment to quality through a culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes
and reinforces: (Ref: Para. A55—-A56)

(1) The firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements;
(i)  The importance of professional ethics, values and attitudes;

(iii)  The responsibility of all personnel for quality relating to the performance of engagements or activities within
the system of quality management, and their expected behavior; and

(iv) The importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and
operational priorities.

(b)  Leadership is responsible and accountable for quality. (Ref: Para. A57)
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(c)  Leadership demonstrates a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors. (Ref: Para. A58)

(d)  The organizational structure and assignment of roles, responsibilities and authority is appropriate to enable the design,
implementation and operation of the firm’s system of quality management. (Ref: Para. A32, A33, A35, A59)

(e)  Resource needs, including financial resources, are planned for and resources are obtained, allocated or assigned in a
manner that is consistent with the firm’s commitment to quality. (Ref: Para. A60—A61)
Relevant Ethical Requirements

29.  The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address the fulfillment of responsibilities in accordance with
relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence: (Ref: Para. A62—A64, A66)

(a)  The firm and its personnel:

(1) Understand the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject; and
(Ref: Para. A22, A24)

(ii))  Fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s
engagements are subject.

(b)  Others, including the network, network firms, individuals in the network or network firms, or service providers, who
are subject to the relevant ethical requirements to which the firm and the firm’s engagements are subject:

(1) Understand the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them; and (Ref: Para. A22, A24, A65)

(i)  Fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical requirements that apply to them.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements

30.  The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address the acceptance and continuance of client relationships
and specific engagements:

(a)  Judgments by the firm about whether to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement are appropriate
based on:

(1) Information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the integrity and ethical values
of the client (including management, and, when appropriate, those charged with governance) that is sufficient
to support such judgments; and (Ref: Para. A67-A71)

(i)  The firm’s ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory requirements. (Ref: Para. A72)

(b)  The financial and operational priorities of the firm do not lead to inappropriate judgments about whether to accept or
continue a client relationship or specific engagement. (Ref: Para. A73—-A74)

Engagement Performance
31.  The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address the performance of quality engagements:

(a)  Engagement teams understand and fulfill their responsibilities in connection with the engagements, including, as
applicable, the overall responsibility of engagement partners for managing and achieving quality on the engagement
and being sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout the engagement. (Ref: Para. A75)

(b)  The nature, timing and extent of direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of the work performed is
appropriate based on the nature and circumstances of the engagements and the resources assigned or made available to
the engagement teams, and the work performed by less experienced engagement team members is directed, supervised
and reviewed by more experienced engagement team members. (Ref: Para. A76—-A77)

(c) Engagement teams exercise appropriate professional judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement,
professional skepticism. (Ref: Para. A78)
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(d)  Consultation on difficult or contentious matters is undertaken and the conclusions agreed are implemented. (Ref: Para.
A79-A81)

(e)  Differences of opinion within the engagement team, or between the engagement team and the engagement quality
reviewer or individuals performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management are brought to the
attention of the firm and resolved. (Ref: Para. A82)

(f) Engagement documentation is assembled on a timely basis after the date of the engagement report, and is
appropriately maintained and retained to meet the needs of the firm and comply with law, regulation, relevant ethical
requirements, or professional standards. (Ref: Para. A83—AS85)

Resources

32.

The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address appropriately obtaining, developing, using, maintaining,
allocating and assigning resources in a timely manner to enable the design, implementation and operation of the system of
quality management: (Ref: Para. A86—A87)

Human Resources
(a)  Personnel are hired, developed and retained and have the competence and capabilities to: (Ref: Para. A88—A90)

(1) Consistently perform quality engagements, including having knowledge or experience relevant to the
engagements the firm performs; or

(il))  Perform activities or carry out responsibilities in relation to the operation of the firm’s system of quality
management.

(b)  Personnel demonstrate a commitment to quality through their actions and behaviors, develop and maintain the
appropriate competence to perform their roles, and are held accountable or recognized through timely evaluations,
compensation, promotion and other incentives. (Ref: Para. A91-A93)

(c)  Individuals are obtained from external sources (i.e., the network, another network firm or a service provider) when the
firm does not have sufficient or appropriate personnel to enable the operation of firm’s system of quality management
or performance of engagements. (Ref: Para. A94)

(d)  Engagement team members are assigned to each engagement, including an engagement partner, who have appropriate
competence and capabilities, including being given sufficient time, to consistently perform quality engagements.
(Ref: Para. A88—A89, A95-A97)

(e) Individuals are assigned to perform activities within the system of quality management who have appropriate
competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform such activities.
Technological Resources

® Appropriate technological resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used, to enable the
operation of the firm’s system of quality management and the performance of engagements. (Ref: Para. A98—-A101,
A104)

Intellectual Resources

(g) Appropriate intellectual resources are obtained or developed, implemented, maintained, and used, to enable the
operation of the firm’s system of quality management and the consistent performance of quality engagements, and
such intellectual resources are consistent with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements, where applicable. (Ref: Para. A102-A104)

Service Providers

(h)  Human, technological or intellectual resources from service providers are appropriate for use in the firm’s system of

40 ISQM 1



QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

quality management and in the performance of engagements, taking into account the quality objectives in paragraph
32 (d),(e),(f) and (g). (Ref: Para. A105-A108)

Information and Communication

33.

The firm shall establish the following quality objectives that address obtaining, generating or using information regarding the

system of quality management, and communicating information within the firm and to external parties on a timely basis to
enable the design, implementation and operation of the system of quality management: (Ref: Para. A109)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The information system identifies, captures, processes and maintains relevant and reliable information that supports
the system of quality management, whether from internal or external sources. (Ref: Para. A110—A111)

The culture of the firm recognizes and reinforces the responsibility of personnel to exchange information with the firm
and with one another. (Ref: Para. A112)

Relevant and reliable information is exchanged throughout the firm and with engagement teams, including: (Ref:
Para. A112)

(1) Information is communicated to personnel and engagement teams, and the nature, timing and extent of the
information is sufficient to enable them to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing
activities within the system of quality management or engagements; and

(1)  Personnel and engagement teams communicate information to the firm when performing activities within the
system of quality management or engagements.

Relevant and reliable information is communicated to external parties, including:

(1) Information is communicated by the firm to or within the firm’s network or to service providers, if any,
enabling the network or service providers to fulfill their responsibilities relating to the network requirements or
network services or resources provided by them; and (Ref: Para. A113)

(i)  Information is communicated externally when required by law, regulation or professional standards, or to
support external parties’ understanding of the system of quality management. (Ref: Para. A114-A115)

Specified Responses

34.
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In designing and implementing responses in accordance with paragraph 26, the firm shall include the following responses:
(Ref: Para. A116)

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

The firm establishes policies or procedures for:

(1) Identifying, evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with the relevant ethical requirements; and (Ref:
Para. A117)

(i)  Identifying, communicating, evaluating and reporting of any breaches of the relevant ethical requirements and

appropriately responding to the causes and consequences of the breaches in a timely manner. (Ref: Para. A118—
A119)

The firm obtains, at least annually, a documented confirmation of compliance with independence requirements from
all personnel required by relevant ethical requirements to be independent.

The firm establishes policies or procedures for receiving, investigating and resolving complaints and allegations about
failures to perform work in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements,
or non-compliance with the firm’s policies or procedures established in accordance with this ISQM. (Ref: Para.
A120-A121)

The firm establishes policies or procedures that address circumstances when:

(1) The firm becomes aware of information subsequent to accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific

41




QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

engagement that would have caused it to decline the client relationship or specific engagement had that
information been known prior to accepting or continuing the client relationship or specific engagement; or
(Ref: Para. A122-A123)

(i)  The firm is obligated by law or regulation to accept a client relationship or specific engagement. (Ref: Para.
A123)

(e)  The firm establishes policies or procedures that: (Ref: Para. A124-A126)

(1)  Require communication with those charged with governance when performing an audit of financial statements
of listed entities about how the system of quality management supports the consistent performance of quality
audit engagements; (Ref: Para. A127-A129)

(1)  Address when it is otherwise appropriate to communicate with external parties about the firm’s system of
quality management; and (Ref: Para. A130)

(iii)  Address the information to be provided when communicating externally in accordance with paragraphs 34(e)(i)
and 34(e)(ii), including the nature, timing and extent and appropriate form of communication. (Ref: Para.
Al131-A132)

® The firm establishes policies or procedures that address engagement quality reviews in accordance with ISQM 2, and
require an engagement quality review for:

(1)  Audits of financial statements of listed entities;

(i1)  Audits or other engagements for which an engagement quality review is required by law or regulation; and
(Ref: Para. A133)

(iii)  Audits or other engagements for which the firm determines that an engagement quality review is an appropriate
response to address one or more quality risk(s). (Ref: Para. A134-A137)

Monitoring and Remediation Process
35.  The firm shall establish a monitoring and remediation process to: (Ref: Para. A138)

(a)  Provide relevant, reliable and timely information about the design, implementation and operation of the system of
quality management.

(b)  Take appropriate actions to respond to identified deficiencies such that deficiencies are remediated on a timely basis.
Designing and Performing Monitoring Activities
36.  The firm shall design and perform monitoring activities to provide a basis for the identification of deficiencies.

37.  In determining the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities, the firm shall take into account: (Ref: Para. A139—
Al42)

(a)  The reasons for the assessments given to the quality risks;

(b)  The design of the responses;

(¢)  The design of the firm’s risk assessment process and monitoring and remediation process; (Ref: Para. A143—-A144)
(d)  Changes in the system of quality management; (Ref: Para. A145)

(e)  The results of previous monitoring activities, whether previous monitoring activities continue to be relevant in
evaluating the firm’s system of quality management and whether remedial actions to address previously identified
deficiencies were effective; and (Ref: Para. A146-A147)

(f)  Other relevant information, including complaints and allegations about failures to perform work in accordance with
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements or non-compliance with the firm’s policies or
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procedures established in accordance with this ISQM, information from external inspections and information from
service providers. (Ref: Para. A148—A150)

38.  The firm shall include the inspection of completed engagements in its monitoring activities and shall determine which
engagements and engagement partners to select. In doing so, the firm shall: (Ref: Para. A141, A151-A154)

(a)  Take into account the matters in paragraph 37,

(b)  Consider the nature, timing and extent of other monitoring activities undertaken by the firm and the engagements and
engagement partners subject to such monitoring activities; and

(¢)  Select at least one completed engagement for each engagement partner on a cyclical basis determined by the firm.
39.  The firm shall establish policies or procedures that:

(a)  Require the individuals performing the monitoring activities to have the competence and capabilities, including
sufficient time, to perform the monitoring activities effectively; and

(b)  Address the objectivity of the individuals performing the monitoring activities. Such policies or procedures shall
prohibit the engagement team members or the engagement quality reviewer of an engagement from performing any
inspection of that engagement. (Ref: Para. A155-A156)

Evaluating Findings and Identifying Deficiencies

40. The firm shall evaluate findings to determine whether deficiencies exist, including in the monitoring and remediation
process. (Ref: Para. A157-A162)

Evaluating Identified Deficiencies
41.  The firm shall evaluate the severity and pervasiveness of identified deficiencies by: (Ref: Para. A161, A163—-A164)

(a) Investigating the root cause(s) of the identified deficiencies. In determining the nature, timing and extent of the
procedures to investigate the root cause(s), the firm shall take into account the nature of the identified deficiencies and
their possible severity. (Ref: Para. A165-A169)

(b)  Evaluating the effect of the identified deficiencies, individually and in aggregate, on the system of quality
management.

Responding to Identified Deficiencies

42.  The firm shall design and implement remedial actions to address identified deficiencies that are responsive to the results of
the root cause analysis. (Ref: Para. A170-A172)

43.  The individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the monitoring and remediation process shall evaluate whether the
remedial actions:

(a)  Are appropriately designed to address the identified deficiencies and their related root cause(s) and determine that
they have been implemented; and

(b)  Implemented to address previously identified deficiencies are effective.

44. If the evaluation indicates that the remedial actions are not appropriately designed and implemented or are not effective, the
individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the monitoring and remediation process shall take appropriate action to
determine that the remedial actions are appropriately modified such that they are effective.

Findings About a Particular Engagement

45.  The firm shall respond to circumstances when findings indicate that there is an engagement(s) for which procedures required
were omitted during the performance of the engagement(s) or the report issued may be inappropriate. The firm’s response
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shall include: (Ref: Para. A173)

(a)  Taking appropriate action to comply with relevant professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements; and

(b)  When the report is considered to be inappropriate, considering the implications and taking appropriate action,
including considering whether to obtain legal advice.

Ongoing Communication Related to Monitoring and Remediation

46.

47.

The individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the monitoring and remediation process shall communicate on a
timely basis to the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management
and the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the system of quality management: (Ref: Para. A174)

(a) A description of the monitoring activities performed;
(b)  The identified deficiencies, including the severity and pervasiveness of such deficiencies; and
(¢)  The remedial actions to address the identified deficiencies.

The firm shall communicate the matters described in paragraph 46 to engagement teams and other individuals assigned
activities within the system of quality management to enable them to take prompt and appropriate action in accordance with
their responsibilities.

Network Requirements or Network Services

48.

49.

When the firm belongs to a network, the firm shall understand, when applicable: (Ref: Para. A19, A175)

(a)  The requirements established by the network regarding the firm’s system of quality management, including
requirements for the firm to implement or use resources or services designed or otherwise provided by or through the
network (i.e., network requirements);

(b)  Any services or resources provided by the network that the firm chooses to implement or use in the design,
implementation or operation of the firm’s system of quality management (i.e., network services); and

(¢)  The firm’s responsibilities for any actions that are necessary to implement the network requirements or use network
services. (Ref: Para. A176)

The firm remains responsible for its system of quality management, including professional judgments made in the design,
implementation and operation of the system of quality management. The firm shall not allow compliance with the network
requirements or use of network services to contravene the requirements of this ISQM. (Ref: Para. A177)

Based on the understanding obtained in paragraph 48, the firm shall:

(a)  Determine how the network requirements or network services are relevant to, and are taken into account in, the firm’s
system of quality management, including how they are to be implemented; and (Ref: Para. A178)

(b)  Evaluate whether and, if so, how the network requirements or network services need to be adapted or supplemented by
the firm to be appropriate for use in its system of quality management. (Ref: Para. A179-A180)

Monitoring Activities Undertaken by the Network on the Firm’s System of Quality Management

50.

In circumstances when the network performs monitoring activities relating to the firm’s system of quality management, the
firm shall:

(a)  Determine the effect of the monitoring activities performed by the network on the nature, timing and extent of the
firm’s monitoring activities performed in accordance with paragraphs 36-38;

(b)  Determine the firm’s responsibilities in relation to the monitoring activities, including any related actions by the firm;
and
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(¢)  As part of evaluating findings and identifying deficiencies in paragraph 40, obtain the results of the monitoring
activities from the network in a timely manner. (Ref: Para. A181)

Monitoring Activities Undertaken by the Network Across the Network Firms

51.

The firm shall:

(a)  Understand the overall scope of the monitoring activities undertaken by the network across the network firms,
including monitoring activities to determine that network requirements have been appropriately implemented across
the network firms, and how the network will communicate the results of its monitoring activities to the firm;

(b)  Atleast annually, obtain information from the network about the overall results of the network’s monitoring activities
across the network firms, if applicable, and: (Ref: Para. A182-A184)

(1) Communicate the information to engagement teams and other individuals assigned activities within the system
of quality management, as appropriate, to enable them to take prompt and appropriate action in accordance
with their responsibilities; and

(i)  Consider the effect of the information on the firm’s system of quality management.

Deficiencies in Network Requirements or Network Services Identified by the Firm

52.

If the firm identifies a deficiency in the network requirements or network services, the firm shall: (Ref: Para. A185)
(a) Communicate to the network relevant information about the identified deficiency; and

(b)  In accordance with paragraph 42, design and implement remedial actions to address the effect of the identified
deficiency in the network requirements or network services. (Ref: Para. A186)

Evaluating the System of Quality Management

53.

54.

55.

ISQM 1

The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management shall evaluate, on
behalf of the firm, the system of quality management. The evaluation shall be undertaken as at a point in time, and performed
at least annually. (Ref: Para. A187-A189)

Based on the evaluation, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management shall conclude, on behalf of the firm, one of the following: (Ref: Para. A190, A195)

(a)  The system of quality management provides the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system of
quality management are being achieved; (Ref: Para. A191)

(b)  Except for matters related to identified deficiencies that have a severe but not pervasive effect on the design,
implementation and operation of the system of quality management, the system of quality management provides the
firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system of quality management are being achieved; or (Ref:
Para. A192)

(¢)  The system of quality management does not provide the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the
system of quality management are being achieved. (Ref: Para. A192-A194)

If the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management reaches the
conclusion described in paragraph 54(b) or 54(c), the firm shall: (Ref: Para. A196)

(a)  Take prompt and appropriate action; and
(b)  Communicate to:

(1) Engagement teams and other individuals assigned activities within the system of quality management to the
extent that it is relevant to their responsibilities; and (Ref: Para. A197)
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(i1)  External parties in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures required by paragraph 34(e). (Ref: Para.
A198)

56. The firm shall undertake periodic performance evaluations of the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and
accountability for the system of quality management, and the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the system
of quality management. In doing so, the firm shall take into account the evaluation of the system of quality management.
(Ref: Para. A199-A201)

Documentation
57.  The firm shall prepare documentation of its system of quality management that is sufficient to: (Ref: Para. A202—-A204)

(a)  Support a consistent understanding of the system of quality management by personnel, including an understanding
of their roles and responsibilities with respect to the system of quality management and the performance of
engagements;

(b)  Support the consistent implementation and operation of the responses; and

(c) Provide evidence of the design, implementation and operation of the responses, to support the evaluation of the
system of quality management by the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the
system of quality management.

58.  In preparing documentation, the firm shall include:

(a)  The identification of the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management and operational responsibility for the system of quality management;

(b)  The firm’s quality objectives and quality risks; (Ref: Para. A205)
(¢) A description of the responses and how the firm’s responses address the quality risks;
(d)  Regarding the monitoring and remediation process:
(i) Evidence of the monitoring activities performed;
(i1)  The evaluation of findings, and identified deficiencies and their related root cause(s);

(iii) Remedial actions to address identified deficiencies and the evaluation of the design and implementation of such
remedial actions; and

(iv) Communications about monitoring and remediation; and
(e)  The basis for the conclusion reached pursuant to paragraph 54.

59.  The firm shall document the matters in paragraph 58 as they relate to network requirements or network services and the
evaluation of the network requirements or network services in accordance with paragraph 49(b). (Ref: Para. A206)

60.  The firm shall establish a period of time for the retention of documentation for the system of quality management that is
sufficient to enable the firm to monitor the design, implementation and operation of the firm’s system of quality
management, or for a longer period if required by law or regulation.

sk

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of this ISQM (Ref: Para. 3—4)

Al. Other pronouncements of the IAASB, including ISRE 2400 (Revised)® and ISAE 3000 (Revised),® also establish
requirements for the engagement partner for the management of quality at the engagement level.

3 International Standard on Review Engagements (ISRE) 2400 (Revised), Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements

6 International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial

Information
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A2. The IESBA Code’ contains requirements and application material for professional accountants that enable professional
accountants to meet their responsibility to act in the public interest. As indicated in paragraph 15, in the context of
engagement performance as described in this ISQM, the consistent performance of quality engagements forms part of the
professional accountant’s responsibility to act in the public interest.

The Firm’s System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 6-9)
A3. The firm may use different terminology or frameworks to describe the components of its system of quality management.
A4. Examples of the interconnected nature of the components include the following:

. The firm’s risk assessment process sets out the process the firm is required to follow in implementing a risk-based
approach across the system of quality management.

. The governance and leadership component establishes the environment that supports the system of quality
management.
. The resources and information and communication components enable the design, implementation and operation of

the system of quality management.

. The monitoring and remediation process is a process designed to monitor the entire system of quality management.
The results of the monitoring and remediation process provide information that is relevant to the firm’s risk
assessment process.

. There may be relationships between specific matters, for example, certain aspects of relevant ethical requirements
are relevant to accepting and continuing client relationships and specific engagements.

AS5. Reasonable assurance is obtained when the system of quality management reduces to an acceptably low level the risk that the
objectives stated in paragraph 14(a) and (b) are not achieved. Reasonable assurance is not an absolute level of assurance,
because there are inherent limitations of a system of quality management. Such limitations include that human judgment in
decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns in a firm’s system of quality management may occur, for example, due to
human error or behavior or failures in information technology (IT) applications.

Authority of this ISQM (Ref: Para. 12)

A6. The objective of this ISQM provides the context in which the requirements of this ISQM are set, establishes the desired
outcome of this ISQM and is intended to assist the firm in understanding what needs to be accomplished and, where
necessary, the appropriate means of doing so.

A7. The requirements of this ISQM are expressed using “shall.”

A8. Where necessary, the application and other explanatory material provides further explanation of the requirements and
guidance for carrying them out. In particular, it may:

. Explain more precisely what a requirement means or is intended to cover; and
. Include examples that illustrate how the requirements might be applied.

While such guidance does not in itself impose a requirement, it is relevant to the proper application of the requirements. The
application and other explanatory material may also provide background information on matters addressed in this ISQM.
Where appropriate, additional considerations specific to public sector audit organizations are included within the application
and other explanatory material. These additional considerations assist in the application of the requirements in this ISQM.
They do not, however, limit or reduce the responsibility of the firm to apply and comply with the requirements in this ISQM.

A9. This ISQM includes, under the heading “Definitions,” a description of the meanings attributed to certain terms for purposes
of this ISQM. These definitions are provided to assist in the consistent application and interpretation of this ISQM, and are
not intended to override definitions that may be established for other purposes, whether in law, regulation or otherwise. The

7 The International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence

Standards) (IESBA Code)
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Glossary of Terms relating to International Standards issued by the IAASB in the Handbook of International Quality
Management, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services Pronouncements published by IFAC includes the
terms defined in this ISQM. The Glossary of Terms also includes descriptions of other terms found in the ISQMs to assist in
common and consistent interpretation and translation.

Definitions

Deficiency (Ref: Para. 16(a))

A10.

All.

Al2.

The firm identifies deficiencies through evaluating findings. A deficiency may arise from a finding, or a combination of
findings.

When a deficiency is identified as a result of a quality risk, or combination of quality risks, not being identified or properly
assessed, the response(s) to address such quality risk(s) may also be absent, or not appropriately designed or implemented.

The other aspects of the system of quality management consist of the requirements in this ISQM addressing:

. Assigning responsibilities (paragraphs 20-22);

. The firm’s risk assessment process;

. The monitoring and remediation process; and

. The evaluation of the system of quality management.

Examples of deficiencies related to other aspects of the system of quality management

. The firm’s risk assessment process fails to identify information that indicates changes in the nature and
circumstances of the firm and its engagements and the need to establish additional quality objectives, or modify the
quality risks or responses.

. The firm’s monitoring and remediation process is not designed or implemented in a manner that:

o Provides relevant, reliable and timely information about the design, implementation and operation of the
system of quality management.

o Enables the firm to take appropriate actions to respond to identified deficiencies such that deficiencies are
remediated on a timely basis.

. The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management does
not undertake the annual evaluation of the system of quality management.

Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 16(f))

Al3.

ISA 220 (Revised)® provides guidance in applying the definition of engagement team in the context of an audit of financial
statements.

External Inspections (Ref: Para. 16(g))

Al4.

In some circumstances, an external oversight authority may undertake other types of inspections, for example, thematic
reviews that focus on, for a selection of firms, particular aspects of audit engagements or firm-wide practices.

Findings (Ref: Para. 16(h))

A15. As part of accumulating findings from monitoring activities, external inspections and other relevant sources, the firm may

identify other observations about the firm’s system of quality management, such as positive outcomes or opportunities for the
firm to improve, or further enhance, the system of quality management. Paragraph A158 explains how other observations

8

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs A15-A25
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may be used by the firm in the system of quality management.
A16. Paragraph A148 provides examples of information from other relevant sources.

Al7. Monitoring activities include monitoring at the engagement level, such as inspection of engagements. Furthermore, external
inspections and other relevant sources may include information that relates to specific engagements. As a result, information
about the design, implementation and operation of the system of quality management includes engagement-level findings
that may be indicative of findings in relation to the system of quality management.

Firm (Ref: Para. 16(i))

A18. The definition of “firm” in relevant ethical requirements may differ from the definition set out in this ISQM.

Network (Ref: Para. 16(1), 48)

A19. Networks and the firms within the network may be structured in a variety of ways. For example, in the context of a firm’s
system of quality management:

. The network may establish requirements for the firm related to its system of quality management, or provide
services that are used by the firm in its system of quality management or in the performance of engagements;

. Other firms within the network may provide services (e.g., resources) that are used by the firm in its system of
quality management or in the performance of engagements; or

. Other structures or organizations within the network may establish requirements for the firm related to its system of
quality management, or provide services.

For the purposes of this ISQM, any network requirements or network services that are obtained from the network, another
firm within the network or another structure or organization in the network are considered “network requirements or network
services.”

Personnel (Ref: Para. 16(n))

A20. In addition to personnel (i.e., individuals in the firm), the firm may use individuals external to the firm in performing
activities in the system of quality management or in the performance of engagements. For example, individuals external to
the firm may include individuals from other network firms (e.g., individuals in a service delivery center of a network firm) or
individuals employed by a service provider (e.g., a component auditor from another firm not within the firm’s network).

A21. Personnel also includes partners and staff in other structures of the firm, such as a service delivery center in the firm.

Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 16(t), 29)

A22. The relevant ethical requirements that are applicable in the context of a system of quality management may vary, depending
on the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements. The term “professional accountant” may be defined in
relevant ethical requirements. For example, the IESBA Code defines the term “professional accountant” and further explains
the scope of provisions in the IESBA Code that apply to individual professional accountants in public practice and their
firms.

A23. The IESBA Code addresses circumstances when law or regulation precludes the professional accountant from complying
with certain parts of the IESBA Code. It further acknowledges that some jurisdictions might have provisions in law or
regulation that differ from or go beyond those set out in the IESBA Code and that professional accountants in those
jurisdictions need to be aware of those differences and comply with the more stringent provisions, unless prohibited by law or
regulation.

A24. Various provisions of the relevant ethical requirements may apply only to individuals in the context of the performance of
engagements and not the firm itself. For example:
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. Part 2 of the IESBA Code applies to individuals who are professional accountants in public practice when they are
performing professional activities pursuant to their relationship with the firm, whether as a contractor, employee or
owner, and may be relevant in the context of the performance of engagements.

. Certain requirements in Parts 3 and 4 of the IESBA Code also apply to individuals who are professional accountants
in public practice when they are performing professional activities for clients.

Compliance with such relevant ethical requirements by individuals may need to be addressed by the firm’s system of quality
management.

Example of relevant ethical requirements that are applicable only to individuals and not the firm, and which relate to the
performance of engagements

Part 2 of the IESBA Code addresses pressure to breach the fundamental principles, and includes requirements that an
individual shall not:

. Allow pressure from others to result in a breach of compliance with the fundamental principles; or

. Place pressure on others that the accountant knows, or has reason to believe, would result in the other individuals
breaching the fundamental principles.

For example, circumstances may arise when, in performing an engagement, an individual considers that the engagement
partner or another senior member of the engagement team has pressured them to breach the fundamental principles.

Response (Ref: Para. 16(u))

A25. Policies are implemented through the actions of personnel and other individuals whose actions are subject to the policies
(including engagement teams), or through their restraint from taking actions that would conflict with the firm’s policies.

A26. Procedures may be mandated, through formal documentation or other communications, or may result from behaviors that are
not mandated but are rather conditioned by the firm’s culture. Procedures may be enforced through the actions permitted by
IT applications, or other aspects of the firm’s IT environment.

A27. If the firm uses individuals external to the firm in the system of quality management or in the performance of engagements,
different policies or procedures may need to be designed by the firm to address the actions of the individuals. ISA 220
(Revised)’ provides guidance when different policies or procedures may need to be designed by the firm to address the
actions of individuals external to the firm in the context of an audit of financial statements.

Service Provider (Ref: Para. 16(v))

A28. Service providers include component auditors from other firms not within the firm’s network.

Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements (Ref: Para. 17)

A29. Examples of when a requirement of this ISOM may not be relevant to the firm

. The firm is a sole practitioner. For example, the requirements addressing the organizational structure and assigning
roles, responsibilities and authority within the firm, direction, supervision and review and addressing differences of
opinion may not be relevant.

. The firm only performs engagements that are related services engagements. For example, if the firm is not required
to maintain independence for related services engagements, the requirement to obtain a documented confirmation
of compliance with independence requirements from all personnel would not be relevant.

System of Quality Management

° ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs A23—-A25
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Design, Implement and Operate a System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 19)

A30.

A31.

Quality management is not a separate function of the firm; it is the integration of a culture that demonstrates a commitment to
quality with the firm’s strategy, operational activities and business processes. As a result, designing the system of quality
management and the firm’s operational activities and business processes in an integrated manner may promote a harmonious
approach to managing the firm, and enhance the effectiveness of quality management.

The quality of professional judgments exercised by the firm is likely to be enhanced when individuals making such
judgments demonstrate an attitude that includes an inquiring mind, which involves:

. Considering the source, relevance and sufficiency of information obtained about the system of quality management,
including information related to the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements; and

. Being open and alert to a need for further investigation or other action.

Responsibilities (Ref: Para. 20-21, 28(d))

A32.

A33.

A34.

A35S.

A36.

ISQM 1

The governance and leadership component includes a quality objective that the firm has an organizational structure and
assignment of roles, responsibilities and authority that is appropriate to enable the design, implementation and operation of
the firm’s system of quality management.

Notwithstanding the assignment of responsibilities related to the system of quality management in accordance with
paragraph 20, the firm remains ultimately responsible for the system of quality management and holding individuals
responsible and accountable for their assigned roles. For example, in accordance with paragraphs 53 and 54, although the
firm assigns the evaluation of the system of quality management and conclusion thereon to the individual(s) assigned
ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management, the firm is responsible for the evaluation
and conclusion.

An individual(s) assigned responsibility for the matters in paragraph 20 is typically a partner of the firm so that they have
appropriate influence and authority within the firm, as required by paragraph 21. However, based on the legal structure of the
firm, there may be circumstances when an individual(s) may not be a partner of the firm but the individual(s) has the
appropriate influence and authority within the firm to perform their assigned role because of formal arrangements made by
the firm or the firm’s network.

How the firm assigns roles, responsibilities and authority within the firm may vary and law or regulation may impose certain
requirements for the firm that affect the leadership and management structure or their assigned responsibilities. An
individual(s) assigned responsibility for a matter(s) in paragraph 20 may further assign roles, procedures, tasks or actions to
other individuals to assist them in fulfilling their responsibilities. However, an individual(s) assigned responsibility for a
matter(s) in paragraph 20 remains responsible and accountable for the responsibilities assigned to them.

Scalability example to demonstrate how assigning roles and responsibilities may be undertaken

. In a less complex firm, ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management may be
assigned to a single managing partner with sole responsibility for the oversight of the firm. This individual may
also assume responsibility for all aspects of the system of quality management, including operational responsibility
for the system of quality management, compliance with independence requirements and the monitoring and
remediation process.

. In a more complex firm, there may be multiple levels of leadership that reflect the organizational structure of the
firm, and the firm may have an independent governing body that has non-executive oversight of the firm, which
may comprise external individuals. Furthermore, the firm may assign operational responsibility for specific
aspects of the system of quality management beyond those specified in paragraph 20(c), such as operational
responsibility for compliance with ethical requirements or operational responsibility for managing a service line.

Compliance with independence requirements is essential to the performance of audits, or reviews of financial statements, or
other assurance engagements, and is an expectation of stakeholders relying on the firm’s reports. The individual(s) assigned
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operational responsibility for compliance with independence requirements is ordinarily responsible for the oversight of all
matters related to independence so that a robust and consistent approach is designed and implemented by the firm to deal with
independence requirements.

Law, regulation or professional standards may establish additional requirements for an individual assigned responsibility for
a matter(s) in paragraph 20, such as requirements for professional licensing, professional education or continuing
professional development.

The appropriate experience and knowledge for the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the system of quality
management ordinarily includes an understanding of the firm’s strategic decisions and actions and experience with the firm’s
business operations.

The Firm’s Risk Assessment Process (Ref: Para. 23)

A39.

A40.

A41.

How the firm designs the firm’s risk assessment process may be affected by the nature and circumstances of the firm,
including how the firm is structured and organized.

Scalability examples to demonstrate how the firm’s risk assessment process may differ

° In a less complex firm, the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the system of quality management
may have a sufficient understanding of the firm and its engagements to undertake the risk assessment process.
Furthermore, the documentation of the quality objectives, quality risks and responses may be less extensive than
for a more complex firm (e.g., it may be documented in a single document).

° In a more complex firm, there may be a formal risk assessment process, involving multiple individuals and
numerous activities. The process may be centralized (e.g., the quality objectives, quality risks and responses are
established centrally for all business units, functions and service lines) or decentralized (e.g., the quality objectives,
quality risks and responses are established at a business unit, function or service line level, with the outputs
combined at the firm level). The firm’s network may also provide the firm with quality objectives, quality risks and
responses to be included in the firm’s system of quality management.

The process of establishing quality objectives, identifying and assessing quality risks and designing and implementing
responses is iterative, and the requirements of this ISQM are not intended to be addressed in a linear manner. For example:

. In identifying and assessing quality risks, the firm may determine that an additional quality objective(s) needs to be
established.

. When designing and implementing responses, the firm may determine that a quality risk was not identified and
assessed.

Information sources that enable the firm to establish quality objectives, identify and assess quality risks and design and
implement responses form part of the firm’s information and communication component and include:

. The results of the firm’s monitoring and remediation process (see paragraphs 42 and A171).
. Information from the network or service providers, including:
o Information about network requirements or network services (see paragraph 48); and

o Other information from the network, including information about the results of monitoring activities
undertaken by the network across the network firms (see paragraphs 50-51).

Other information, both internal or external, may also be relevant to the firm’s risk assessment process, such as:

. Information regarding complaints and allegations about failures to perform work in accordance with professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, or non-compliance with the firm’s policies or
procedures established in accordance with this ISQM.

. The results of external inspections.

. Information from regulators about the entities for whom the firm performs engagements which is made available to
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the firm, such as information from a securities regulator about an entity for whom the firm performs engagements
(e.g., irregularities in the entity’s financial statements or non-compliance with securities regulation).

° Changes in the system of quality management that affect other aspects of the system, for example, changes in the
firm’s resources.

. Other external sources, such as regulatory actions and litigation against the firm or other firms in the jurisdiction that
may highlight areas for the firm to consider.

Establish Quality Objectives (Ref: Para. 24)

A42.

A43.

Ad4,

Law, regulation or professional standards may establish requirements that give rise to additional quality objectives. For
example, a firm may be required by law or regulation to appoint non-executive individuals to the firm’s governance structure
and the firm considers it necessary to establish additional quality objectives to address the requirements.

The nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements may be such that the firm may not find it necessary to establish
additional quality objectives.

The firm may establish sub-objectives to enhance the firm’s identification and assessment of quality risks, and design and
implementation of responses.

Identify and Assess Quality Risks (Ref: Para. 25)

A45.

A46.

ISQM 1

There may be other conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions not described in paragraph 25(a) that may
adversely affect the achievement of a quality objective.

A risk arises from how, and the degree to which, a condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction may adversely affect the
achievement of a quality objective. Not all risks meet the definition of a quality risk. Professional judgment assists the firm in
determining whether a risk is a quality risk, which is based on the firm’s consideration of whether there is a reasonable
possibility of the risk occurring, and individually, or in combination with other risks, adversely affecting the achievement of
one or more quality objectives.

Examples of the firm’s understanding of | Examples of quality risks that may arise
the conditions, events, circumstances,
actions or inactions that may adversely
affect the achievement of the quality
objectives

e  The strategic and operational In the context of governance and leadership, this may give rise to a number of
decisions and actions, business | quality risks such as:
processes and business model of
the firm: The firm’s overall
financial goals are overly
dependent on the extent of
services provided by the firmnot | e  Decisions about financial and operational priorities do not fully or
within the scope of this ISQM. adequately consider the importance of quality in the performance of

engagements within the scope of this ISQM.

e Resources are allocated or assigned in a manner that prioritizes the
services not within the scope of this ISQM and may negatively affect the
quality of engagements within the scope of this ISQM.

e  The characteristics and In the context of governance and leadership, this may give rise to a number of
management style of leadership: | quality risks such as:
The firm is a smaller firm with a

few engagement partners with e Leadership’s responsibilities and accountability for quality are not clearly

defined and assigned.

shared authority.
e The actions and behaviors of leadership that do not promote quality are
not questioned.
e  The complexity and operating In the context of resources, this may give rise to a number of quality risks

characteristics of the firm: The | including:
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firm has recently completed a e  Technological resources used by the two merged firms may be
merger with another firm. incompatible.

e  Engagement teams may use intellectual resources developed by a firm
prior to the merger, which are no longer consistent with the new
methodology being used by the new merged firm.

A47. Given the evolving nature of the system of quality management, the responses designed and implemented by the firm may

give rise to conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions that result in further quality risks. For example, the firm
may implement a resource (e.g., a technological resource) to address a quality risk, and quality risks may arise from the use of
such resource.

A48. The degree to which a risk, individually, or in combination with other risks may adversely affect the achievement of a quality

objective(s) may vary based on the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions giving rise to the risk, taking into
account, for example:

. How the condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction would affect the achievement of the quality objective.
. How frequently the condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction is expected to occur.
. How long it would take after the condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction occurred for it to have an effect,

and whether in that time the firm would have an opportunity to respond to mitigate the effect of the condition, event,
circumstance, action or inaction.

. How long the condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction would affect the achievement of the quality
objective once it has occurred.

The assessment of quality risks need not comprise formal ratings or scores, although firms are not precluded from using
them.

Design and Implement Responses to Address the Quality Risks (Ref: Para. 16(u), 26)

A49. The nature, timing and extent of the responses are based on the reasons for the assessment given to the quality risks, which is

the considered occurrence and effect on the achievement of one or more quality objectives.

AS50. The responses designed and implemented by the firm may operate at the firm level or engagement level, or there may be a

combination of responsibilities for actions to be taken at the firm and engagement level.

Example of a response designed and implemented by the firm that operates at both the firm and engagement level

The firm establishes policies or procedures for consultation which include with whom consultation should be undertaken
by engagement teams and the specific matters for which consultation is required. The firm appoints suitably qualified and
experienced individuals to provide the consultations. The engagement team is responsible for identifying when matters for
consultation occur and initiating consultation, and implementing the conclusions from consultation. '

AS51. The need for formally documented policies or procedures may be greater for firms that have many personnel or that are

geographically dispersed, in order to achieve consistency across the firm.

Changes in the Nature and Circumstances of the Firm or its Engagements (Ref: Para. 27)

AS52. Scalability example to demonstrate how policies or procedures for identifying information about changes in the nature
and circumstances of the firm and its engagements may vary

. In a less complex firm, the firm may have informal policies or procedures to identify information about changes
in the nature and circumstances of the firm or its engagements, particularly when the individual(s) responsible for
establishing quality objectives, identifying and assessing quality risks and designing and implementing responses
is able to identify such information in the normal course of their activities.

10

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs 35
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° In a more complex firm, the firm may need to establish more formal policies or procedures to identify and
consider information about changes in the nature and circumstances of the firm or its engagements. This may
include, for example, a periodic review of information relating to the nature and circumstances of the firm and its
engagements, including ongoing tracking of trends and occurrences in the firm’s internal and external
environment.

AS53. Additional quality objectives may need to be established, or quality risks and responses added to or modified, as part of the
remedial actions undertaken by the firm to address an identified deficiency in accordance with paragraph 42.

A54. The firm may have established quality objectives in addition to those specified by this ISQM. The firm may also identify
information that indicates that additional quality objectives already established by the firm are no longer needed, or need to
be modified.

Governance and Leadership
Commitment to Quality (Ref: Para. 28(a))

ASS5. The firm’s culture is an important factor in influencing the behavior of personnel. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily
establish the principles of professional ethics, and are further addressed in the relevant ethical requirements component of
this ISQM. Professional values and attitudes may include:

. Professional manner, for example, timeliness, courteousness, respect, accountability, responsiveness, and
dependability.

. A commitment to teamwork.

. Maintaining an open mind to new ideas or different perspectives in the professional environment.

. Pursuit of excellence.

. A commitment to continual improvement (e.g., setting expectations beyond the minimum requirements and placing

a focus on continual learning).
. Social responsibility.

AS56. The firm’s strategic decision-making process, including the establishment of a business strategy, may include matters such as
the firm’s decisions about financial and operational matters, the firm’s financial goals, how financial resources are managed,
growth of the firm’s market share, industry specialization or new service offerings. The firm’s financial and operational

priorities may directly or indirectly affect the firm’s commitment to quality, for example, the firm may have incentives that
are focused on financial and operational priorities that may discourage behaviors that demonstrate a commitment to quality.

Leadership (Ref: Para. 28(b) and 28(c))

AS57. The responses designed and implemented by the firm to hold leadership responsible and accountable for quality include the
performance evaluations required by paragraph 56.

AS58. Although leadership establishes the tone at the top through their actions and behaviors, clear, consistent and frequent actions
and communications at all levels within the firm collectively contribute to the firm’s culture and demonstrates a commitment
to quality.

Organizational Structure (Ref: Para. 28(d))

A59. The organizational structure of the firm may include operating units, operational processes, divisions or geographical
locations and other structures. In some instances, the firm may concentrate or centralize processes or activities in a service
delivery center, and engagement teams may include personnel from the firm’s service delivery center who perform specific
tasks that are repetitive or specialized in nature.

Resources (Ref: Para. 28(e))
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The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability or operational responsibility for the system of quality
management is in most cases able to influence the nature and extent of resources that the firm obtains, develops, uses and
maintains, and how those resources are allocated or assigned, including the timing of when they are used.

As resource needs may change over time it may not be practicable to anticipate all resource needs. The firm’s resource
planning may involve determining the resources currently required, forecasting the firm’s future resource needs, and
establishing processes to deal with unanticipated resource needs when they arise.

Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 16(t), 29)

A62.

A63.

A64.

A6S.

The IESBA Code sets out the fundamental principles of ethics that establish the standards of behavior expected of a
professional accountant and establishes the International Independence Standards. The fundamental principles are integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behavior. The IESBA Code also specifies
the approach that a professional accountant is required to apply to comply with the fundamental principles and, when
applicable, the International Independence Standards. In addition, the IESBA Code addresses specific topics relevant to
complying with the fundamental principles. Law or regulation in a jurisdiction may also contain provisions addressing
ethical requirements, including independence, such as privacy laws affecting the confidentiality of information.

In some cases, the matters addressed by the firm in its system of quality management may be more specific than, or additional
to, the provisions of relevant ethical requirements.

Examples of matters that a firm may include in its system of quality management that are more specific than, or additional
to, the provisions of relevant ethical requirements

. The firm prohibits the acceptance of gifts and hospitality from a client, even if the value is trivial and
inconsequential.
. The firm sets rotation periods for all engagement partners, including those performing other assurance or related

services engagements, and extends the rotation periods to all senior engagement team members.

Other components may affect or relate to the relevant ethical requirements component.

Examples of relationships between the relevant ethical requirements component and other components

° The information and communication component may address the communication of various matters related to
relevant ethical requirements, including:

o The firm communicating the independence requirements to all personnel and others subject to independence
requirements.
o Personnel and engagement teams communicating relevant information to the firm without fear of reprisals,

such as situations that may create threats to independence, or breaches of relevant ethical requirements.
° As part of the resources component, the firm may:

o Assign individuals to manage and monitor compliance with relevant ethical requirements or to provide
consultation on matters related to relevant ethical requirements.

o Use IT applications to monitor compliance with relevant ethical requirements, including recording and
maintaining information about independence.

The relevant ethical requirements that apply to others depend on the provisions of the relevant ethical requirements and how
the firm uses others in its system of quality management, or in the performance of engagements.

Examples of relevant ethical requirements that apply to others

. Relevant ethical requirements may include requirements for independence that apply to network firms or
employees of network firms, for example, the IESBA Code includes independence requirements that apply to
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network firms.

° Relevant ethical requirements may include a definition of engagement team or other similar concept, and the
definition may include any individual who performs assurance procedures on the engagement (e.g., a component
auditor or a service provider engaged to attend a physical inventory count at a remote location). Accordingly, any
requirements of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the engagement team as defined in the relevant
ethical requirements, or other similar concept, may also be relevant to such individuals.

. The principle of confidentiality may apply to the firm’s network, other network firms or service providers, when
they have access to client information obtained by the firm.

Public Sector Considerations

A66. In achieving the quality objectives in this ISQM related to independence, public sector auditors may address independence in
the context of the public sector mandate and statutory measures.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Specific Engagements
The Nature and Circumstances of the Engagement and the Integrity and Ethical Values of the Client (Ref: Para. 30(a)(i))
A67. The information obtained about the nature and circumstances of the engagement may include:

. The industry of the entity for which the engagement is being undertaken and relevant regulatory factors;

. The nature of the entity, for example, its operations, organizational structure, ownership and governance, its
business model and how it is financed; and

. The nature of the underlying subject matter and the applicable criteria, for example, in the case of integrated
reporting:

The underlying subject matter may include social, environmental or health and safety information; and
The applicable criteria may be performance measures established by a recognized body of experts.

A68. The information obtained to support the firm’s judgments about the integrity and ethical values of the client may include the
identity and business reputation of the client’s principal owners, key management, and those charged with its governance.

Examples of factors that may affect the nature and extent of information obtained about the integrity and ethical values of

the client

. The nature of the entity for which the engagement is being performed, including the complexity of its ownership
and management structure.

. The nature of the client’s operations, including its business practices.

. Information concerning the attitude of the client’s principal owners, key management and those charged with its
governance towards such matters as aggressive interpretation of accounting standards and the internal control
environment.

. Whether the client is aggressively concerned with maintaining the firm’s fees as low as possible.

. Indications of a client-imposed limitation in the scope of work.

. Indications that the client might be involved in money laundering or other criminal activities.

. The reasons for the proposed appointment of the firm and non-reappointment of the previous firm.

. The identity and business reputation of related parties.

A69. The firm may obtain the information from a variety of internal and external sources, including:

. In the case of an existing client, information from current or previous engagements, if applicable, or inquiry of other
personnel who have performed other engagements for the client.
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° In the case of a new client, inquiry of existing or previous providers of professional accountancy services to the
client, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements.

° Discussions with other third parties, such as bankers, legal counsel and industry peers.

. Background searches of relevant databases (which may be intellectual resources). In some cases, the firm may use a
service provider to perform the background search.

Information that is obtained during the firm’s acceptance and continuance process may often also be relevant to the
engagement team when planning and performing the engagement. Professional standards may specifically require the
engagement team to obtain or consider such information. For example, ISA 220 (Revised)!! requires the engagement partner
to take into account information obtained in the acceptance and continuance process in planning and performing the audit
engagement.

Professional standards or applicable legal and regulatory requirements may include specific provisions that need to be
addressed before accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific engagement and may also require the firm to make
inquiries of an existing or predecessor firm when accepting an engagement. For example, when there has been a change of
auditors, ISA 300'? requires the auditor, prior to starting an initial audit, to communicate with the predecessor auditor in
compliance with relevant ethical requirements. The IESBA Code also includes requirements for the consideration of
conflicts of interests in accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific engagement and communication with the
existing or predecessor firm when accepting an engagement that is an audit or review of financial statements.

The Firm’s Ability to Perform the Engagement (Ref: Para. 30(a)(ii))

AT2.

The firm’s ability to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements may be affected by:

. The availability of appropriate resources to perform the engagement;

. Having access to information to perform the engagement, or to the persons who provide such information; and

. Whether the firm and the engagement team are able to fulfill their responsibilities in relation to the relevant ethical
requirements.

Examples of factors the firm may consider in determining whether appropriate resources are available to perform the
engagement

. The circumstances of the engagement and the reporting deadline.

. The availability of individuals with the appropriate competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to
perform the engagement. This includes having:

o Individuals to take overall responsibility for directing and supervising the engagement;

o Individuals with knowledge of the relevant industry or the underlying subject matter or criteria to be
applied in the preparation of the subject matter information and experience with relevant regulatory or
reporting requirements; and

o Individuals to perform audit procedures on the financial information of a component for purposes of an
audit of group financial statements.

° The availability of experts, if needed.

° If an engagement quality review is needed, whether there is an individual available who meets the eligibility
requirements in ISQM 2.

° The need for technological resources, for example, IT applications that enable the engagement team to perform
procedures on the entity’s data.

11

12

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 23
ISA 300, Planning an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 12(b)
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° The need for intellectual resources, for example, a methodology, industry or subject matter-specific guides, or
access to information sources.

The Firm’s Financial and Operational Priorities (Ref: Para. 30(b))

A73.

AT74.

Financial priorities may focus on the profitability of the firm, and fees obtained for the performance of engagements have an
effect on the firm’s financial resources. Operational priorities may include strategic focus areas, such as growth of the firm’s
market share, industry specialization or new service offerings. There may be circumstances when the firm is satisfied with
the fee quoted for an engagement but it is not appropriate for the firm to accept or continue the engagement or client
relationship (e.g., when the client lacks integrity and ethical values).

There may be other circumstances when the fee quoted for an engagement is not sufficient given the nature and
circumstances of the engagement, and it may diminish the firm’s ability to perform the engagement in accordance with
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The IESBA Code addresses fees and other types of
remuneration, including circumstances that may create a threat to compliance with the fundamental principle of professional
competence and due care if the fee quoted for an engagement is too low.

Engagement Performance

Responsibilities of the Engagement Team and Direction, Supervision and Review (Ref: Para. 31(a) and 31(b))

ATS.

Professional standards or applicable legal and regulatory requirements may include specific provisions regarding the overall
responsibility of the engagement partner. For example, ISA 220 (Revised) deals with the overall responsibility of the
engagement partner for managing and achieving quality on the engagement and for being sufficiently and appropriately
involved throughout the engagement, including having responsibility for appropriate direction and supervision of the
engagement team and review of their work.

AT6.

Examples of direction, supervision and review
e  Direction and supervision of the engagement team may include:
o Tracking the progress of the engagement;
o Considering the following with respect to members of the engagement team:
e  Whether they understand their instructions; and
e  Whether the work is being carried out in accordance with the planned approach to the engagement;

o Addressing matters arising during the engagement, considering their significance and modifying the planned
approach appropriately; and

o Identifying matters for consultation or consideration by more experienced engagement team members during
the engagement.

e  Areview of work performed may include considering whether:

o The work has been performed in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures, professional standards
and applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

o Significant matters have been raised for further consideration;

o Appropriate consultations have been undertaken and the resulting conclusions have been documented and
implemented;

o There is a need to revise the nature, timing and extent of planned work;

o The work performed supports the conclusions reached and is appropriately documented;

o The evidence obtained for an assurance engagement is sufficient and appropriate to support the report; and
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o The objectives of the engagement procedures have been achieved.

A77. Insome circumstances, the firm may use personnel from a service delivery center in the firm or individuals from a service
delivery center in another network firm to perform procedures on the engagement (i.e., the personnel or other individuals are
included in the engagement team). In such circumstances, the firm’s policies or procedures may specifically address the
direction and supervision of the individuals and review of their work, such as:

. What aspects of the engagement may be assigned to individuals in the service delivery center;

. How the engagement partner, or their designee, is expected to direct, supervise and review the work undertaken by
individuals in the service delivery center; and

. The protocols for communication between the engagement team and individuals in the service delivery center.

Professional Judgment and Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 31(c))

A78. Professional skepticism supports the quality of judgments made on an assurance engagement and, through these judgments,
the overall effectiveness of the engagement team in performing the assurance engagement. Other pronouncements of the
TAASB may address the exercise of professional judgment or professional skepticism at the engagement level. For example,
ISA 220 (Revised)'® provides examples of impediments to the exercise of professional skepticism at the engagement level,
unconscious auditor biases that may impede the exercise of professional skepticism, and possible actions that the engagement
team may take to mitigate such impediments.

Consultation (Ref: Para. 31(d))

A79. Consultation typically involves a discussion at the appropriate professional level, with individuals within or outside the firm
who have specialized expertise, on difficult or contentious matters. An environment that reinforces the importance and
benefit of consultation and encourages engagement teams to consult may contribute to supporting a culture that demonstrates
a commitment to quality.

A80. Difficult or contentious matters on which consultation is needed may either be specified by the firm, or the engagement team
may identify matters that require consultation. The firm may also specify how conclusions are to be agreed and implemented.

A81. ISA 220 (Revised)' includes requirements for the engagement partner related to consultation.

Differences of Opinion (Ref: Para. 31(e))

A82. The firm may encourage that differences of opinion are identified at an early stage, and may specify the steps to be taken in
raising and dealing with them, including how the matter is to be resolved and how the related conclusions should be
implemented and documented. In some circumstances, resolving differences of opinion may be achieved through consulting
with another practitioner or firm, or a professional or regulatory body.

Engagement Documentation (Ref: Para. 31(f))

A83. Law, regulation or professional standards may prescribe the time limits by which the assembly of final engagement files for
specific types of engagements are to be completed. Where no such time limits are prescribed in law or regulation, the time
limit may be determined by the firm. In the case of engagements conducted under the ISAs or ISAEs, an appropriate time
limit within which to complete the assembly of the final engagement file is ordinarily not more than 60 days after the date of
the engagement report.

A84. The retention and maintenance of engagement documentation may include managing the safe custody, integrity, accessibility

13 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs A34-A36
4 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 35
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or retrievability of the underlying data and the related technology. The retention and maintenance of engagement
documentation may involve the use of IT applications. The integrity of engagement documentation may be compromised if it
is altered, supplemented or deleted without authorization to do so, or if it is permanently lost or damaged.

Law, regulation or professional standards may prescribe the retention periods for engagement documentation. If the retention
periods are not prescribed, the firm may consider the nature of the engagements performed by the firm and the firm’s
circumstances, including whether the engagement documentation is needed to provide a record of matters of continuing
significance to future engagements. In the case of engagements conducted under the ISAs or ISAEs, the retention period is
ordinarily no shorter than five years from the date of the engagement report, or, if later, the date of the auditor’s report on the
group financial statements, when applicable.

Resources (Ref: Para. 32)

A86.

A87.

Resources for the purposes of the resources component include:

. Human resources.
° Technological resources, for example, IT applications.
. Intellectual resources, for example, written policies or procedures, a methodology or guides.

Financial resources are also relevant to the system of quality management because they are necessary for obtaining,
developing and maintaining the firm’s human resources, technological resources and intellectual resources. Given that the
management and allocation of financial resources is strongly influenced by leadership, the quality objectives in governance
and leadership, such as those that address financial and operational priorities, address financial resources.

Resources may be internal to the firm, or may be obtained externally from the firm’s network, another network firm or
service provider. Resources may be used in performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management, or in the
performance of engagements as part of operating the system of quality management. In circumstances when a resource is
obtained from the firm’s network or another network firm, paragraphs 48-52 form part of the responses designed and
implemented by the firm in achieving the objectives in this component.

Human Resources

Hiring, Developing and Retaining Personnel and Personnel Competence and Capabilities (Ref: Para. 32(a), 32(d))

A8S.

A89.

Competence is the ability of the individual to perform a role and goes beyond knowledge of principles, standards, concepts,
facts, and procedures; it is the integration and application of technical competence, professional skills, and professional
ethics, values and attitudes. Competence can be developed through a variety of methods, including professional education,
continuing professional development, training, work experience or coaching of less experienced engagement team members
by more experienced engagement team members.

Law, regulation or professional standards may establish requirements addressing competence and capabilities, such as
requirements for the professional licensing of engagement partners, including requirements regarding their professional
education and continuing professional development.

A90.

Examples of policies or procedures relating to hiring, developing and -retaining personnel

The policies or procedures designed and implemented by the firm relating to hiring, developing and retaining personnel
may address:

. Recruiting individuals who have, or are able to develop, appropriate competence.
. Training programs focused on developing the competence of personnel and continuing professional development.

. Evaluation mechanisms that are undertaken at appropriate intervals and include competency areas and other
performance measures.

. Compensation, promotion and other incentives, for all personnel, including engagement partners and individuals
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assigned roles and responsibilities related to the firm’s system of quality management.

Personnel’s Commitment to Quality and Accountability and Recognition for Commitment to Quality (Ref: Para. 32(b))

A91. Timely evaluations and feedback help support and promote the continual development of the competence of personnel. Less
formal methods of evaluation and feedback may be used, such as in the case of firms with fewer personnel.

A92. Positive actions or behaviors demonstrated by personnel may be recognized through various means, such as through
compensation, promotion, or other incentives. In some circumstances, simple or informal incentives that are not based on
monetary rewards may be appropriate.

A93. The manner in which the firm holds personnel accountable for actions or behaviors that negatively affect quality, such as
failing to demonstrate a commitment to quality, develop and maintain the competence to perform their role or implement the
firm’s responses as designed, may depend on the nature of the action or behavior, including its severity and frequency of
occurrence. Actions the firm may take when personnel demonstrate actions or behaviors that negatively affect quality may

include:

. Training or other professional development.

. Considering the effect of the matter on the evaluation, compensation, promotion or other incentives of those
involved.

. Disciplinary action, if appropriate.

Individuals Obtained from External Sources (Ref: Para. 32(c))

A94. Professional standards may include responsibilities for the engagement partner regarding the appropriateness of resources.
For example, ISA 220 (Revised)'® addresses the responsibility of the engagement partner for determining that sufficient and
appropriate resources to perform the engagement are assigned or made available to the engagement team in a timely manner
in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures.

Engagement Team Members Assigned to Each Engagement (Ref: Para. 32(d))

A95. Engagement team members may be assigned to engagements by:
. The firm, including assigning personnel from a service delivery center in the firm.

. The firm’s network or another network firm when the firm uses individuals from the firm’s network or another
network firm to perform procedures on the engagement (e.g., a component auditor or a service delivery center of the
network or another network firm).

. A service provider when the firm uses individuals from a service provider to perform procedures on the engagement
(e.g., a component auditor from a firm that is not within the firm’s network).

A96. ISA 220 (Revised)'® addresses the responsibility of the engagement partner to determine that members of the engagement
team, and any auditor’s external experts and internal auditors who provide direct assistance who are not part of the
engagement team, collectively have the appropriate competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform the
engagement. ISA 600'7 expands on how ISA 220 (Revised) is to be applied in relation to an audit of group financial
statements. The responses designed and implemented by the firm to address the competence and capabilities of engagement
team members assigned to the engagement may include policies or procedures that address:

. Information that may be obtained by the engagement partner and factors to consider in determining that the

engagement team members assigned to the engagement, including those assigned by the firm’s network, another
network firm or service provider, have the competence and capabilities to perform the engagement.

. How concerns about the competence and capabilities of engagement team members, in particular those assigned by

15 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 25
16 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 26

17" ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors), paragraph 19
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the firm’s network, another network firm or service provider, may be resolved.

A97. The requirements in paragraphs 48—52 are also applicable when using individuals from the firm’s network or another
network firm on an engagement, including component auditors (see, for example, paragraph A179).

Technological Resources (Ref: Para. 32(f))

A98. Technological resources, which are typically IT applications, form part of the firm’s IT environment. The firm’s IT
environment also includes the supporting IT infrastructure and the IT processes and human resources involved in those
processes:

A99.

An IT application is a program or a set of programs that is designed to perform a specific function directly for the
user or, in some cases, for another application program.

The IT infrastructure is comprised of the IT network, operating systems, and databases and their related hardware
and software.

The IT processes are the firm’s processes to manage access to the IT environment, manage program changes or
changes to the IT environment and manage IT operations, which includes monitoring the IT environment.

A technological resource may serve multiple purposes within the firm and some of the purposes may be unrelated to the
system of quality management. Technological resources that are relevant for the purposes of this ISQM are:

Technological resources that are directly used in designing, implementing or operating the firm’s system of quality
management;

Technological resources that are used directly by engagement teams in the performance of engagements; and

Technological resources that are essential to enabling the effective operation of the above, such as, in relation to an
IT application, the IT infrastructure and IT processes supporting the IT application.

differ

Scalability examples to demonstrate how the technological resources that are relevant for the purposes of this ISOM may

o The IT processes that support the operation of these IT applications, including the individuals responsible for

In a less complex firm, the technological resources may comprise a commercial IT application used by engagement
teams, which has been purchased from a service provider. The IT processes that support the operation of the IT
application may also be relevant, although they may be simple (e.g., processes for authorizing access to the IT
application and processing updates to the IT application).

In a more complex firm, the technological resources may be more complex and may comprise:

o Multiple IT applications, including custom developed applications or applications developed by the firm’s
network, such as:

e IT applications used by engagement teams (e.g., engagement software and automated audit tools).

e IT applications developed and used by the firm to manage aspects of the system of quality management
(e.g., IT applications to monitor independence or assign personnel to engagements).

managing the IT infrastructure and IT processes and the firm’s processes for managing program changes to the
IT applications.

A100. The firm may consider the following matters in obtaining, developing, implementing and maintaining an IT application:

ISQM 1

The data inputs are complete and appropriate;

Confidentiality of the data is preserved;

The IT application operates as designed and achieves the purpose for which it is intended;

The outputs of the IT application achieve the purpose for which they will be used,

The general IT controls necessary to support the IT application’s continued operation as designed are appropriate;

The need for specialized skills to utilize the IT application effectively, including the training of individuals who will
use the IT application; and
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° The need to develop procedures that set out how the IT application operates.

A101. The firm may specifically prohibit the use of IT applications or features of IT applications until such time that it has been
determined that they operate appropriately and have been approved for use by the firm. Alternatively, the firm may establish
policies or procedures to address circumstances when the engagement team uses an IT application that is not approved by the
firm. Such policies or procedures may require the engagement team to determine that the IT application is appropriate for use
prior to using it on the engagement, through considering the matters in paragraph A100. ISA 220 (Revised)'® addresses the
engagement partner’s responsibilities for engagement resources.

Intellectual Resources (Ref: Para. 32(g))

A102. Intellectual resources include the information the firm uses to enable the operation of the system of quality management and
promote consistency in the performance of engagements.

Examples of intellectual resources

Written policies or procedures, a methodology, industry or subject matter-specific guides, accounting guides, standardized
documentation or access to information sources (e.g., subscriptions to websites that provide in-depth information about
entities or other information that is typically used in the performance of engagements).

A103. Intellectual resources may be made available through technological resources, for example, the firm’s methodology may be
embedded in the IT application that facilitates the planning and performance of the engagement.

Use of Technological and Intellectual Resources (Ref: Para. 32(f)-32(g))

A104. The firm may establish policies or procedures regarding the use of the firm’s technological and intellectual resources. Such
policies or procedures may:

. Require the use of certain IT applications or intellectual resources in the performance of engagements, or relating to
other aspects of the engagement, such as in archiving the engagement file.

. Specify the qualifications or experience that individuals need to use the resource, including the need for an expert or
training, for example, the firm may specify the qualifications or expertise needed to use an IT application that
analyzes data, given that specialized skills may be needed to interpret the results.

. Specify the responsibilities of the engagement partner regarding the use of technological and intellectual resources.

. Set out how the technological or intellectual resources are to be used, including how individuals should interact with
an IT application or how the intellectual resource should be applied, and the availability of support or assistance in
using the technological or intellectual resource.

Service Providers (Ref: Para. 16(v), 32(h))
A105. In some circumstances, the firm may use resources that are provided by a service provider, particularly in circumstances

when the firm does not have access to the appropriate resources internally. Notwithstanding that a firm may use resources
from a service provider, the firm remains responsible for its system of quality management.

Examples of resources from a service provider

. Individuals engaged to perform the firm’s monitoring activities or engagement quality reviews, or to provide
consultation on technical matters.

° A commercial IT application used to perform audit engagements.

. Individuals performing procedures on the firm’s engagements, for example, component auditors from other firms
not within the firm’s network or individuals engaged to attend a physical inventory count at a remote location.

° An auditor’s external expert used by the firm to assist the engagement team in obtaining audit evidence.

18 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs 25-28

64 ISQM 1



A106.

A107.

A108.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

In identifying and assessing quality risks, the firm is required to obtain an understanding of the conditions, events,
circumstances, actions or inactions that may adversely affect the achievement of the quality objectives, which includes
conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions relating to service providers. In doing so, the firm may consider the
nature of the resources provided by service providers, how and the extent to which they will be used by the firm, and the
general characteristics of the service providers used by the firm (e.g., the varying types of other professional services firms
that are used), in order to identify and assess quality risks related to the use of such resources.

In determining whether a resource from a service provider is appropriate for use in the firm’s system of quality management
or in the performance of engagements, the firm may obtain information about the service provider and the resource they
provide from a number of sources. Matters the firm may consider include:

. The related quality objective and quality risks. For example, in the case of a methodology from a service provider,
there may be quality risks related to the quality objective in paragraph 32(g), such as a quality risk that the service
provider does not update the methodology to reflect changes in professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

° The nature and scope of the resources, and the conditions of the service (e.g., in relation to an IT application, how
often updates will be provided, limitations on the use of the IT application and how the service provider addresses
confidentiality of data).

. The extent to which the resource is used across the firm, how the resource will be used by the firm and whether it is
suitable for that purpose.

. The extent of customization of the resource for the firm.

. The firm’s previous use of the service provider.

. The service provider’s experience in the industry and reputation in the market.

The firm may have a responsibility to take further actions in using the resource from a service provider so that the resource
functions effectively. For example, the firm may need to communicate information to the service provider in order for the
resource to function effectively, or, in relation to an IT application, the firm may need to have supporting IT infrastructure
and IT processes in place.

Information and Communication (Ref: Para. 33)

A109.

Obtaining, generating or communicating information is generally an ongoing process that involves all personnel and
encompasses the dissemination of information within the firm and externally. Information and communication is pervasive
to all components of the system of quality management.

The Firm’s Information System (Ref: Para. 33(a))

Al10.

Alll.

Comm

All12.

ISQM 1

Reliable and relevant information includes information that is accurate, complete, timely and valid to enable the proper
functioning of the firm’s system of quality management and to support decisions regarding the system of quality
management.

The information system may include the use of manual or IT elements, which affect the manner in which information is
identified, captured, processed, maintained and communicated. The procedures to identify, capture, process, maintain and
communicate information may be enforced through IT applications, and in some cases may be embedded within the firm’s
responses for other components. In addition, digital records may replace or supplement physical records.

Scalability example to demonstrate how the information system may be -designed in a less complex firm

Less complex firms with fewer personnel and direct involvement of leadership may not need rigorous policies and
procedures that specify how information should be identified, captured, processed and maintained.

unication Within the Firm (Ref: Para. 33(b), 33(c))

The firm may recognize and reinforce the responsibility of personnel and engagement teams to exchange information with
the firm and with one another by establishing communication channels to facilitate communication across the firm.
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Examples of communication among the firm, personnel and engagement teams

The firm communicates the responsibility for implementing the firm’s responses to personnel and engagement
teams.

The firm communicates changes to the system of quality management to personnel and engagement teams, to the
extent that the changes are relevant to their responsibilities and enables personnel and engagement teams to take
prompt and appropriate action in accordance with their responsibilities.

The firm communicates information that is obtained during the firm’s acceptance and continuance process that is
relevant to engagement teams in planning and performing engagements.

Engagement teams communicate to the firm information about:

o The client that is obtained during the performance of an engagement that may have caused the firm to decline
the client relationship or specific engagement had that information been known prior to accepting or continuing
the client relationship or specific engagement.

o The operation of the firm’s responses (e.g., concerns about the firm’s processes for assigning personnel to
engagements), which in some cases, may indicate a deficiency in the firm’s system of quality management.

Engagement teams communicate information to the engagement quality reviewer or individuals providing
consultation.

Group engagement teams communicate matters to component auditors in accordance with the firm’s policies or
procedures, including matters related to quality management at the engagement level.

The individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for compliance with independence requirements
communicates to relevant personnel and engagement teams changes in the independence requirements and the
firm’s policies or procedures to address such changes.

Communication with External Parties

Communication to or within the Firm’s Network and to Service Providers (Ref: Para. 33(d)(i))

A113. In addition to the firm communicating information to or within the firm’s network or to a service provider, the firm may need

to obtain information from the network, a network firm or a service provider that supports the firm in the design,

implementation and operation of its system of quality management.

Example of information obtained by the firm from within the firm’s network

The firm obtains information from the network or other network firms about clients of other network firms, where there
are independence requirements that affect the firm.

Communication with Others External to the Firm (Ref: Para. 33(d)(ii))

A114. Examples of when law, regulation or professional standards may require the firm to communicate information to external
parties

The firm becomes aware of non-compliance with laws and regulations by a client, and relevant ethical requirements
require the firm to report the non-compliance with laws and regulations to an appropriate authority outside the client
entity, or to consider whether such reporting is an appropriate action in the circumstances.

Law or regulation requires the firm to publish a transparency report and specifies the nature of the information that is
required to be included in the transparency report.

Securities law or regulation requires the firm to communicate certain matters to those charged with governance.

A115. In some cases, law or regulation may preclude the firm from communicating information related to its system of quality

management externally.
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Examples of when the firm may be precluded from communicating information externally
° Privacy or secrecy law or regulation prohibits disclosure of certain information.

° Law, regulation or relevant ethical requirements include provisions addressing the duty of confidentiality.

Specified Responses (Ref: Para. 34)

A116. The specified responses may address multiple quality risks related to more than one quality objective across different
components. For example, policies or procedures for complaints and allegations may address quality risks related to quality
objectives in resources (e.g., personnel’s commitment to quality), relevant ethical requirements and governance and
leadership. The specified responses alone are not sufficient to achieve the objectives of the system of quality management.

Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 34(a))

A117. Relevant ethical requirements may contain provisions regarding the identification and evaluation of threats and how they are
to be addressed. For example, the IESBA Code provides a conceptual framework for this purpose and, in applying the
conceptual framework, requires that the firm use the reasonable and informed third party test.

A118. Relevant ethical requirements may specify how the firm is required to respond to a breach. For example, the IESBA Code
sets out requirements for the firm in the event of a breach of the IESBA Code and includes specific requirements addressing
breaches of the International Independence Standards, which includes requirements for communication with external parties.

A119. Matters the firm may address relating to breaches of the relevant ethical requirements include:

. The communication of breaches of the relevant ethical requirements to appropriate personnel;
° The evaluation of the significance of a breach and its effect on compliance with relevant ethical requirements;
. The actions to be taken to satisfactorily address the consequences of a breach, including that such actions be taken as

soon as practicable;

. Determining whether to report a breach to external parties, such as those charged with governance of the entity to
which the breach relates or an external oversight authority; and

. Determining the appropriate actions to be taken in relation to the individual(s) responsible for the breach.

Complaints and Allegations (Ref: Para. 34(c))

A120. Establishing policies or procedures for dealing with complaints and allegations may assist the firm in preventing engagement
reports from being issued that are inappropriate. It also may assist the firm in:

. Identifying and dealing with individuals, including leadership, who do not act or behave in a manner that
demonstrates a commitment to quality and supports the firm’s commitment to quality; or

. Identifying deficiencies in the system of quality management.

A121. Complaints and allegations may be made by personnel, or others external to the firm (e.g., clients, component auditors or
individuals within the firm’s network).

Information That Becomes Known Subsequent to Accepting or Continuing a Client Relationship or Specific Engagement (Ref: Para.
34(d))

A122. Information that becomes known subsequent to accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific engagement may:

. Have existed at the time of the firm’s decision to accept or continue the client relationship or specific engagement and
the firm was not aware of such information; or

. Relate to new information that has arisen since the decision to accept or continue the client relationship or specific
engagement.
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Examples of matters addressed in the firm’s policies or procedures for circumstances when information becomes known
subsequent to accepting or continuing a client relationship or specific engagement that may have affected the firm’s
decision to accept or continue a client relationship or specific engagement

Undertaking consultation within the firm or with legal counsel.

Considering whether there is a professional, legal or regulatory requirement for the firm to continue the
engagement.

Discussing with the appropriate level of the client’s management and with those charged with governance or the
engaging party the action that the firm might take based on the relevant facts and circumstances.

When it is determined that withdrawal is an appropriate action:

o Informing the client’s management and those charged with governance or the engaging party of this decision
and the reasons for the withdrawal.

o Considering whether there is a professional, legal or regulatory requirement for the firm to report the
withdrawal from the engagement, or from both the engagement and the client relationship, together with the
reasons for the withdrawal, to regulatory authorities.

A123. In some circumstances, jurisdictional law or regulation may impose an obligation on the firm to accept or continue a client
engagement, or in the case of the public sector, the firm may be appointed through statutory provisions.

Example of matters addressed in the firm’s policies or procedures in circumstances when the firm is obligated to accept or
continue an engagement or the firm is unable to withdraw from an engagement, and the firm is aware of information that
would have caused the firm to decline or discontinue the engagement

The firm considers the effect of the information on the performance of the engagement.

The firm communicates the information to the engagement partner, and requests the engagement partner to increase
the extent and frequency of the direction and supervision of the engagement team members and review of their
work.

The firm assigns more experienced personnel to the engagement.

The firm determines that an engagement quality review should be performed.

Communication with External Parties (Ref. Para: 34(e))

A124. The firm’s ability to maintain stakeholder confidence in the quality of its engagements may be enhanced through relevant,
reliable and transparent communication by the firm about the activities that it has undertaken to address quality, and the
effectiveness of those activities.

A125. External parties who may use information about the firm’s system of quality management, and the extent of their interest in
the firm’s system of quality management, may vary based on the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements.

Examples of external parties who may use information about the firm’s system of quality management

Management or those charged with governance of the firm’s clients may use the information to determine whether to
appoint the firm to perform an engagement.

External oversight authorities may have indicated a desire for the information to support their responsibilities in
monitoring the quality of engagements across a jurisdiction and in understanding the work of firms.

Other firms who use the work of the firm in the performance of engagements (e.g., in relation to a group audit) may
have requested such information.

Other users of the firm’s engagement reports, such as investors who use engagement reports in their decision making,
may have indicated a desire for the information.

A126. The information about the system of quality management provided to external parties, including information communicated
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to those charged with governance about how the system of quality management supports the consistent performance of
quality engagements, may address such matters as:

The nature and circumstances of the firm, such as the organizational structure, business model, strategy and operating
environment.

The firm’s governance and leadership, such as its culture, how it demonstrates a commitment to quality, and assigned
roles, responsibilities and authority with respect to the system of quality management.

How the firm fulfills its responsibilities in accordance with relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence.

Factors that contribute to quality engagements, for example, such information may be presented in the form of
engagement quality indicators with narrative to explain the indicators.

The results of the firm’s monitoring activities and external inspections, and how the firm has remediated identified
deficiencies or is otherwise responding to them.

The evaluation undertaken in accordance with paragraphs 53—54 of whether the system of quality management
provides the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system are being achieved and the conclusion
thereon, including the basis for the judgments made in undertaking the evaluation and concluding.

How the firm has responded to emerging developments and changes in the circumstances of the firm or its
engagements, including how the system of quality management has been adapted to respond to such changes.

The relationship between the firm and the network, the overall structure of the network, a description of network
requirements and network services, the responsibilities of the firm and the network (including that the firm is
ultimately responsible for the system of quality management), and information about the overall scope and results of
network monitoring activities across the network firms.

Communication with Those Charged with Governance (Ref. Para: 34(e)(i))

A127. How the communication with those charged with governance is undertaken (i.e., by the firm or the engagement team) may

depend on the firm’s policies or procedures and the circumstances of the engagement.

A128. ISA 260 (Revised) deals with the auditor’s responsibility to communicate with those charged with governance in an audit of

financial statements, and addresses the auditor’s determination of the appropriate person(s) within the entity’s governance

structure with whom to communicate'® and the communication process.?’ In some circumstances, it may be appropriate to

communicate with those charged with governance of entities other than listed entities (or when performing other

engagements), for example, entities that may have public interest or public accountability characteristics, such as:

Entities that hold a significant amount of assets in a fiduciary capacity for a large number of stakeholders including
financial institutions, such as certain banks, insurance companies, and pension funds.

Entities with a high public profile, or whose management or owners have a high public profile.

Entities with a large number and wide range of stakeholders.

Public sector considerations

A129. The firm may determine it is appropriate to communicate to those charged with governance of a public sector entity about

how the firm’s system of quality management supports the consistent performance of quality engagements, taking into

account the size and complexity of the public sector entity, the range of its stakeholders, the nature of the services it provides,

and the role and responsibilities of those charged with governance.

Determining When it is Otherwise Appropriate to Communicate with External Parties (Ref. Para: 34(e)(ii))

A130. The firm’s determination of when it is appropriate to communicate with external parties about the firm’s system of quality

management is a matter of professional judgment and may be influenced by matters such as:

19

ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, paragraphs 11-13

2 ISA 260 (Revised), paragraphs 18-22
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The types of engagements performed by the firm, and the types of entities for which such engagements are
undertaken.

The nature and circumstances of the firm.

The nature of the firm’s operating environment, such as customary business practice in the firm’s jurisdiction and the
characteristics of the financial markets in which the firm operates.

The extent to which the firm has already communicated with external parties in accordance with law or regulation
(i.e., whether further communication is needed, and if so, the matters to be communicated).

The expectations of stakeholders in the firm’s jurisdiction, including the understanding and interest that external
parties have expressed about the engagements undertaken by the firm, and the firm’s processes in performing the
engagements.

Jurisdictional trends.
The information that is already available to external parties.

How external parties may use the information, and their general understanding of matters related to firms’ system of
quality management and audits or reviews of financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements.

The public interest benefits of external communication and whether it would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
costs (monetary or otherwise) of such communication.

The above matters may also affect the information provided by the firm in the communication, and the nature, timing and

extent and appropriate form of communication.

Nature, Timing and Extent and Appropriate Form of Communication with External Parties (Ref. Para: 34(e)(iii))

A131. The firm may consider the following attributes in preparing information that is communicated to external parties:

The information is specific to the circumstances of the firm. Relating the matters in the firm’s communication directly
to the specific circumstances of the firm may help to minimize the potential that such information becomes overly
standardized and less useful over time.

The information is presented in a clear and understandable manner, and the manner of presentation is neither
misleading nor would inappropriately influence the users of the communication (e.g., the information is presented in
a manner that is appropriately balanced towards positive and negative aspects of the matter being communicated).

The information is accurate and complete in all material respects and does not contain information that is misleading.

The information takes into consideration the information needs of the users for whom it is intended. In considering the
information needs of the users, the firm may consider matters such as the level of detail that users would find
meaningful and whether users have access to relevant information through other sources (e.g., the firm’s website).

A132. The firm uses professional judgment in determining, in the circumstances, the appropriate form of communication with the

external party, including communication with those charged with governance when performing an audit of financial

statements of listed entities, which may be made orally or in writing. Accordingly, the form of communication may vary.

Examples of form of communication to external parties

A publication such as a transparency report or audit quality report.

Targeted written communication to specific stakeholders (e.g., information about the results of the firm’s
monitoring and remediation process).

Direct conversations and interactions with the external party (e.g., discussions between the engagement team and
those charged with governance).

A webpage.

Other forms of digital media, such as social media, or interviews or presentations via webcast or video.

Engagements Subject to an Engagement Quality Review
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Engagement Quality Review Required by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 34(f)(ii))

A133. Law or regulation may require an engagement quality review to be performed, for example, for audit engagements for
entities that:

. Are public interest entities as defined in a particular jurisdiction;

. Operate in the public sector or which are recipients of government funding, or entities with public accountability;
. Operate in certain industries (e.g., financial institutions such as banks, insurance companies and pension funds);
. Meet a specified asset threshold; or

. Are under the management of a court or judicial process (e.g., liquidation).

Engagement Quality Review as a Response to Address One or More Quality Risk(s) (Ref: Para. 34(f)(iii))

A134. The firm’s understanding of the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions that may adversely affect the
achievement of the quality objectives, as required by paragraph 25(a)(ii), relates to the nature and circumstances of the

ISQM 1
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ents performed by the firm. In designing and implementing responses to address one or more quality risk(s), the firm
rmine that an engagement quality review is an appropriate response based on the reasons for the assessments given

to the quality risks.

Examples of conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions giving rise to one or more quality risk(s) for which an
engagement quality review may be an appropriate response

Those relating to the types of engagements performed by the firm and reports to be issued:
. Engagements that involve a high level of complexity or judgment, such as:

o Audits of financial statements for entities operating in an industry that typically has accounting estimates

o Assurance engagements that require specialized skills and knowledge in measuring or evaluating the

o E

inspection findings, unremediated significant deficiencies in internal control, or a material restatement of

C

o E
p

o Engagements that involve reporting on financial or non-financial information that is expected to be included in a
regulatory filing, and that may involve a higher degree of judgment, such as pro forma financial information to be
included in a prospectus.

Those relating to the types of entities for which engagements are undertaken:

o Entities in emerging industries, or for which the firm has no previous experience.
o Entities for which concerns were expressed in communications from securities or prudential regulators.
o Entities other than listed entities that may have public interest or public accountability characteristics, for example:
o  Entities that hold a significant amount of assets in a fiduciary capacity for a large number of stakeholders
including financial institutions, such as certain banks, insurance companies, and pension funds for which an
engagement quality review is not otherwise required by law or regulation.
o  Entities with a high public profile, or whose management or owners have a high public profile.
o  Entities with a large number and wide range of stakeholders.

with a high degree of estimation uncertainty (e.g., certain large financial institutions or mining entities), or
for entities for which uncertainties exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
their ability to continue as a going concern.

underlying subject matter against the applicable criteria (e.g., a greenhouse gas statement in which there are
significant uncertainties associated with the quantities reported therein).

ngagements on which issues have been encountered, such as audit engagements with recurring internal or external

omparative information in the financial statements.

ngagements for which unusual circumstances have been identified during the firm’s acceptance and continuance
rocess (e.g., a new client that had a disagreement with its previous auditor or assurance practitioner).
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The firm’s responses to address quality risks may include other forms of engagement reviews that are not an engagement
quality review. For example, for audits of financial statements, the firm’s responses may include reviews of the engagement
team’s procedures relating to significant risks, or reviews of certain significant judgments, by personnel who have
specialized technical expertise. In some cases, these other types of engagement reviews may be undertaken in addition to an
engagement quality review.

In some cases, the firm may determine that there are no audits or other engagements for which an engagement quality review
or another form of engagement review is an appropriate response to address the quality risk(s).

Public sector considerations

Al137.

The nature and circumstances of public sector entities (e.g., due to their size and complexity, the range of their stakeholders,
or the nature of the services they provide) may give rise to quality risks. In these circumstances, the firm may determine that
an engagement quality review is an appropriate response to address such quality risks. Law or regulation may establish
additional reporting requirements for the auditors of public sector entities (e.g., a separate report on instances of
non-compliance with law or regulation to the legislature or other governing body or communicating such instances in the
auditor’s report on the financial statements). In such cases, the firm may also consider the complexity of such reporting, and
its importance to users, in determining whether an engagement quality review is an appropriate response.

Monitoring and Remediation Process (Ref: Para. 35-47)

A138.

In addition to enabling the evaluation of the system of quality management, the monitoring and remediation process
facilitates the proactive and continual improvement of engagement quality and the system of quality management. For
example:

. Given the inherent limitations of a system of quality management, the firm’s identification of deficiencies is not
unusual and it is an important aspect of the system of quality management, because prompt identification of
deficiencies enables the firm to remediate them in a timely and effective manner, and contributes to a culture of
continual improvement.

. The monitoring activities may provide information that enables the firm to prevent a deficiency through responding to
a finding that could, over a period of time, lead to a deficiency.

Designing and Performing Monitoring Activities (Ref: Para. 37-38)

A139.

A140.

Al41.

The firm’s monitoring activities may comprise a combination of ongoing monitoring activities and periodic monitoring
activities. Ongoing monitoring activities are generally routine activities, built into the firm’s processes and performed on a
real-time basis, reacting to changing conditions. Periodic monitoring activities are conducted at certain intervals by the firm.
In most cases, ongoing monitoring activities provide information about the system of quality management in a timelier
manner.

Monitoring activities may include the inspection of in-process engagements. Inspections of engagements are designed to
monitor that an aspect of the system of quality management is designed, implemented and operating in the manner intended.
In some circumstances, the system of quality management may include responses that are designed to review engagements
while they are in the process of being performed that appear similar in nature to an inspection of in-process engagements
(e.g., reviews that are designed to detect failures or shortcomings in the system of quality management so that they can
prevent a quality risk from occurring). The purpose of the activity will guide its design and implementation, and where it fits
within the system of quality management (i.e., whether it is an inspection of an in-process engagement that is a monitoring
activity or a review of an engagement that is a response to address a quality risk).

The nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities may also be affected by other matters, including:

. The size, structure and organization of the firm.
. The involvement of the firm’s network in monitoring activities.
. The resources that the firm intends to use to enable monitoring activities, such as the use of IT applications.
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A142. When performing monitoring activities, the firm may determine that changes to the nature, timing and extent of the
monitoring activities are needed, such as when findings indicate the need for more extensive monitoring activities.

The Design of the Firm’s Risk Assessment Process and Monitoring and Remediation Process (Ref: Para. 37(c))

A143. How the firm’s risk assessment process is designed (e.g., a centralized or decentralized process, or the frequency of review)
may affect the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities, including monitoring activities over the firm’s risk
assessment process.

A144. How the firm’s monitoring and remediation process is designed (i.e., the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring and
remediation activities, taking into account the nature and circumstances of the firm) may affect the monitoring activities
undertaken by the firm to determine whether the monitoring and remediation process is achieving the intended purpose as
described in paragraph 35.

Scalability example to demonstrate the monitoring activities for the monitoring and remediation process

. In a less complex firm, the monitoring activities may be simple, since information about the monitoring and
remediation process may be readily available in the form of leadership’s knowledge, based on their frequent
interaction with the system of quality management, of the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities
undertaken, the results of the monitoring activities, and the firm’s actions to address the results.

. In a more complex firm, the monitoring activities for the monitoring and remediation process may be specifically
designed to determine that the monitoring and remediation process is providing relevant, reliable and timely
information about the system of quality management, and responding appropriately to identified deficiencies.

Changes in the System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 37(d))

A145. Changes in the system of quality management may include:
. Changes to address an identified deficiency in the system of quality management.

. Changes to the quality objectives, quality risks or responses as a result of changes in the nature and circumstances of
the firm and its engagements.

When changes occur, previous monitoring activities undertaken by the firm may no longer provide the firm with information
to support the evaluation of the system of quality management and, therefore, the firm’s monitoring activities may include
monitoring of those areas of change.

Previous Monitoring Activities (Ref: Para. 37(e))

A146. The results of the firm’s previous monitoring activities may indicate areas of the system where a deficiency may arise,
particularly areas where there is a history of identified deficiencies.

A147. Previous monitoring activities undertaken by the firm may no longer provide the firm with information to support the
evaluation of the system, including on areas of the system of quality management that have not changed, particularly when
time has elapsed since the monitoring activities were undertaken.

Other Relevant Information (Ref: Para. 37(f))

A148. In addition to the sources of information indicated in paragraph 37(f), other relevant information may include:

. Information communicated by the firm’s network in accordance with paragraphs 50(c) and 51(b) about the firm’s
system of quality management, including the network requirements or network services that the firm has included in
its system of quality management.

. Information communicated by a service provider about the resources the firm uses in its system of quality
management.
. Information from regulators about the entities for whom the firm performs engagements, which is made available to

the firm, such as information from a securities regulator about an entity for whom the firm performs engagements
(e.g., irregularities in the entity’s financial statements).
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A149. The results of external inspections or other relevant information, both internal and external, may indicate that previous

monitoring activities undertaken by the firm failed to identify a deficiency in the system of quality management. This

information may affect the firm’s consideration of the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities.

A150. External inspections are not a substitute for the firm’s internal monitoring activities. Nevertheless, the results of external

inspections inform the nature, timing and extent of the monitoring activities.

Engagement Inspections (Ref: Para. 38)

A151. Examples of matters in paragraph 37 that may be considered by the firm in selecting completed engagements for in-
spection

In relation to the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions giving rise to the quality risks:

o The types of engagements performed by the firm, and the extent of the firm’s experience in performing the
type of engagement.

o The types of entities for which engagements are undertaken, for example:
o Entities that are listed.
o Entities operating in emerging industries.
o Entities operating in industries associated with a high level of complexity or judgment.
o Entities operating in an industry that is new to the firm.

o The tenure and experience of engagement partners.
The results of previous inspections of completed engagements, including for each engagement partner.

In relation to other relevant information:
o Complaints or allegations about an engagement partner.
o The results of external inspections, including for each engagement partner.

o The results of the firm’s evaluation of each engagement partner’s commitment to quality.

A152. The firm may undertake multiple monitoring activities, other than inspection of completed engagements, that focus on
determining whether engagements have complied with policies or procedures. These monitoring activities may be
undertaken on certain engagements or engagement partners. The nature and extent of these monitoring activities, and the
results, may be used by the firm in determining;:

A153.

Which completed engagements to select for inspection;
Which engagement partners to select for inspection;
How frequently to select an engagement partner for inspection; or

Which aspects of the engagement to consider when performing the inspection of completed engagements.

The inspection of completed engagements for engagement partners on a cyclical basis may assist the firm in monitoring

whether engagement partners have fulfilled their overall responsibility for managing and achieving quality on the

engagements they are assigned to.

Example of how a firm may apply a cyclical basis for the inspection of completed engagements for each engagement
partner

The firm may establish policies or procedures addressing the inspection of completed engagements that:

Set forth the standard period of the inspection cycle, such as the inspection of a completed engagement for each
engagement partner performing audits of financial statements once every three years, and for all other engagement
partners, once every five years;

Set out the criteria for selecting completed engagements, including that for an engagement partner performing
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audits of financial statements, the engagement(s) selected include an audit engagement;

. Address selecting engagement partners in a manner that is unpredictable; and

. Address when it is necessary or appropriate to select engagement partners more, or less, frequently than the
standard period set out in the policy, for example:

The firm may select engagement partners more frequently than the standard period set out in the firm’s policy when:

° Multiple deficiencies have been identified by the firm that have been evaluated as severe, and the firm determines
that a more frequent cyclical inspection is needed across all engagement partners.

o The engagement partner performs engagements for entities operating in a certain industry where there are high
levels of complexity or judgment.

o An engagement performed by the engagement partner has been subject to other monitoring activities, and the
results of the other monitoring activities were unsatisfactory.

° The engagement partner has performed an engagement for an entity operating in an industry in which the
engagement partner has limited experience.

. The engagement partner is a newly appointed engagement partner, or has recently joined the firm from another
firm or another jurisdiction.

The firm may defer the selection of the engagement partner (e.g., deferring for a year beyond the standard period set out in
the firm’s policy) when:

o Engagements performed by the engagement partner have been subject to other monitoring activities during the
standard period set out in the firm’s policy; and

° The results of the other monitoring activities provide sufficient information about the engagement partner (i.e.,
performing the inspection of completed engagements would unlikely provide the firm with further information
about the engagement partner).

A154. The matters considered in an inspection of an engagement depend on how the inspection will be used to monitor the system
of quality management. Ordinarily, the inspection of an engagement includes determining that responses that are
implemented at the engagement level (e.g., the firm’s policies and procedures in respect of engagement performance), have
been implemented as designed and are operating effectively.

Individuals Performing the Monitoring Activities (Ref: Para. 39(b))

A155. The provisions of relevant ethical requirements are relevant in designing the policies or procedures addressing the objectivity
of the individuals performing the monitoring activities. A self-review threat may arise when an individual who performs:
. An inspection of an engagement was:

o In the case of an audit of financial statements, an engagement team member or the engagement quality reviewer
of that engagement or an engagement for a subsequent financial period; or

o  For all other engagements, an engagement team member or the engagement quality reviewer of that
engagement.

. Another type of monitoring activity had participated in designing, executing or operating the response being
monitored.

A156. In some circumstances, for example, in the case of a less complex firm, there may not be personnel who have the
competence, capabilities, time or objectivity to perform the monitoring activities. In these circumstances, the firm may use
network services or a service provider to perform the monitoring activities.

Evaluating Findings and Identifying Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 16(a), 40—41)

A157. The firm accumulates findings from the performance of monitoring activities, external inspections and other relevant
sources.

A158. Information accumulated by the firm from the monitoring activities, external inspections and other relevant sources may
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reveal other observations about the firm’s system of quality management, such as:

. Actions, behaviors or conditions that have given rise to positive outcomes in the context of quality or the effectiveness
of the system of quality management; or

. Similar circumstances where no findings were noted (e.g., engagements where no findings were noted, and the
engagements have a similar nature to the engagements where findings were noted).

Other observations may be useful to the firm as they may assist the firm in investigating the root cause(s) of identified
deficiencies, indicate practices that the firm can support or apply more extensively (e.g., across all engagements) or highlight
opportunities for the firm to enhance the system of quality management.

A159. The firm exercises professional judgment in determining whether findings, individually or in combination with other
findings give rise to a deficiency in the system of quality management. In making the judgment, the firm may need to take
into account the relative importance of the findings in the context of the quality objectives, quality risks, responses or other
aspects of the system of quality management to which they relate. The firm’s judgments may be affected by quantitative and
qualitative factors relevant to the findings. In some circumstances, the firm may determine it appropriate to obtain more
information about the findings in order to determine whether a deficiency exists. Not all findings, including engagement
findings, will be a deficiency.

A160. Examples of quantitative and qualitative factors that a firm may consider in determining whether findings give rise to a
deficiency

Quality Risks and Responses
. If the findings relate to a response:

o How the response is designed, for example, the nature of the response, the frequency of its occurrence (if
applicable), and the relative importance of the response to addressing the quality risk(s) and achieving the
quality objective(s) to which it relates.

o The nature of the quality risk to which the response relates, and the extent to which the findings indicate
that the quality risk has not been addressed.

o Whether there are other responses that address the same quality risk and whether there are findings for
those responses.

Nature of the Findings and Their Pervasiveness

. The nature of the findings. For example, findings related to leadership actions and behaviors may be qualitatively
significant, given the pervasive effect this could have on the system of quality management as a whole.

. Whether the findings, in combination with other findings, indicate a trend or systemic issue. For example, similar
engagement findings that appear on multiple engagements may indicate a systemic issue.

Extent of Monitoring Activity and Extent of Findings
. The extent of the monitoring activity from which the findings arose, including the number or size of the selections.

. The extent of the findings in relation to the selection covered by the monitoring activity, and in relation to the
expected deviation rate. For example, in the case of inspection of engagements, the number of engagements
selected where the findings were identified, relative to the total number of engagements selected, and the expected
deviation rate set by the firm.

Al61. Evaluating findings and identifying deficiencies and evaluating the severity and pervasiveness of an identified deficiency,
including investigating the root cause(s) of an identified deficiency, are part of an iterative and non-linear process.

Examples of how the process of evaluating findings and identifying deficiencies, evaluating identified deficiencies,
including investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies, is iterative and non-linear
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° In investigating the root cause(s) of an identified deficiency, the firm may identify a circumstance that has
similarities to other circumstances where there were findings that were not considered a deficiency. As a
result, the firm adjusts its evaluation of the other findings and classifies them as a deficiency.

° In evaluating the severity and pervasiveness of an identified deficiency, the firm may identify a trend or
systemic issue that correlates with other findings that are not considered deficiencies. As a result, the firm
adjusts its evaluation of the other findings and also classifies them as deficiencies.

The results of monitoring activities, results of external inspections and other relevant information (e.g., network monitoring
activities or complaints and allegations) may reveal information about the effectiveness of the monitoring and remediation
process. For example, the results of external inspections may provide information about the system of quality management
that has not been identified by the firm’s monitoring and remediation process, which may highlight a deficiency in that
process.

Evaluating Identified Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 41)

A163.

Al64.

Factors the firm may consider in evaluating the severity and pervasiveness of an identified deficiency include:

. The nature of the identified deficiency, including the aspect of the firm’s system of quality management to which the
deficiency relates, and whether the deficiency is in the design, implementation or operation of the system of quality
management;

. In the case of identified deficiencies related to responses, whether there are compensating responses to address the
quality risk to which the response relates;

. The root cause(s) of the identified deficiency;

. The frequency with which the matter giving rise to the identified deficiency occurred; and

. The magnitude of the identified deficiency, how quickly it occurred and the duration of time that it existed and had an

effect on the system of quality management.

The severity and pervasiveness of identified deficiencies affects the evaluation of the system of quality management that is
undertaken by the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management.

Root Cause of the Identified Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 41(a))

Al65.

A166.
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The objective of investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies is to understand the underlying circumstances that
caused the deficiencies to enable the firm to:

. Evaluate the severity and pervasiveness of the identified deficiency; and

. Appropriately remediate the identified deficiency.

Performing a root cause analysis involves those performing the assessment exercising professional judgment based on the
evidence available.

The nature, timing and extent of the procedures undertaken to understand the root cause(s) of an identified deficiency may
also be affected by the nature and circumstances of the firm, such as:

. The complexity and operating characteristics of the firm.

. The size of the firm.

. The geographical dispersion of the firm.

. How the firm is structured or the extent to which the firm concentrates or centralizes its processes or activities.

Examples of how the nature of identified deficiencies and their possible severity and the nature and circumstances of the
firm may affect the nature, timing and extent of the procedures to understand the root cause(s) of the identified deficiencies

o The nature of the identified deficiency: The firm’s procedures to understand the root cause(s) of an identified
deficiency may be more rigorous in circumstances when an engagement report related to an audit of financial
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statements of a listed entity was issued that was inappropriate or the identified deficiency relates to leadership’s
actions and behaviors regarding quality.

e The possible severity of the identified deficiency: The firm’s procedures to understand the root cause(s) of an
identified deficiency may be more rigorous in circumstances when the deficiency has been identified across
multiple engagements or there is an indication that policies or procedures have high rates of non-compliance.

e Nature and circumstances of the firm:

o0 Inthe case of a less complex firm with a single location, the firm’s procedures to understand the root cause(s)
of an identified deficiency may be simple, since the information to inform the understanding may be readily
available and concentrated, and the root cause(s) may be more apparent.

o In the case of a more complex firm with multiple locations, the procedures to understand the root cause(s) of
an identified deficiency may include using individuals specifically trained on investigating the root cause(s)
of identified deficiencies, and developing a methodology with more formalized procedures for identifying
root cause(s).

A167. In investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies, the firm may consider why deficiencies did not arise in other
circumstances that are of a similar nature to the matter to which the identified deficiency relates. Such information may also
be useful in determining how to remediate an identified deficiency.

Example of when a deficiency did not arise in other circumstances of a similar nature, and how this information assists the
firm in investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies

The firm may determine that a deficiency exists because similar findings have occurred across multiple engagements.
However, the findings have not occurred in several other engagements within the same population being tested. By
contrasting the engagements, the firm concludes that the root cause of the identified deficiency is a lack of appropriate
involvement by the engagement partners at key stages of the engagements.

A168. Identifying a root cause(s) that is appropriately specific may support the firm’s process for remediating identified
deficiencies.

Example of identifying a root cause(s) that is appropriately specific

The firm may identify that engagement teams performing audits of financial statements are failing to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence on accounting estimates where management’s assumptions have a high degree of subjectivity.
While the firm notes that these engagement teams are not exercising appropriate professional skepticism, the underlying root
cause of this issue may relate to another matter, such as a cultural environment that does not encourage engagement team
members to question individuals with greater authority or insufficient direction, supervision and review of the work
performed on the engagements.

A1609. In addition to investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies, the firm may also investigate the root cause(s) of

positive outcomes as doing so may reveal opportunities for the firm to improve, or further enhance, the system of quality
management.

Responding to Identified Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 42)

A170. The nature, timing and extent of remedial actions may depend on a variety of other factors, including:

. The root cause(s).

. The severity and pervasiveness of the identified deficiency and therefore the urgency with which it needs to be
addressed.

. The effectiveness of the remedial actions in addressing the root cause(s), such as whether the firm needs to

implement more than one remedial action in order to effectively address the root cause(s), or needs to implement
remedial actions as interim measures until the firm is able to implement more effective remedial actions.
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In some circumstances, the remedial action may include establishing additional quality objectives, or quality risks or
responses may be added or modified, because it is determined that they are not appropriate.

In circumstances when the firm determines that the root cause of an identified deficiency relates to a resource provided by a
service provider, the firm may also:

. Consider whether to continue using the resource provided by the service provider.
. Communicate the matter to the service provider.

The firm is responsible for addressing the effect of the identified deficiency related to a resource provided by a service
provider on the system of quality management and taking action to prevent the deficiency from recurring with respect to the
firm’s system of quality management. However, the firm is not ordinarily responsible for remediating the identified
deficiency on behalf of the service provider or further investigating the root cause of the identified deficiency at the service
provider.

Findings About a Particular Engagement (Ref: Para. 45)

Al73.

In circumstances when procedures were omitted or the report issued is inappropriate, the action taken by the firm may
include:

. Consulting with appropriate individuals regarding the appropriate action.
. Discussing the matter with management of the entity or those charged with governance.
. Performing the omitted procedures.

The actions taken by the firm do not relieve the firm of the responsibility to take further actions relating to the finding in the
context of the system of quality management, including evaluating the findings to identify deficiencies and when a
deficiency exists, investigating the root cause(s) of the identified deficiency.

Ongoing Communication Related to the Monitoring and Remediation (Ref: Para. 46)

Al174.

The information communicated about the monitoring and remediation to the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility
and accountability for the system of quality management may be communicated on an ongoing basis or periodically. The
individual(s) may use the information in multiple ways, for example:

. As a basis for further communications to personnel about the importance of quality.
. To hold individuals accountable for their roles assigned to them.
. To identify key concerns about the system of quality management in a timely manner.

The information also provides a basis for the evaluation of the system of quality management, and conclusion thereon, as
required by paragraphs 53—54.

Network Requirements or Network Services (Ref: Para. 48)

Al75.

ISQM 1

In some circumstances, the firm may belong to a network. Networks may establish requirements regarding the firm’s system
of quality management or may make services or resources available that the firm may choose to implement or use in the
design, implementation and operation of its system of quality management. Such requirements or services may be intended to
promote the consistent performance of quality engagements across the firms that belong to the network. The extent to which
the network will provide the firm with quality objectives, quality risks and responses that are common across the network
will depend on the firm’s arrangements with the network.

Examples of network requirements

. Requirements for the firm to include additional quality objectives or quality risks in the firm’s system of quality
management that are common across the network firms.

° Requirements for the firm to include responses in the firm’s system of quality management that are common
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across the network firms. Such responses designed by the network may include network policies or procedures
that specify the leadership roles and responsibilities, including how the firm is expected to assign authority and
responsibility within the firm, or resources, such as network developed methodologies for the performance of
engagements or IT applications.

° Requirements that the firm be subject to the network’s monitoring activities. These monitoring activities may
relate to network requirements (e.g., monitoring that the firm has implemented the network’s methodology
appropriately), or to the firm’s system of quality management in general.

Examples of network services

o Services or resources that are optional for the firm to use in its system of quality management or in the
performance of engagements, such as voluntary training programs, use of component auditors or experts from
within the network, or use of a service delivery center established at the network level, or by another network firm
or group of network firms.

A176. The network may establish responsibilities for the firm in implementing the network requirements or network services.

Examples of responsibilities for the firm in implementing network requirements or network services

. The firm is required to have certain IT infrastructure and IT processes in place to support an IT application
provided by the network that the firm uses in the system of quality management.

o The firm is required to provide firm-wide training on the methodology provided by the network, including when
updates are made to the methodology.

A177. The firm’s understanding of the network requirements or network services and the firm’s responsibilities relating to the
implementation thereof may be obtained through inquiries of, or documentation provided by, the network about matters such

as:

. The network’s governance and leadership.

. The procedures undertaken by the network in designing, implementing and, if applicable, operating, the network
requirements or network services.

° How the network identifies and responds to changes that affect the network requirements or network services or
other information, such as changes in the professional standards or information that indicates a deficiency in the
network requirements or network services.

. How the network monitors the appropriateness of the network requirements or network services, which may include
through the network firms’ monitoring activities, and the network’s processes for remediating identified
deficiencies.

Network Requirements or Network Services in the Firm’s System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 49)

A178. The characteristics of the network requirements or network services are a condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction
in identifying and assessing quality risks.

Example of a network requirement or network service that gives rise to a quality risk

The network may require the firm to use an IT application for the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and
specific engagements that is standardized across the network. This may give rise to a quality risk that the IT application
does not address matters in local law or regulation that need to be considered by the firm in accepting and continuing client
relationships and specific engagements.

80 ISQM 1




QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

A179. The purpose of the network requirements may include the promotion of consistent performance of quality engagements
across the network firms. The firm may be expected by the network to implement the network requirements, however, the
firm may need to adapt or supplement the network requirements such that they are appropriate for the nature and
circumstances of the firm and its engagements.

Examples of how the network requirements or networks services may need to be adapted or supplemented

Network Requirement or Network -Service | How the Firm Adapts or Supplements the Network Requirement or Net-
work Service

The network requires the firm to include | As part of identifying and assessing quality risks, the firm includes the
certain quality risks in the system of quality | quality risks that are required by the network.
management, so that all firms in the network

o The firm also designs and implements responses to address the quality risks
address the quality risks.

that are required by the network.

The network requires that the firm design | As part of designing and implementing responses, the firm determines:

and implement certain responses. ° Which quality risks the responses address.

° How the responses required by the network will be incorporated into
the firm’s system of quality management, given the nature and
circumstances of the firm. This may include tailoring the response to
reflect the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements
(e.g., tailoring a methodology to include matters related to law or
regulation).

The firm wuses individuals from other | The firm establishes policies or procedures that require the engagement
network firms as component auditors. | team to confirm with the component auditor (i.e., the other network firm)
Network requirements are in place that drive | that the individuals assigned to the component meet the specific criteria set
a high degree of commonality across the | out in the network requirements.

network  firms’ systems of quality
management. The network requirements
include specific criteria that apply to

individuals assigned to work on a component
for a group audit.

A180. In some circumstances, in adapting or supplementing the network requirements or network services, the firm may identify
possible improvements to the network requirements or network services and may communicate these improvements to the
network.

Monitoring Activities Undertaken by the Network on the Firm’s System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 50(c))

A181. The results of the network’s monitoring activities of the firm’s system of quality management may include information such

as:

. A description of the monitoring activities, including their nature, timing and extent;

° Findings, identified deficiencies, and other observations about the firm’s system of quality management (e.g.,
positive outcomes or opportunities for the firm to improve, or further enhance, the system of quality management);
and

° The network’s evaluation of the root cause(s) of the identified deficiencies, the assessed effect of the identified

deficiencies and recommended remedial actions.
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Monitoring Activities Undertaken by the Network Across the Network Firms (Ref: Para. 51(b))

A182.

Al83.

A184.

The information from the network about the overall results of the network’s monitoring activities undertaken across the
network firms’ systems of quality management may be an aggregation or summary of the information described in paragraph
A181, including trends and common areas of identified deficiencies across the network, or positive outcomes that may be
replicated across the network. Such information may:

. Be used by the firm:
o In identifying and assessing quality risks.
o As part of other relevant information considered by the firm in determining whether deficiencies exist in the

network requirements or network services used by the firm in its system of quality management.

. Be communicated to group engagement partners, in the context of considering the competence and capabilities of
component auditors from a network firm who are subject to common network requirements (e.g., common quality
objectives, quality risks and responses).

In some circumstances, the firm may obtain information from the network about deficiencies identified in a network firm’s
system of quality management that affects the firm. The network may also gather information from network firms regarding
the results of external inspections over network firms’ systems of quality management. In some instances, law or regulation
in a particular jurisdiction may prevent the network from sharing information with other network firms or may restrict the
specificity of such information.

In circumstances when the network does not provide the information about the overall results of the network’s monitoring
activities across the network firms, the firm may take further actions, such as:

. Discussing the matter with the network; and

. Determining the effect on the firm’s engagements, and communicating the effect to engagement teams.

Deficiencies in Network Requirements or Network Services Identified by the Firm (Ref: Para. 52)

AlRsS.

AlRe6.

As network requirements or network services used by the firm form part of the firm’s system of quality management, they are
also subject to the requirements of this ISQM regarding monitoring and remediation. The network requirements or network
services may be monitored by the network, the firm, or a combination of both.

Example of when a network requirement or network service is monitored by both the network and the firm

A network may undertake monitoring activities at a network level for a common methodology. The firm also monitors the
application of the methodology by engagement team members through performing engagement inspections.

In designing and implementing the remedial actions to address the effect of the identified deficiency in the network
requirements or network services, the firm may:

° Understand the planned remedial actions by the network, including whether the firm has any responsibilities for
implementing the remedial actions; and

. Consider whether supplementary remedial actions need to be taken by the firm to address the identified deficiency
and the related root cause(s), such as when:

o The network has not taken appropriate remedial actions; or

o The network’s remedial actions will take time to effectively address the identified deficiency.

Evaluating the System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 53)

A187.

The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management may be assisted
by other individuals in performing the evaluation. Nevertheless, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and
accountability for the system of quality management remains responsible and accountable for the evaluation.
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The point in time at which the evaluation is undertaken may depend on the circumstances of the firm, and may coincide with
the fiscal year end of the firm or the completion of an annual monitoring cycle.

The information that provides the basis for the evaluation of the system of quality management includes the information
communicated to the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management
in accordance with paragraph 46.

Scalability examples to demonstrate how the information that provides the basis for the evaluation of the system of quality
management may be obtained

e In aless complex firm, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management may be directly involved in the monitoring and remediation and will therefore be aware of the information
that supports the evaluation of the system of quality management.

e In a more complex firm, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management may need to establish processes to collate, summarize and communicate the information needed to
evaluate the system of quality management.

Concluding on the System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 54)

A190.

Al191.

A192.
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In the context of this ISQM, it is intended that the operation of the system as a whole provides the firm with reasonable
assurance that the objectives of the system of quality management are being achieved. In concluding on the system of quality
management, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management
may, in using the results of the monitoring and remediation process, consider the following:

. The severity and pervasiveness of identified deficiencies, and the effect on the achievement of the objectives of the
system of quality management;

° Whether remedial actions have been designed and implemented by the firm, and whether the remedial actions taken
up to the time of the evaluation are effective; and

. Whether the effect of identified deficiencies on the system of quality management have been appropriately
corrected, such as whether further actions have been taken in accordance with paragraph 45.

There may be circumstances when identified deficiencies that are severe (including identified deficiencies that are severe and

pervasive) have been appropriately remediated and the effect of them corrected at the point in time of the evaluation. In such

cases, the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management may

conclude that the system of quality management provides the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system

of quality management are being achieved.

An identified deficiency may have a pervasive effect on the design, implementation and operation of the system of quality

management when, for example:

. The deficiency affects several components or aspects of the system of quality management.

. The deficiency is confined to a specific component or aspect of the system of quality management, but is
fundamental to the system of quality management.

. The deficiency affects several business units or geographical locations of the firm.

. The deficiency is confined to a business unit or geographical location, but the business unit or location affected is

fundamental to the firm overall.

. The deficiency affects a substantial portion of engagements that are of a certain type or nature.

Example of an identified deficiency that may be considered severe but not pervasive

The firm identifies a deficiency in a smaller regional office of the firm. The identified deficiency relates to
non-compliance with many firm policies or procedures. The firm determines that the culture in the regional office,
particularly the actions and behavior of leadership in the regional office which were overly focused on financial priorities,
has contributed to the root cause of the identified deficiency. The firm determines that the effect of the identified
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deficiency is:

e Severe, because it relates to the culture of the regional office and overall compliance with firm policies or procedures;
and

e Not pervasive, because it is limited to the smaller regional office.

A193. The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management may conclude
that the system of quality management does not provide the firm with reasonable assurance that the objectives of the system
of quality management are being achieved in circumstances when identified deficiencies are severe and pervasive,
actions taken to remediate the identified deficiencies are not appropriate, and the effect of the identified deficiencies have not
been appropriately corrected.

Example of an identified deficiency that may be considered severe and pervasive

The firm identifies a deficiency in a regional office, which is the largest office of the firm and provides financial,
operational and technical support for the entire region. The identified deficiency relates to non-compliance with many
firm policies or procedures. The firm determines that the culture in the regional office, particularly the actions and
behavior of leadership in the regional office which were overly focused on financial priorities, has contributed to the root
cause of the identified deficiency. The firm determines that the effect of the identified deficiency is:

e Severe, because it relates to the culture of the regional office and overall compliance with firm policies or procedures;
and

e Pervasive, because the regional office is the largest office and provides support to many other offices, and the
non-compliance with firm policies or procedures may have had a broader effect on the other offices.

A194. Tt may take time for the firm to remediate identified deficiencies that are severe and pervasive. As the firm continues to take
action to remediate the identified deficiencies, the pervasiveness of the identified deficiencies may be diminished and it may
be determined that the identified deficiencies are still severe, but no longer severe and pervasive. In such cases, the
individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management may conclude that,
except for matters related to identified deficiencies that have a severe but not pervasive effect on the design, implementation
and operation of the system of quality management, the system of quality management provides the firm with reasonable
assurance that the objectives of the system of quality management are being achieved.

A195. This ISQM does not require the firm to obtain an independent assurance report on its system of quality management, or
preclude the firm from doing so.

Taking Prompt and Appropriate Action and Further Communication (Ref: Para. 55)

A196. In circumstances when the individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality
management reaches the conclusion described in paragraph 54(b) or 54(c), the prompt and appropriate action taken by the
firm may include:

° Taking measures to support the performance of engagements through assigning more resources or developing more
guidance and to confirm that reports issued by the firm are appropriate in the circumstances, until such time as the
identified deficiencies are remediated, and communicating such measures to engagement teams.

. Obtaining legal advice.

A197. In some circumstances the firm may have an independent governing body that has non-executive oversight of the firm. In
such circumstances, communications may include informing the independent governing body.

A198. Examples of circumstances when it may be appropriate for the firm to communicate to external parties about the
evaluation of the system of quality management

o When the firm belongs to a network.
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° When other network firms use the work performed by the firm, for example, in the case of a group audit.

. When a report issued by the firm is determined by the firm to be inappropriate as a result of the failure of the
system of quality management, and management or those charged with governance of the entity need to be
informed.

° When law or regulation requires the firm to communicate to an oversight authority or a regulatory body.

Performance Evaluations (Ref: Para. 56)

A199.

A200.

Periodic performance evaluations promote accountability. In considering the performance of an individual, the firm may take
into account:

. The results of the firm’s monitoring activities for aspects of the system of quality management that relate to the
responsibility of the individual. In some circumstances, the firm may set targets for the individual and measure the
results of the firm’s monitoring activities against those targets.

° The actions taken by the individual in response to identified deficiencies that relate to the responsibility of that
individual, including the timeliness and effectiveness of such actions.

Scalability examples to demonstrate how the firm may undertake the performance evaluations

o In a less complex firm, the firm may engage a service provider to perform the evaluation, or the results of the firm’s
monitoring activities may provide an indication of the performance of the individual.

o In a more complex firm, the performance evaluations may be undertaken by an independent non-executive member
of the firm’s governing body, or a special committee overseen by the firm’s governing body.

A positive performance evaluation may be rewarded through compensation, promotion and other incentives that focus on the
individual’s commitment to quality, and reinforce accountability. On the other hand, the firm may take corrective actions to
address a negative performance evaluation that may affect the firm’s achievement of its quality objectives.

Public Sector Considerations

A201.

In the case of the public sector, it may not be practicable to perform a performance evaluation of the individual(s) assigned
ultimate responsibility and accountability for the system of quality management, or to take actions to address the results of
the performance evaluation, given the nature of the individual’s appointment. Nevertheless, performance evaluations may
still be undertaken for other individuals in the firm who are assigned operational responsibility for aspects of the system of
quality management.

Documentation (Ref: Para. 57-59)

A202.

A203.

ISQM 1

Documentation provides evidence that the firm complies with this ISQM, as well as law, regulation or relevant ethical
requirements. It may also be useful for training personnel and engagement teams, ensuring the retention of organizational
knowledge and providing a history of the basis for decisions made by the firm about its system of quality management. It is
neither necessary nor practicable for the firm to document every matter considered, or judgment made, about its system of
quality management. Furthermore, compliance with this ISQM may be evidenced by the firm through its information and
communication component, documents or other written materials, or IT applications that are integral to the components of
the system of quality management.

Documentation may take the form of formal written manuals, checklists and forms, may be informally documented (e.g.,
e-mail communication or postings on websites), or may be held in IT applications or other digital forms (e.g., in databases).
Factors that may affect the firm’s judgments about the form, content and extent of documentation, including how often
documentation is updated, may include:

. The complexity of the firm and the number of offices;
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° The nature and complexity of the firm’s practice and organization;
. The nature of engagements the firm performs and the nature of the entities for whom engagements are performed;
° The nature and complexity of the matter being documented, such as whether it relates to an aspect of the system of

quality management that has changed or an area of greater quality risk, and the complexity of the judgments relating
to the matter; and

. The frequency and extent of changes in the system of quality management.

In a less complex firm, it may not be necessary to have documentation supporting matters communicated because informal
communication methods may be effective. Nevertheless, a less complex firm may determine it appropriate to document such
communications in order to provide evidence that they occurred.

In some instances, an external oversight authority may establish documentation requirements, either formally or informally,
for example, as a result of the outcome of external inspection findings. Relevant ethical requirements may also include
specific requirements addressing documentation, for example, the IESBA Code requires documentation of particular matters,
including certain situations related to conflicts of interest, non-compliance with laws and regulations and independence.

The firm is not required to document the consideration of every condition, event, circumstance, action or inaction for each
quality objective, or each risk that may give rise to a quality risk. However, in documenting the quality risks and how the
firm’s responses address the quality risks, the firm may document the reasons for the assessment given to the quality risks
(i.e., the considered occurrence and effect on the achievement of one or more quality objectives), in order to support the
consistent implementation and operation of the responses.

The documentation may be provided by the network, other network firms, or other structures or organizations within the
network.
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Introduction
Scope of this ISQM

1.

This International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM) deals with:
(a) The appointment and eligibility of the engagement quality reviewer; and

(b) The engagement quality reviewer’s responsibilities relating to the performance and documentation of an
engagement quality review.

2. This ISQM applies to all engagements for which an engagement quality review is required to be performed in accordance
with ISQM 1.! This ISQM is premised on the basis that the firm is subject to ISQM 1 or to national requirements that are at
least as demanding. This ISQM is to be read in conjunction with relevant ethical requirements.

3. An engagement quality review performed in accordance with this ISQM is a specified response that is designed and
implemented by the firm in accordance with ISQM 1.2 The performance of an engagement quality review is undertaken at
the engagement level by the engagement quality reviewer on behalf of the firm.

Scalability

4. The nature, timing and extent of the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures required by this ISQM vary depending on

the nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity. For example, the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures
would likely be less extensive for engagements involving fewer significant judgments made by the engagement team.

The Firm’s System of Quality Management and Role of Engagement Quality Reviews

5.

ISQM 1 establishes the firm’s responsibilities for its system of quality management and requires the firm to design and
implement responses to address the quality risks in a manner that is based on, and responsive to, the reasons for the
assessments given to the quality risks.> The specified responses in ISQM 1 include establishing policies or procedures
addressing engagement quality reviews in accordance with this ISQM.

The firm is responsible for designing, implementing and operating the system of quality management. Under ISQM 1,
the objective of the firm is to design, implement and operate a system of quality management for audits or reviews of
financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements performed by the firm, that provides the firm
with reasonable assurance that:

(a)  The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and requirements; and

(b)  Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances.*

As explained in ISQM 1,° the public interest is served by the consistent performance of quality engagements. Quality
engagements are achieved through planning and performing engagements and reporting on them in accordance with
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Achieving the objectives of those standards and
complying with the requirements of applicable law or regulation involves exercising professional judgment and, when
applicable to the type of engagement, exercising professional skepticism.

An engagement quality review is an objective evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and
the conclusions reached thereon. The engagement quality reviewer’s evaluation of significant judgments is performed in
the context of professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. However, an engagement quality
review is not intended to be an evaluation of whether the entire engagement complies with professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, or with the firm’s policies or procedures.

The engagement quality reviewer is not a member of the engagement team. The performance of an engagement quality
review does not change the responsibilities of the engagement partner for managing and achieving quality on the engagement,
or for the direction and supervision of the members of the engagement team and the review of their work. The engagement

International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM) 1 (Previously International Standard on Quality Control 1), Quality Management for Firms that
Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements, paragraph 34(f)

ISQM 1, paragraph 34(f)
ISQM 1, paragraph 26
ISQM 1, paragraph 14
ISQM 1, paragraph 15
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quality reviewer is not required to obtain evidence to support the opinion or conclusion on the engagement, but the
engagement team may obtain further evidence in responding to matters raised during the engagement quality review.

Authority of this ISQM

10. This ISQM contains the objective for the firm in following this ISQM, and requirements designed to enable the firm and
the engagement quality reviewer to meet that stated objective. In addition, this ISQM contains related guidance in the
form of application and other explanatory material and introductory material that provides context relevant to a proper
understanding of this ISQM, and definitions. ISQM 1° explains the terms objective, requirements, application and other
explanatory material, introductory material, and definitions.

Effective Date
11. This ISQM is effective for:
(a)  Audits and reviews of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2022; and

(b)  Other assurance and related services engagements beginning on or after December 15, 2022.

Objective

12. The objective of the firm, through appointing an eligible engagement quality reviewer, is to perform an objective
evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and the conclusions reached thereon.

Definitions
13. For purposes of this ISQM, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(a) Engagement quality review — An objective evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team
and the conclusions reached thereon, performed by the engagement quality reviewer and completed on or before the
date of the engagement report.

(b) Engagement quality reviewer — A partner, other individual in the firm, or an external individual, appointed by the
firm to perform the engagement quality review.

(c) Relevant ethical requirements — Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are applicable to a
professional accountant when undertaking the engagement quality review. Relevant ethical requirements
ordinarily comprise the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code)
related to audits or reviews of financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements, together
with national requirements that are more restrictive. (Ref: Para. A12—-A15)

Requirements

Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements

14. The firm and the engagement quality reviewer shall have an understanding of this ISQM, including the application and
other explanatory material, to understand the objective of this ISQM and to properly apply the requirements relevant to
them.

15. The firm or the engagement quality reviewer, as applicable, shall comply with each requirement of this ISQM, unless the

requirement is not relevant in the circumstances of the engagement.

16. The proper application of the requirements is expected to provide a sufficient basis for the achievement of the objective of
this standard. However, if the firm or the engagement quality reviewer determines that the application of the relevant
requirements does not provide a sufficient basis for the achievement of the objective of this standard, the firm or the
engagement quality reviewer, as applicable, shall take further actions to achieve the objective.

Appointment and Eligibility of Engagement Quality Reviewers

17. The firm shall establish policies or procedures that require the assignment of responsibility for the appointment of
engagement quality reviewers to an individual(s) with the competence, capabilities and appropriate authority within the
firm to fulfill the responsibility. Those policies or procedures shall require such individual(s) to appoint the engagement

¢ ISQM 1, paragraphs 12 and A6-A9
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quality reviewer. (Ref: Para. A1-A3)

The firm shall establish policies or procedures that set forth the criteria for eligibility to be appointed as an engagement
quality reviewer. Those policies or procedures shall require that the engagement quality reviewer not be a member of the
engagement team, and: (Ref: Para. A4)

(a) Has the competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, and the appropriate authority to perform the
engagement quality review; (Ref: Para. AS-Al11)

(b) Complies with relevant ethical requirements, including in relation to threats to objectivity and independence of the
engagement quality reviewer; and (Ref: Para. A12-A15)

(¢) Complies with provisions of law and regulation, if any, that are relevant to the eligibility of the engagement quality
reviewer. (Ref: Para. A16)

The firm’s policies or procedures established in accordance with paragraph 18(b) shall also address threats to objectivity
created by an individual being appointed as an engagement quality reviewer after previously serving as the engagement
partner. Such policies or procedures shall specify a cooling-off period of two years, or a longer period if required by
relevant ethical requirements, before the engagement partner can assume the role of engagement quality reviewer. (Ref:
Para. A17-A18)

The firm shall establish policies or procedures that set forth the criteria for eligibility of individuals who assist the
engagement quality reviewer. Those policies or procedures shall require that such individuals not be members of the
engagement team, and:

(a) Have the competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform the duties assigned to them; and (Ref:
Para. A19)

(b) Comply with relevant ethical requirements, including in relation to threats to their objectivity and independence and,
if applicable, the provisions of law and regulation. (Ref: Para. A20—A21)

The firm shall establish policies or procedures that:

(a) Require the engagement quality reviewer to take overall responsibility for the performance of the engagement
quality review; and

(b)  Address the engagement quality reviewer’s responsibility for determining the nature, timing and extent of the
direction and supervision of the individuals assisting in the review, and the review of their work. (Ref: Para. A22)

Impairment of the Engagement Quality Reviewer’s Eligibility to Perform the Engagement Quality Review

22.

23.

The firm shall establish policies or procedures that address circumstances in which the engagement quality reviewer’s
eligibility to perform the engagement quality review is impaired and the appropriate actions to be taken by the firm,
including the process for identifying and appointing a replacement in such circumstances. (Ref: Para. A23)

When the engagement quality reviewer becomes aware of circumstances that impair the engagement quality reviewer’s
eligibility, the engagement quality reviewer shall notify the appropriate individual(s) in the firm, and: (Ref: Para. A24)

(a)  If the engagement quality review has not commenced, decline the appointment to perform the engagement quality
review; or

(b) If the engagement quality review has commenced, discontinue the performance of the engagement quality review.

Performance of the Engagement Quality Review

24.

The firm shall establish policies or procedures regarding the performance of the engagement quality review that address:

(a) The engagement quality reviewer’s responsibilities to perform procedures in accordance with paragraphs 25-26 at
appropriate points in time during the engagement to provide an appropriate basis for an objective evaluation of the
significant judgments made by the engagement team and the conclusions reached thereon;

(b) The responsibilities of the engagement partner in relation to the engagement quality review, including that the
engagement partner is precluded from dating the engagement report until notification has been received from the
engagement quality reviewer in accordance with paragraph 27 that the engagement quality review is complete; and
(Ref: Para. A25-A26)

(¢) Circumstances when the nature and extent of engagement team discussions with the engagement quality reviewer
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about a significant judgment give rise to a threat to the objectivity of the engagement quality reviewer, and
appropriate actions to take in these circumstances. (Ref: Para. A27)

In performing the engagement quality review, the engagement quality reviewer shall: (Ref: Para. A28—A33)
(a) Read, and obtain an understanding of, information communicated by: (Ref: Para. A34)
(i) The engagement team regarding the nature and circumstances of the engagement and the entity; and

(ii))  The firm related to the firm’s monitoring and remediation process, in particular identified deficiencies that
may relate to, or affect, the areas involving significant judgments made by the engagement team.

(b) Discuss with the engagement partner and, if applicable, other members of the engagement team, significant matters
and significant judgments made in planning, performing and reporting on the engagement. (Ref: Para. A35-A38)

(c) Based on the information obtained in (a) and (b), review selected engagement documentation relating to the
significant judgments made by the engagement team and evaluate: (Ref: Para. A39-A43)

(1)  The basis for making those significant judgments, including, when applicable to the type of engagement, the
exercise of professional skepticism by the engagement team;

(i)  Whether the engagement documentation supports the conclusions reached; and
(iii)  Whether the conclusions reached are appropriate.

(d) For audits of financial statements, evaluate the basis for the engagement partner’s determination that relevant ethical
requirements relating to independence have been fulfilled. (Ref: Para. A44)

(e) Evaluate whether appropriate consultation has taken place on difficult or contentious matters or matters involving
differences of opinion and the conclusions arising from those consultations. (Ref: Para. A45)

(f) For audits of financial statements, evaluate the basis for the engagement partner’s determination that the
engagement partner’s involvement has been sufficient and appropriate throughout the audit engagement such that
the engagement partner has the basis for determining that the significant judgments made and the conclusions
reached are appropriate given the nature and circumstances of the engagement. (Ref: Para. A46)

(g) Review:

(i)  For audits of financial statements, the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, including, if
applicable, the description of the key audit matters; (Ref: Para. A47)

(il))  For review engagements, the financial statements or financial information and the engagement report
thereon; or (Ref: Para. A47)

(iii)  For other assurance and related services engagements, the engagement report, and when applicable, the
subject matter information. (Ref: Para. A48)

The engagement quality reviewer shall notify the engagement partner if the engagement quality reviewer has concerns that
the significant judgments made by the engagement team, or the conclusions reached thereon, are not appropriate. If such
concerns are not resolved to the engagement quality reviewer’s satisfaction, the engagement quality reviewer shall notify
an appropriate individual(s) in the firm that the engagement quality review cannot be completed. (Ref: Para. A49)

Completion of the Engagement Quality Review

27. The engagement quality reviewer shall determine whether the requirements in this ISQM with respect to the performance
of the engagement quality review have been fulfilled, and whether the engagement quality review is complete. If so, the
engagement quality reviewer shall notify the engagement partner that the engagement quality review is complete.

Documentation

28. The firm shall establish policies or procedures that require the engagement quality reviewer to take responsibility for
documentation of the engagement quality review. (Ref: Para. A50)

209. The firm shall establish policies or procedures that require documentation of the engagement quality review in accordance
with paragraph 30, and that such documentation be included with the engagement documentation.

30. The engagement quality reviewer shall determine that the documentation of the engagement quality review is sufficient to
enable an experienced practitioner, having no previous connection with the engagement, to understand the nature, timing
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and extent of the procedures performed by the engagement quality reviewer and, when applicable, individuals who assisted
the reviewer, and the conclusions reached in performing the review. The engagement quality reviewer also shall determine
that the documentation of the engagement quality review includes: (Ref: Para. A51-A53)

(a) The names of the engagement quality reviewer and individuals who assisted with the engagement quality review;
(b)  An identification of the engagement documentation reviewed;

(c) The basis for the engagement quality reviewer’s determination in accordance with paragraph 27;

(d) The notifications required in accordance with paragraphs 26 and 27; and

(e)  The date of completion of the engagement quality review.

sk

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Appointment and Eligibility of Engagement Quality Reviewers

Assignment of Responsibility for the Appointment of Engagement Quality Reviewers (Ref: Para. 17)

Al.

A2.

A3.

Competence and capabilities that are relevant to an individual’s ability to fulfill responsibility for the appointment of the
engagement quality reviewer may include appropriate knowledge about:

. The responsibilities of an engagement quality reviewer;
. The criteria in paragraphs 18 and 19 regarding the eligibility of engagement quality reviewers; and
. The nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity subject to an engagement quality review, including the

composition of the engagement team.

The firm’s policies or procedures may specify that the individual responsible for the appointment of engagement quality
reviewers not be a member of the engagement team for which an engagement quality review is to be performed. However, in
certain circumstances (e.g., in the case of a smaller firm or a sole practitioner), it may not be practicable for an individual
other than a member of the engagement team to appoint the engagement quality reviewer.

The firm may assign more than one individual to be responsible for appointing engagement quality reviewers. For example,
the firm’s policies or procedures may specify a different process for appointing engagement quality reviewers for audits of
listed entities than for audits of non-listed entities or other engagements, with different individuals responsible for each
process.

Eligibility of the Engagement Quality Reviewer (Ref: Para. 18)

A4,

In some circumstances, for example, in the case of a smaller firm or a sole practitioner, there may not be a partner or other
individual in the firm who is eligible to perform the engagement quality review. In these circumstances, the firm may contract
with, or obtain the services of, individuals external to the firm to perform the engagement quality review. An individual
external to the firm may be a partner or an employee of a network firm, a structure or an organization within the firm’s
network, or a service provider. When using such an individual, the provisions in ISQM 1 addressing network requirements or
network services or service providers apply.

Eligibility Criteria for the Engagement Quality Reviewer

Competence and Capabilities, Including Sufficient Time (Ref: Para. 18(a))

AS.

ISQM 1 describes characteristics related to competence, including the integration and application of technical competence,
professional skills, and professional ethics, values and attitudes.” Matters that the firm may consider in determining that an
individual has the necessary competence to perform an engagement quality review include, for example:

. An understanding of professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements and of the firm’s
policies or procedures relevant to the engagement;

. Knowledge of the entity’s industry;

7

ISQM 1, paragraph A88
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° An understanding of, and experience relevant to, engagements of a similar nature and complexity; and

° An understanding of the responsibilities of the engagement quality reviewer in performing and documenting the
engagement quality review, which may be attained or enhanced by receiving relevant training from the firm.

A6. The conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions considered by the firm in determining that an engagement quality
review is an appropriate response to address one or more quality risk(s)® may be an important consideration in the firm’s
determination of the competence and capabilities required to perform the engagement quality review for that engagement. Other
considerations that the firm may take into account in determining whether the engagement quality reviewer has the competence
and capabilities, including sufficient time, needed to evaluate the significant judgments made by the engagement team and the
conclusions reached thereon include, for example:

. The nature of the entity.
. The specialization and complexity of the industry or regulatory environment in which the entity operates.
. The extent to which the engagement relates to matters requiring specialized expertise (e.g., with respect to

information technology (IT) or specialized areas of accounting or auditing), or scientific and engineering expertise,
such as may be needed for certain assurance engagements. Also see paragraph A19.

A7. Inevaluating the competence and capabilities of an individual who may be appointed as an engagement quality reviewer, the
findings arising from the firm’s monitoring activities (e.g., findings from the inspection of engagements for which the
individual was an engagement team member or engagement quality reviewer) or the results of external inspections may also
be relevant considerations.

AS8. A lack of appropriate competence or capabilities affects the ability of the engagement quality reviewer to exercise
appropriate professional judgment in performing the review. For example, an engagement quality reviewer who lacks
relevant industry experience may not possess the ability or confidence necessary to evaluate and, where appropriate,
challenge significant judgments made, and the exercise of professional skepticism, by the engagement team on a complex,
industry-specific accounting or auditing matter.

Appropriate Authority (Ref: Para. 18(a))

A9. Actions at the firm level help to establish the authority of the engagement quality reviewer. For example, by creating a culture
of respect for the role of the engagement quality reviewer, the engagement quality reviewer is less likely to experience
pressure from the engagement partner or other personnel to inappropriately influence the outcome of the engagement quality
review. In some cases, the engagement quality reviewer’s authority may be enhanced by the firm’s policies or procedures to
address differences of opinion, which may include actions the engagement quality reviewer may take when a disagreement
occurs between the engagement quality reviewer and the engagement team.

A10. The authority of the engagement quality reviewer may be diminished when:

. The culture within the firm promotes respect for authority only of personnel at a higher level of hierarchy within the
firm.
. The engagement quality reviewer has a reporting line to the engagement partner, for example, when the engagement

partner holds a leadership position in the firm or is responsible for determining the compensation of the engagement
quality reviewer.

Public Sector Considerations

All. In the public sector, an auditor (e.g., an Auditor General, or other suitably qualified individual appointed on behalf of the
Auditor General) may act in a role equivalent to that of the engagement partner with overall responsibility for public sector
audits. In such circumstances, the selection of the engagement quality reviewer may include consideration of the need for
independence and the ability of the engagement quality reviewer to provide an objective evaluation.

Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 13(c), 18(b))

A12. The relevant ethical requirements that are applicable when undertaking an engagement quality review may vary, depending
on the nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity. Various provisions of relevant ethical requirements may
apply only to individual professional accountants, such as an engagement quality reviewer, and not the firm itself.

8 ISQM 1, paragraph A134
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Relevant ethical requirements may include specific independence requirements that would apply to individual
professional accountants, such as an engagement quality reviewer. Relevant ethical requirements may also include
provisions that address threats to independence created by long association with an audit or assurance client. The
application of any such provisions dealing with long association is distinct from, but may need to be taken into
consideration in applying, the required cooling-off period in accordance with paragraph 19.

Threats to the objectivity of the engagement quality reviewer

Al4.

AlS.

Threats to the engagement quality reviewer’s objectivity may be created by a broad range of facts and circumstances. For
example:

. A self-review threat may be created when the engagement quality reviewer previously was involved with significant
judgments made by the engagement team, in particular as the engagement partner or other engagement team
member.

. A familiarity or self-interest threat may arise when the engagement quality reviewer is a close or immediate family

member of the engagement partner or another member of the engagement team, or through close personal
relationships with members of the engagement team.

. An intimidation threat may be created when actual or perceived pressure is exerted on the engagement quality
reviewer (e.g., when the engagement partner is an aggressive or dominant individual, or the engagement quality
reviewer has a reporting line to the engagement partner).

Relevant ethical requirements may include requirements and guidance to identify, evaluate and address threats to objectivity.
For example, the IESBA Code provides specific guidance, including examples of:

. Circumstances where threats to objectivity may be created when a professional accountant is appointed as an
engagement quality reviewer;

. Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of such threats; and

. Actions, including safeguards, that might address such threats.

Law or Regulation Relevant to the Eligibility of the Engagement Quality Reviewer (Ref: Para. 18(c))

Al6.

Law or regulation may prescribe additional requirements regarding the eligibility of the engagement quality reviewer. For
example, in some jurisdictions, the engagement quality reviewer may need to possess certain qualifications or be licensed to
be able to perform the engagement quality review.

Cooling-Off Period for an Individual After Previously Serving as the Engagement Partner (Ref: Para. 19)

Al7.

Al8.

In recurring engagements, the matters on which significant judgments are made often do not vary. Therefore, significant
judgments made in prior periods may continue to affect judgments of the engagement team in subsequent periods. The ability
of an engagement quality reviewer to perform an objective evaluation of significant judgments is therefore affected when the
individual was previously involved with those judgments as the engagement partner. In such circumstances, it is important
that appropriate safeguards are put in place to reduce threats to objectivity, in particular the self-review threat, to an
acceptable level. Accordingly, this ISQM requires the firm to establish policies or procedures that specify a cooling-off
period during which the engagement partner is precluded from being appointed as the engagement quality reviewer.

The firm’s policies or procedures also may address whether a cooling-off period is appropriate for an individual other than the
engagement partner before becoming eligible to be appointed as the engagement quality reviewer on that engagement. In this
regard, the firm may consider the nature of that individual’s role and previous involvement with the significant judgments
made on the engagement. For example, the firm may determine that an engagement partner responsible for the performance of
audit procedures on the financial information of a component in a group audit engagement may not be eligible to be appointed
as the group engagement quality reviewer because of that audit partner’s involvement in the significant judgments affecting
the group audit engagement.

Circumstances When the Engagement Quality Reviewer Uses Assistants (Ref: Para. 20-21)

A109.

In certain circumstances, it may be appropriate for the engagement quality reviewer to be assisted by an individual or team of
individuals with the relevant expertise. For example, highly specialized knowledge, skills or expertise may be useful for
understanding certain transactions undertaken by the entity to help the engagement quality reviewer evaluate the significant
judgments made by the engagement team related to those transactions.
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A20. The guidance in paragraph A14 may be helpful to the firm when establishing policies or procedures that address threats to
objectivity of individuals who assist the engagement quality reviewer.

A21. When the engagement quality reviewer is assisted by an individual external to the firm, the assistant’s responsibilities,
including those related to compliance with relevant ethical requirements, may be set out in the contract or other agreement
between the firm and the assistant.

A22. The firm’s policies or procedures may include responsibilities of the engagement quality reviewer to:

. Consider whether assistants understand their instructions and whether the work is being carried out in accordance
with the planned approach to the engagement quality review; and

. Address matters raised by assistants, considering their significance and modifying the planned approach
appropriately.

Impairment of the Engagement Quality Reviewer’s Eligibility to Perform the Engagement Quality Review (Ref: Para. 22-23)

A23. Factors that may be relevant to the firm in considering whether the eligibility of the engagement quality reviewer to perform
the engagement quality review is impaired include:

. Whether changes in the circumstances of the engagement result in the engagement quality reviewer no longer
having the appropriate competence and capabilities to perform the review;

. Whether changes in the other responsibilities of the engagement quality reviewer indicate that the individual no
longer has sufficient time to perform the review; or

. Notification from the engagement quality reviewer in accordance with paragraph 23.

A24. In circumstances in which the engagement quality reviewer’s eligibility to perform the engagement quality review becomes
impaired, the firm’s policies or procedures may set out a process by which alternative eligible individuals are identified. The
firm’s policies or procedures may also address the responsibility of the individual appointed to replace the engagement
quality reviewer to perform procedures sufficient to fulfill the requirements of this ISQM with respect to the performance of
the engagement quality review. Such policies or procedures may further address the need for consultation in such
circumstances.

Performance of the Engagement Quality Review (Ref: Para. 24-27)
Engagement Partner Responsibilities in Relation to the Engagement Quality Review (Ref: Para. 24(b))

A25. TISA 220 (Revised)’ establishes the requirements for the engagement partner in audit engagements for which an engagement
quality review is required, including:

° Determining that an engagement quality reviewer has been appointed;

. Cooperating with the engagement quality reviewer and informing other members of the engagement team of their
responsibility to do so;

. Discussing significant matters and significant judgments arising during the audit engagement, including those
identified during the engagement quality review, with the engagement quality reviewer; and

° Not dating the auditor’s report until the completion of the engagement quality review.

A26. ISAE 3000 (Revised)'* also establishes requirements for the engagement partner in relation to the engagement quality
review.

Discussions Between the Engagement Quality Reviewer and the Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 24(c))

A27. Frequent communication between the engagement team and engagement quality reviewer throughout the engagement may
assist in facilitating an effective and timely engagement quality review. However, a threat to the objectivity of the
engagement quality reviewer may be created depending on the timing and extent of the discussions with the engagement
team about a significant judgment. The firm’s policies or procedures may set out the actions to be taken by the engagement
quality reviewer or the engagement team to avoid situations in which the engagement quality reviewer is, or may be

International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 220 (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 36

International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, paragraph 36
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perceived to be, making decisions on behalf of the engagement team. For example, in these circumstances the firm may
require consultation about such significant judgments with other relevant personnel in accordance with the firm’s
consultation policies or procedures.

Procedures Performed by the Engagement Quality Reviewer (Ref: Para. 25-27)

A28.

A29.

A30.

A3l.

The firm’s policies or procedures may specify the nature, timing and extent of the procedures performed by the engagement
quality reviewer and also may emphasize the importance of the engagement quality reviewer exercising professional
judgment in performing the review.

The timing of the procedures performed by the engagement quality reviewer may depend on the nature and circumstances of
the engagement or the entity, including the nature of the matters subject to the review. Timely review of the engagement
documentation by the engagement quality reviewer throughout all stages of the engagement (e.g., planning, performing and
reporting) allows matters to be promptly resolved to the engagement quality reviewer’s satisfaction, on or before the date of
the engagement report. For example, the engagement quality reviewer may perform procedures in relation to the overall
strategy and plan for the engagement at the completion of the planning phase. Timely performance of the engagement quality
review also may reinforce the exercise of professional judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement,
professional skepticism, by the engagement team in planning and performing the engagement.

The nature and extent of the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures for a specific engagement may depend on, among
other factors:

° The reasons for the assessments given to quality risks,'! for example, engagements performed for entities in
emerging industries or with complex transactions.

. Identified deficiencies, and the remedial actions to address the identified deficiencies, related to the firm’s
monitoring and remediation process, and any related guidance issued by the firm, which may indicate areas where
more extensive procedures need to be performed by the engagement quality reviewer.

. The complexity of the engagement.

. The nature and size of the entity, including whether the entity is a listed entity.

. Findings relevant to the engagement, such as the results of inspections undertaken by an external oversight
authority in a prior period, or other concerns raised about the quality of the work of the engagement team.

. Information obtained from the firm’s acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific engagements.

. For assurance engagements, the engagement team’s identification and assessment of, and responses to, risks of

material misstatement in the engagement.

. Whether members of the engagement team have cooperated with the engagement quality reviewer. The firm’s
policies or procedures may address the actions the engagement quality reviewer takes in circumstances when the
engagement team has not cooperated with the engagement quality reviewer, for example, informing an appropriate
individual in the firm so appropriate action can be taken to resolve the issue.

The nature, timing and extent of the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures may need to change based on circumstances
encountered in performing the engagement quality review.

Group Audit Considerations

A32.

A33.

The performance of an engagement quality review for an audit of group financial statements may involve additional
considerations for the individual appointed as the engagement quality reviewer for the group audit, depending on the size and
complexity of the group. Paragraph 21(a) requires the firm’s policies or procedures to require the engagement quality
reviewer to take overall responsibility for the performance of the engagement quality review. In doing so, for larger and more
complex group audits, the group engagement quality reviewer may need to discuss significant matters and significant
judgments with key members of the engagement team other than the group engagement team (e.g., those responsible for
performing audit procedures on the financial information of a component). In these circumstances, the engagement quality
reviewer may be assisted by individuals in accordance with paragraph 20. The guidance in paragraph A22 may be helpful
when the engagement quality reviewer for the group audit is using assistants.

In some cases, an engagement quality reviewer may be appointed for an audit of an entity or business unit that is part of a
group, for example, when such an audit is required by law, regulation or other reasons. In these circumstances,

11

ISQM 1, paragraph A49
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communication between the engagement quality reviewer for the group audit and the engagement quality reviewer for the
audit of that entity or business unit may help the group engagement quality reviewer in fulfilling the responsibilities in
accordance with paragraph 21(a). For example, this may be the case when the entity or business unit has been identified as a
component for purposes of the group audit and significant judgments related to the group audit have been made at the
component level.

Information Communicated by the Engagement Team and the Firm (Ref: Para. 25(a))

A34. Obtaining an understanding of information communicated by the engagement team and the firm in accordance with
paragraph 25(a) may assist the engagement quality reviewer in understanding the significant judgments that may be expected
for the engagement. Such an understanding may also provide the engagement quality reviewer with a basis for discussions
with the engagement team about the significant matters and significant judgments made in planning, performing and
reporting on the engagement. For example, a deficiency identified by the firm may relate to significant judgments made by
other engagement teams for certain accounting estimates for a particular industry. When this is the case, such information
may be relevant to the significant judgments made on the engagement with respect to those accounting estimates, and
therefore may provide the engagement quality reviewer with a basis for discussions with the engagement team in accordance
with paragraph 25(b).

Significant Matters and Significant Judgments (Ref: Para. 25(b)-25(c))

A35. For audits of financial statements, ISA 220 (Revised)'? requires the engagement partner to review audit documentation
relating to significant matters'® and significant judgments, including those relating to difficult or contentious matters
identified during the engagement, and the conclusions reached.

A36. For audits of financial statements, ISA 220 (Revised)'# provides examples of significant judgments that may be identified by
the engagement partner related to the overall audit strategy and audit plan for undertaking the engagement, the execution of
the engagement and the overall conclusions reached by the engagement team.

A37. For engagements other than audits of financial statements, the significant judgments made by the engagement team may
depend on the nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity. For example, in an assurance engagement performed
in accordance with ISAE 3000 (Revised), the engagement team’s determination of whether the criteria to be applied in the
preparation of the subject matter information are suitable for the engagement may involve or require significant judgment.

A38. In performing the engagement quality review, the engagement quality reviewer may become aware of other areas where
significant judgments would have been expected to be made by the engagement team for which further information may be
needed about the engagement team’s procedures performed or the basis for conclusions reached. In those circumstances,
discussions with the engagement quality reviewer may result in the engagement team concluding that additional procedures
need to be performed.

A39. The information obtained in accordance with paragraphs 25(a) and 25(b), and the review of selected engagement
documentation, assists the engagement quality reviewer in evaluating the engagement team’s basis for making the significant
judgments. Other considerations that may be relevant to the engagement quality reviewer’s evaluation include, for example:

. Remaining alert to changes in the nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity that may result in
changes in the significant judgments made by the engagement team;

. Applying an unbiased view in evaluating responses from the engagement team; and

. Following up on inconsistencies identified in reviewing engagement documentation, or inconsistent responses by

the engagement team to questions relating to the significant judgments made.

A40. The firm’s policies or procedures may specify engagement documentation to be reviewed by the engagement quality
reviewer. In addition, such policies or procedures may indicate that the engagement quality reviewer exercises
professional judgment in selecting additional engagement documentation to be reviewed relating to significant
judgments made by the engagement team.

A41. Discussions about significant judgments with the engagement partner, and if applicable, other members of the engagement
team, together with the engagement team’s documentation, may assist the engagement quality reviewer in evaluating the
exercise of professional skepticism, when applicable to the engagement, by the engagement team in relation to those

12 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 31
13 ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraph 8(c)
4 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph A92
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significant judgments.

For audits of financial statements, ISA 220 (Revised)'® provides examples of the impediments to the exercise of
professional skepticism at the engagement level, unconscious auditor biases that may impede the exercise of professional
skepticism, and possible actions that the engagement team may take to mitigate impediments to the exercise of professional
skepticism at the engagement level.

For audits of financial statements, the requirements and relevant application material in ISA 315 (Revised 2019),'¢ ISA 540
(Revised)!” and other ISAs also provide examples of areas in an audit where the auditor exercises professional skepticism, or
examples of where appropriate documentation may help provide evidence about how the auditor exercised professional
skepticism. Such guidance may also assist the engagement quality reviewer in evaluating the exercise of professional
skepticism by the engagement team.

Whether Relevant Ethical Requirements Relating to Independence Have Been -Fulfilled (Ref: Para. 25(d))

Ad4.

ISA 220 (Revised)'® requires the engagement partner, prior to dating the auditor’s report, to take responsibility for
determining whether relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence, have been fulfilled.

Whether Consultation Has Taken Place on Difficult or Contentious Matters or Matters Involving Differences of Opinion (Ref: Para.

25(e))
A4s.

ISQM 1'° addresses consultation on difficult or contentious matters and differences of opinion within the engagement team,
or between the engagement team and the engagement quality reviewer or individuals performing activities within the firm’s
system of quality management.

Sufficient and Appropriate Involvement of the Engagement Partner on the -Engagement (Ref: Para. 25(f))

A46.

ISA 220 (Revised)® requires the engagement partner to determine, prior to dating the auditor’s report, that the
engagement partner’s involvement has been sufficient and appropriate throughout the audit engagement such that the
engagement partner has the basis for determining that the significant judgments made and the conclusions reached are
appropriate given the nature and circumstances of the engagement. ISA 220 (Revised)?' also indicates that the
documentation of the involvement of the engagement partner may be accomplished in different ways. Discussions with the
engagement team, and review of such engagement documentation, may assist the engagement quality reviewer’s
evaluation of the basis for the engagement partner’s determination that the engagement partner’s involvement has been
sufficient and appropriate.

Review of Financial Statements and Engagement Reports (Ref: Para. 25(g))

A47.

A48.

For audits of financial statements, the engagement quality reviewer’s review of the financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon may include consideration of whether the presentation and disclosure of matters relating to the significant judgments
made by the engagement team are consistent with the engagement quality reviewer’s understanding of those matters based on
the review of selected engagement documentation, and discussions with the engagement team. In reviewing the financial
statements, the engagement quality reviewer may also become aware of other areas where significant judgments would have
been expected to be made by the engagement team for which further information may be needed about the engagement
team’s procedures or conclusions. The guidance in this paragraph also applies to review engagements, and the related
engagement report.

For other assurance and related services engagements, the engagement quality reviewer’s review of the engagement report
and, when applicable, the subject matter information may include considerations similar to those described in paragraph A47
(e.g., whether the presentation or description of matters relating to the significant judgments made by the engagement team
are consistent with the engagement quality reviewer’s understanding based on the procedures performed in connection with
the review).

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs A34-A36

ISA 315 (Revised 2019), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, paragraph A238
ISA 540 (Revised), Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures, paragraph Al1

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 21

ISQM 1, paragraphs 31(d), 31(e) and A79-A82

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 40(a)

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph A118
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Unresolved Concerns of the Engagement Quality Reviewer (Ref: Para. 26)

A49.

The firm’s policies or procedures may specify the individual(s) in the firm to be notified if the engagement quality reviewer
has unresolved concerns that the significant judgments made by the engagement team, or the conclusions reached thereon,
are not appropriate. Such individual(s) may include the individual assigned the responsibility for the appointment of
engagement quality reviewers. With respect to such unresolved concerns, the firm’s policies or procedures may also require
consultation within or outside the firm (e.g., a professional or regulatory body).

Documentation (Ref: Para. 28-30)

AS50.

AS1.

AS2.

AS3.

ISQM 2

Paragraphs 57 to 60 of ISQM 1 address the firm’s documentation of its system of quality management. An engagement
quality review performed in accordance with this ISQM is therefore subject to the documentation requirements in ISQM 1.

The form, content and extent of the documentation of the engagement quality review may depend on factors such as:

. The nature and complexity of the engagement;

. The nature of the entity;

. The nature and complexity of the matters subject to the engagement quality review; and
. The extent of the engagement documentation reviewed.

The performance and notification of the completion of the engagement quality review may be documented in a number of ways.
For example, the engagement quality reviewer may document the review of engagement documentation electronically in the IT
application for the performance of the engagement. Alternatively, the engagement quality reviewer may document the review
through means of a memorandum. The engagement quality reviewer’s procedures may also be documented in other ways, for
example, in the minutes of the engagement team’s discussions where the engagement quality reviewer was present.

Paragraph 24(b) requires that the firm’s policies or procedures preclude the engagement partner from dating the engagement
report until the completion of the engagement quality review, which includes resolving matters raised by the engagement
quality reviewer. Provided that all requirements with respect to the performance of the engagement quality review have been
fulfilled, the documentation of the review may be finalized after the date of the engagement report, but before the assembly of
the final engagement file. However, firm policies or procedures may specify that the documentation of the engagement
quality review needs to be finalized on or before the date of the engagement report.
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OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR AND THE CONDUCT OF AN
AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the independent auditor’s overall responsibilities when
conducting an audit of financial statements in accordance with ISAs. Specifically, it sets out the overall objectives of the
independent auditor, and explains the nature and scope of an audit designed to enable the independent auditor to meet those
objectives. It also explains the scope, authority and structure of the ISAs, and includes requirements establishing the
general responsibilities of the independent auditor applicable in all audits, including the obligation to comply with the
ISAs. The independent auditor is referred to as “the auditor” hereafter.

2. ISAs are written in the context of an audit of financial statements by an auditor. They are to be adapted as necessary in the
circumstances when applied to audits of other historical financial information. ISAs do not address the responsibilities of
the auditor that may exist in legislation, regulation or otherwise in connection with, for example, the offering of securities
to the public. Such responsibilities may differ from those established in the ISAs. Accordingly, while the auditor may find
aspects of the ISAs helpful in such circumstances, it is the responsibility of the auditor to ensure compliance with all
relevant legal, regulatory or professional obligations.

An Audit of Financial Statements

3. The purpose of an audit is to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements. This is
achieved by the expression of an opinion by the auditor on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework. In the case of most general purpose frameworks,
that opinion is on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, or give a true and fair view
in accordance with the framework. An audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and relevant ethical requirements enables
the auditor to form that opinion. (Ref: Para. A1)

4. The financial statements subject to audit are those of the entity, prepared by management of the entity with oversight from
those charged with governance. ISAs do not impose responsibilities on management or those charged with governance and do
not override laws and regulations that govern their responsibilities. However, an audit in accordance with ISAs is conducted
on the premise that management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance have acknowledged certain
responsibilities that are fundamental to the conduct of the audit. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve
management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities. (Ref: Para. A2-A11)

5. As the basis for the auditor’s opinion, ISAs require the auditor to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance. It is obtained when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk
(that is, the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated)
to an acceptably low level. However, reasonable assurance is not an absolute level of assurance, because there are inherent
limitations of an audit which result in most of the audit evidence on which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the
auditor’s opinion being persuasive rather than conclusive. (Ref: Para. A31-A57)

6. The concept of materiality is applied by the auditor both in planning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the effect
of identified misstatements on the audit and of uncorrected misstatements, if any, on the financial statements.! In general,
misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Judgments about materiality are made in the light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the auditor’s
perception of the financial information needs of users of the financial statements, and by the size or nature of a
misstatement, or a combination of both. The auditor’s opinion deals with the financial statements as a whole and therefore
the auditor is not responsible for the detection of misstatements that are not material to the financial statements as a whole.

7. The ISAs contain objectives, requirements and application and other explanatory material that are designed to support the
auditor in obtaining reasonable assurance. The ISAs require that the auditor exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit and, among other things:

e Identify and assess risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, based on an understanding of the entity
and its environment, the applicable financial reporting framework and the entity’s system of internal control.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether material misstatements exist, through designing and
implementing appropriate responses to the assessed risks.

! ISA 320, Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit and ISA 450, Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit

101 ISA 200



OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR AND THE CONDUCT OF AN
AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

e Form an opinion on the financial statements based on conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained.

8. The form of opinion expressed by the auditor will depend upon the applicable financial reporting framework and any
applicable law or regulation. (Ref: Para. A12—-A13)

9. The auditor may also have certain other communication and reporting responsibilities to users, management, those charged
with governance, or parties outside the entity, in relation to matters arising from the audit. These may be established by the
ISAs or by applicable law or regulation.?

Effective Date

10. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

Overall Objectives of the Auditor
11. In conducting an audit of financial statements, the overall objectives of the auditor are:

(a) To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, thereby enabling the auditor to express an opinion on whether the
financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting
framework; and

(b)  To report on the financial statements, and communicate as required by the ISAs, in accordance with the auditor’s
findings.

12. In all cases when reasonable assurance cannot be obtained and a qualified opinion in the auditor’s report is insufficient in
the circumstances for purposes of reporting to the intended users of the financial statements, the ISAs require that the
auditor disclaim an opinion or withdraw (or resign)® from the engagement, where withdrawal is possible under applicable
law or regulation.

Definitions
13. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(a)  Applicable financial reporting framework — The financial reporting framework adopted by management and, where
appropriate, those charged with governance in the preparation of the financial statements that is acceptable in view
of the nature of the entity and the objective of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation.

The term “fair presentation framework”™ is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance
with the requirements of the framework and:

i) Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, it may be
necessary for management to provide disclosures beyond those specifically required by the framework; or

(i)  Acknowledges explicitly that it may be necessary for management to depart from a requirement of the framework
to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements. Such departures are expected to be necessary only in
extremely rare circumstances.

The term “compliance framework™ is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the
requirements of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgements in (i) or (ii) above.

(b)  Audit evidence — Information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is
based. Audit evidence includes both information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial
statements and other information. For purposes of the ISAs:

i) Sufficiency of audit evidence is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit
evidence needed is affected by the auditor’s assessment of the risks of material misstatement and also by the
quality of such audit evidence.

2 See, for example, ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance; and ISA 240, The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in

an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 44.

3 In the ISAs, only the term “withdrawal” is used.
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(i)  Appropriateness of audit evidence is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its
reliability in providing support for the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is based.

Audit risk — The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial statements are
materially misstated. Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk.

Auditor — The person or persons conducting the audit, usually the engagement partner or other members of the
engagement team, or, as applicable, the firm. Where an ISA expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be
fulfilled by the engagement partner, the term “engagement partner” rather than “auditor” is used. “Engagement
partner” and “firm” are to be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.

Detection risk — The risk that the procedures performed by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level
will not detect a misstatement that exists and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with
other misstatements.

Financial statements — A structured representation of historical financial information, including disclosures, intended
to communicate an entity’s economic resources or obligations at a point in time, or the changes therein for a period of
time, in accordance with a financial reporting framework. The term “financial statements” ordinarily refers to a
complete set of financial statements as determined by the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework,
but can also refer to a single financial statement. Disclosures comprise explanatory or descriptive information, set out
as required, expressly permitted or otherwise allowed by the applicable financial reporting framework, on the face of a
financial statement, or in the notes, or incorporated therein by cross-reference. (Ref: Para. A14-A15)

Historical financial information — Information expressed in financial terms in relation to a particular entity, derived
primarily from that entity’s accounting system, about economic events occurring in past time periods or about
economic conditions or circumstances at points in time in the past.

Management — The person(s) with executive responsibility for the conduct of the entity’s operations. For some
entities in some jurisdictions, management includes some or all of those charged with governance, for example,
executive members of a governance board, or an owner-manager.

Misstatement — A difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a reported financial
statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud.

Where the auditor expresses an opinion on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material
respects, or give a true and fair view, misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifications,
presentation, or disclosures that, in the auditor’s judgment, are necessary for the financial statements to be presented
fairly, in all material respects, or to give a true and fair view.

Premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, on
which an audit is conducted — That management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance have
acknowledged and understand that they have the following responsibilities that are fundamental to the conduct of an
audit in accordance with ISAs. That is, responsibility:

(i) For the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework, including, where relevant, their fair presentation;

(il)  For such internal control as management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; and

(iii)  To provide the auditor with:

Access to all information of which management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance are aware
that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;
Additional information that the auditor may request from management and, where appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and

Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

In the case of a fair presentation framework, (i) above may be restated as “for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting framework,” or “for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework.”
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The “premise, relating to the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance,
on which an audit is conducted” may also be referred to as the “premise.”

(k)  Professional judgment — The application of relevant training, knowledge and experience, within the context provided
by auditing, accounting and ethical standards, in making informed decisions about the courses of action that are
appropriate in the circumstances of the audit engagement.

(I)  Professional skepticism — An attitude that includes a questioning mind, being alert to conditions which may indicate
possible misstatement due to error or fraud, and a critical assessment of audit evidence.

(m) Reasonable assurance — In the context of an audit of financial statements, a high, but not absolute, level of assurance.

(n) Risk of material misstatement — The risk that the financial statements are materially misstated prior to audit. This
consists of two components, described as follows at the assertion level: (Ref: Para. A16)

) Inherent risk — The susceptibility of an assertion about a class of transaction, account balance or disclosure
to a misstatement that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements,
before consideration of any related controls.

(ii))  Control risk — The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an assertion about a class of transactions,
account balance or disclosure and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other
misstatements, will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity’s controls.

(o) Those charged with governance — The person(s) or organization(s) (for example, a corporate trustee) with
responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the entity and obligations related to the accountability of the
entity. This includes overseeing the financial reporting process. For some entities in some jurisdictions, those
charged with governance may include management personnel, for example, executive members of a governance
board of a private or public sector entity, or an owner-manager.

Requirements
Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements

14. The auditor shall comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence, relating to financial
statement audit engagements. (Ref: Para. A17-A20)

Professional Skepticism

15. The auditor shall plan and perform an audit with professional skepticism recognizing that circumstances may exist that
cause the financial statements to be materially misstated. (Ref: Para. A21-A25)

Professional Judgment

16. The auditor shall exercise professional judgment in planning and performing an audit of financial statements. (Ref: Para.
A26-A30)

Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence and Audit Risk

17. To obtain reasonable assurance, the auditor shall obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk to an
acceptably low level and thereby enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor’s opinion.
(Ref: Para. A31-A57)

Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs
Complying with ISAs Relevant to the Audit

18. The auditor shall comply with all ISAs relevant to the audit. An ISA is relevant to the audit when the ISA is in effect and
the circumstances addressed by the ISA exist. (Ref: Para. A58—A62)

19. The auditor shall have an understanding of the entire text of an ISA, including its application and other explanatory
material, to understand its objectives and to apply its requirements properly. (Ref: Para. A63—A73)

20. The auditor shall not represent compliance with ISAs in the auditor’s report unless the auditor has complied with the
requirements of this ISA and all other ISAs relevant to the audit.
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Objectives Stated in Individual ISAs

21. To achieve the overall objectives of the auditor, the auditor shall use the objectives stated in relevant ISAs in planning and
performing the audit, having regard to the interrelationships among the ISAs, to: (Ref: Para. A74-A76)

(a) Determine whether any audit procedures in addition to those required by the ISAs are necessary in pursuance of the
objectives stated in the ISAs; and (Ref: Para. A77)

(b) Evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. (Ref: Para. A78)

Complying with Relevant Requirements

22. Subject to paragraph 23, the auditor shall comply with each requirement of an ISA unless, in the circumstances of the audit:
(a)  The entire ISA is not relevant; or
(b) The requirement is not relevant because it is conditional and the condition does not exist. (Ref: Para. A79-A80)

23. In exceptional circumstances, the auditor may judge it necessary to depart from a relevant requirement in an ISA. In such
circumstances, the auditor shall perform alternative audit procedures to achieve the aim of that requirement. The need for
the auditor to depart from a relevant requirement is expected to arise only where the requirement is for a specific procedure
to be performed and, in the specific circumstances of the audit, that procedure would be ineffective in achieving the aim of
the requirement. (Ref: Para. A81)

Failure to Achieve an Objective

24, If an objective in a relevant ISA cannot be achieved, the auditor shall evaluate whether this prevents the auditor from
achieving the overall objectives of the auditor and thereby requires the auditor, in accordance with the ISAs, to modify the
auditor’s opinion or withdraw from the engagement (where withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation).
Failure to achieve an objective represents a significant matter requiring documentation in accordance with ISA 230.* (Ref:
Para. A82-A83)

skokok

Application and Other Explanatory Material

An Audit of Financial Statements

Scope of the Audit (Ref: Para. 3)

Al. The auditor’s opinion on the financial statements deals with whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Such an opinion is common to all audits of
financial statements. The auditor’s opinion therefore does not assure, for example, the future viability of the entity nor the
efficiency or effectiveness with which management has conducted the affairs of the entity. In some jurisdictions, however,
applicable law or regulation may require auditors to provide opinions on other specific matters, such as the effectiveness of
internal control, or the consistency of a separate management report with the financial statements. While the ISAs include
requirements and guidance in relation to such matters to the extent that they are relevant to forming an opinion on the
financial statements, the auditor would be required to undertake further work if the auditor had additional responsibilities to
provide such opinions.

Preparation of the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 4)

A2. Law or regulation may establish the responsibilities of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance
in relation to financial reporting. However, the extent of these responsibilities, or the way in which they are described, may
differ across jurisdictions. Despite these differences, an audit in accordance with ISAs is conducted on the premise that
management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance have acknowledged and understand that they have
responsibility:

(a) For the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
including, where relevant, their fair presentation;

(b)  For such internal control as management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance determine is necessary

4 ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraph 8(c)
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to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
and

(¢) To provide the auditor with:

(i) Access to all information of which management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance are
aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other
matters;

(i)  Additional information that the auditor may request from management and, where appropriate, those charged with
governance for the purpose of the audit; and

(i)  Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain
audit evidence.

The preparation of the financial statements by management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance requires:
e The identification of the applicable financial reporting framework, in the context of any relevant laws or regulations.
e The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with that framework.

e The inclusion of an adequate description of that framework in the financial statements.

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to exercise judgment in making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances, as well as to select and apply appropriate accounting policies. These judgments are made
in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework.

The financial statements may be prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework designed to meet:
e The common financial information needs of a wide range of users (that is, “general purpose financial statements”); or
e The financial information needs of specific users (that is, “special purpose financial statements”).

The applicable financial reporting framework often encompasses financial reporting standards established by an authorized
or recognized standards setting organization, or legislative or regulatory requirements. In some cases, the financial reporting
framework may encompass both financial reporting standards established by an authorized or recognized standards setting
organization and legislative or regulatory requirements. Other sources may provide direction on the application of the
applicable financial reporting framework. In some cases, the applicable financial reporting framework may encompass such
other sources, or may even consist only of such sources. Such other sources may include:

e The legal and ethical environment, including statutes, regulations, court decisions, and professional ethical obligations
in relation to accounting matters;

e Published accounting interpretations of varying authority issued by standards setting, professional or regulatory
organizations;

e Published views of varying authority on emerging accounting issues issued by standards setting, professional or
regulatory organizations;

e General and industry practices widely recognized and prevalent; and

e Accounting literature.

Where conflicts exist between the financial reporting framework and the sources from which direction on its application may
be obtained, or among the sources that encompass the financial reporting framework, the source with the highest authority
prevails.

The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework determine the form and content of the financial statements.
Although the framework may not specify how to account for or disclose all transactions or events, it ordinarily embodies
sufficient broad principles that can serve as a basis for developing and applying accounting policies that are consistent with
the concepts underlying the requirements of the framework.

Some financial reporting frameworks are fair presentation frameworks, while others are compliance frameworks. Financial
reporting frameworks that encompass primarily the financial reporting standards established by an organization that is
authorized or recognized to promulgate standards to be used by entities for preparing general purpose financial statements are
often designed to achieve fair presentation, for example, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework also determine what constitutes a complete set of financial
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statements. In the case of many frameworks, financial statements are intended to provide information about the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. For such frameworks, a complete set of financial statements
would include a balance sheet; an income statement; a statement of changes in equity; a cash flow statement; and related
notes. For some other financial reporting frameworks, a single financial statement and the related notes might constitute a
complete set of financial statements:

e For example, the International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS), Financial Reporting under the Cash Basis
of Accounting, issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board states that the primary financial
statement is a statement of cash receipts and payments when a public sector entity prepares its financial statements in
accordance with that IPSAS.

e Other examples of a single financial statement, each of which would include related notes, are:
o  Balance sheet.
o  Statement of income or statement of operations.
o  Statement of retained earnings.
o  Statement of cash flows.
o  Statement of assets and liabilities that does not include owner’s equity.
o  Statement of changes in owners’ equity.
¢} Statement of revenue and expenses.
o  Statement of operations by product lines.

A9. ISA 210 establishes requirements and provides guidance on determining the acceptability of the applicable financial
reporting framework.> ISA 800 (Revised) deals with special considerations when financial statements are prepared in
accordance with a special purpose framework.®

A10. Because of the significance of the premise to the conduct of an audit, the auditor is required to obtain the agreement of
management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance that they acknowledge and understand that they have
the responsibilities set out in paragraph A2 as a precondition for accepting the audit engagement.’

Considerations Specific to Audits in the Public Sector

All. The mandates for audits of the financial statements of public sector entities may be broader than those of other entities. As a
result, the premise, relating to management’s responsibilities, on which an audit of the financial statements of a public sector
entity is conducted may include additional responsibilities, such as the responsibility for the execution of transactions and
events in accordance with law, regulation or other authority.®

Form of the Auditor’s Opinion (Ref: Para. 8)

A12. The opinion expressed by the auditor is on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The form of the auditor’s opinion, however, will depend upon
the applicable financial reporting framework and any applicable law or regulation. Most financial reporting frameworks
include requirements relating to the presentation of the financial statements; for such frameworks, preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework includes presentation.

A13. Where the financial reporting framework is a fair presentation framework, as is generally the case for general purpose
financial statements, the opinion required by the ISAs is on whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects, or give a true and fair view. Where the financial reporting framework is a compliance framework, the
opinion required is on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
framework. Unless specifically stated otherwise, references in the ISAs to the auditor’s opinion cover both forms of opinion.

ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraph 6(a)

ISA 800 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks, paragraph 8
7 ISA 210, paragraph 6(b)

See paragraph A62.
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Definitions
Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 13(f))

Al4. Some financial reporting frameworks may refer to an entity’s economic resources or obligations in other terms. For example,
these may be referred to as the entity’s assets and liabilities, and the residual difference between them may be referred to as
equity or equity interests.

A15. Explanatory or descriptive information required to be included in the financial statements by the applicable financial
reporting framework may be incorporated therein by cross-reference to information in another document, such as a
management report or a risk report. “Incorporated therein by cross-reference” means cross-referenced from the financial
statements to the other document, but not from the other document to the financial statements. Where the applicable financial
reporting framework does not expressly prohibit the cross-referencing of where explanatory or descriptive information may
be found, and the information has been appropriately cross-referenced, the information will form part of the financial
statements.

Risk of Material Misstatement (Ref: Para. 13(n))
A16. For the purposes of the ISAs, a risk of material misstatement exists when there is a reasonable possibility of:
(a) A misstatement occurring (i.e., its likelihood); and

(b) Being material if it were to occur (i.e., its magnitude).

Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 14)

Al7. The auditor is subject to relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence, relating to financial
statement audit engagements. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily comprise the provisions of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to an audit of financial statements, together with national requirements that
are more restrictive.

A18. The IESBA Code establishes the fundamental principles of ethics, which are:
(a) Integrity;
(b) Objectivity;
(c) Professional competence and due care;
(d)  Confidentiality; and
(e) Professional behavior.
The fundamental principles of ethics establish the standard of behavior expected of a professional accountant.

The IESBA Code provides a conceptual framework that establishes the approach which a professional accountant is required to
apply when identifying, evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with the fundamental principles. In the case of audits,
reviews and other assurance engagements, the IESBA Code sets out International Independence Standards established by the
application of the conceptual framework to threats to independence in relation to those engagements.

A19. In the case of an audit engagement it is in the public interest and, therefore, required by the IESBA Code, that the auditor be
independent of the entity subject to the audit. The IESBA Code describes independence as comprising both independence of
mind and independence in appearance. The auditor’s independence from the entity safeguards the auditor’s ability to form an
audit opinion without being affected by influences that might compromise that opinion. Independence enhances the auditor’s
ability to act with integrity, to be objective and to maintain an attitude of professional skepticism.

A20. International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM) 1,° or national requirements that are at least as demanding,'® deal
with the firm’s responsibilities to design, implement and operate a system of quality management that provides the firm with
reasonable assurance that the firm and its personnel fulfil their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and requirements.
As part of its system of quality management, ISQM 1 requires the firm to establish quality objectives that address the

? ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements

10

ISA 220 (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 3
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fulfillment of responsibilities in accordance with relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence.!! ISA
220 (Revised) sets out the engagement partner’s responsibilities with respect to relevant ethical requirements, including those
related to independence'?. ISA 220 (Revised) also describes when the engagement team may depend on the firm’s policies or
procedures in managing and achieving quality at the engagement level.'>
Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 15)
A21. Professional skepticism includes being alert to, for example:
e Audit evidence that contradicts other audit evidence obtained.
e Information that brings into question the reliability of documents and responses to inquiries to be used as audit evidence.
e Conditions that may indicate possible fraud.
e Circumstances that suggest the need for audit procedures in addition to those required by the ISAs.
A22. Maintaining professional skepticism throughout the audit is necessary if the auditor is, for example, to reduce the risks of:
e Overlooking unusual circumstances.
e Over generalizing when drawing conclusions from audit observations.

e Using inappropriate assumptions in determining the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures and evaluating the
results thereof.

A23. Professional skepticism is necessary to the critical assessment of audit evidence. This includes questioning contradictory
audit evidence and the reliability of documents and responses to inquiries and other information obtained from management
and those charged with governance. It also includes consideration of the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence
obtained in the light of the circumstances, for example, in the case where fraud risk factors exist and a single document, of a
nature that is susceptible to fraud, is the sole supporting evidence for a material financial statement amount.

A24. The auditor may accept records and documents as genuine unless the auditor has reason to believe the contrary. Nevertheless, the
auditor is required to consider the reliability of information to be used as audit evidence.'* In cases of doubt about the reliability of
information or indications of possible fraud (for example, if conditions identified during the audit cause the auditor to believe that a
document may not be authentic or that terms in a document may have been falsified), the ISAs require that the auditor investigate
further and determine what modifications or additions to audit procedures are necessary to resolve the matter.'>

A25. The auditor cannot be expected to disregard past experience of the honesty and integrity of the entity’s management and
those charged with governance. Nevertheless, a belief that management and those charged with governance are honest and
have integrity does not relieve the auditor of the need to maintain professional skepticism or allow the auditor to be satisfied
with less than persuasive audit evidence when obtaining reasonable assurance.

Professional Judgment (Ref: Para. 16)

A26. Professional judgment is essential to the proper conduct of an audit. This is because interpretation of relevant ethical
requirements and the ISAs and the informed decisions required throughout the audit cannot be made without the application
of relevant knowledge and experience to the facts and circumstances. Professional judgment is necessary in particular
regarding decisions about:

e Materiality and audit risk.
e The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures used to meet the requirements of the ISAs and gather audit evidence.

e Evaluating whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained, and whether more needs to be done to
achieve the objectives of the ISAs and thereby, the overall objectives of the auditor.

e The evaluation of management’s judgments in applying the entity’s applicable financial reporting framework.

e The drawing of conclusions based on the audit evidence obtained, for example, assessing the reasonableness of the
estimates made by management in preparing the financial statements.

" ISQM I, paragraph 29

12 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs 16-21

13 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph A10

4 ISA 500, Audit Evidence, paragraphs 7-9

15 ISA 240, paragraph 14; ISA 500, paragraph 11; ISA 505, External Confirmations, paragraphs 1011, and 16
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The distinguishing feature of the professional judgment expected of an auditor is that it is exercised by an auditor whose
training, knowledge and experience have assisted in developing the necessary competencies to achieve reasonable
judgments.

The exercise of professional judgment in any particular case is based on the facts and circumstances that are known by the
auditor. Consultation on difficult or contentious matters during the course of the audit, both within the engagement team and
between the engagement team and others at the appropriate level within or outside the firm, such as that required by ISA 220
(Revised),' assist the auditor in making informed and reasonable judgments.

Professional judgment can be evaluated based on whether the judgment reached reflects a competent application of auditing and
accounting principles and is appropriate in the light of, and consistent with, the facts and circumstances that were known to the
auditor up to the date of the auditor’s report.

Professional judgment needs to be exercised throughout the audit. It also needs to be appropriately documented. In this
regard, the auditor is required to prepare audit documentation sufficient to enable an experienced auditor, having no previous
connection with the audit, to understand the significant professional judgments made in reaching conclusions on significant
matters arising during the audit.!” Professional judgment is not to be used as the justification for decisions that are not
otherwise supported by the facts and circumstances of the engagement or sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence and Audit Risk (Ref: Para. 5 and 17)

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence

A31.

A32.

A33.

A34.

Audit evidence is necessary to support the auditor’s opinion and report. It is cumulative in nature and is primarily obtained from
audit procedures performed during the course of the audit. It may, however, also include information obtained from other sources
such as previous audits (provided the auditor has determined whether changes have occurred since the previous audit that may
affect its relevance to the current audit'®) or through the information obtained by the firm in the acceptance or continuance of the
client relationship or engagement. In addition to other sources inside and outside the entity, the entity’s accounting records are an
important source of audit evidence. Also, information that may be used as audit evidence may have been prepared by an expert
employed or engaged by the entity. Audit evidence comprises both information that supports and corroborates management’s
assertions, and any information that contradicts such assertions. In addition, in some cases, the absence of information (for
example, management’s refusal to provide a requested representation) is used by the auditor, and therefore, also constitutes audit
evidence. Most of the auditor’s work in forming the auditor’s opinion consists of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence.

The sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence are interrelated. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit
evidence. The quantity of audit evidence needed is affected by the auditor’s assessment of the risks of misstatement (the higher
the assessed risks, the more audit evidence is likely to be required) and also by the quality of such audit evidence (the higher
the quality, the less may be required). Obtaining more audit evidence, however, may not compensate for its poor quality.

Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support
for the conclusions on which the auditor’s opinion is based. The reliability of evidence is influenced by its source and by its
nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.

Whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level, and thereby
enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the auditor’s opinion, is a matter of professional
judgment. ISA 500 and other relevant ISAs establish additional requirements and provide further guidance applicable
throughout the audit regarding the auditor’s considerations in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

Audit Risk

A35.

A36.

Audit risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk. The assessment of risks is based on audit
procedures to obtain information necessary for that purpose and evidence obtained throughout the audit. The assessment of
risks is a matter of professional judgment, rather than a matter capable of precise measurement.

For purposes of the ISAs, audit risk does not include the risk that the auditor might express an opinion that the financial
statements are materially misstated when they are not. This risk is ordinarily insignificant. Further, audit risk is a technical
term related to the process of auditing; it does not refer to the auditor’s business risks such as loss from litigation, adverse
publicity, or other events arising in connection with the audit of financial statements.

16 ISA 220 (Revised), paragraph 35
17 ISA 230, paragraph 8
18 ISA 315 (Revised 2019), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, paragraph 16
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Risks of Material Misstatement
A37. The risks of material misstatement may exist at two levels:
o The overall financial statement level; and
e The assertion level for classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures.

A38. Risks of material misstatement at the overall financial statement level refer to risks of material misstatement that relate
pervasively to the financial statements as a whole and potentially affect many assertions.

A39. Risks of material misstatement at the assertion level are assessed in order to determine the nature, timing and extent of
further audit procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. This evidence enables the auditor to
express an opinion on the financial statements at an acceptably low level of audit risk. Auditors use various approaches to
accomplish the objective of assessing the risks of material misstatement. For example, the auditor may make use of a model
that expresses the general relationship of the components of audit risk in mathematical terms to arrive at an acceptable level
of detection risk. Some auditors find such a model to be useful when planning audit procedures.

A40. The risks of material misstatement at the assertion level consist of two components: inherent risk and control risk. Inherent risk and
control risk are the entity’s risks; they exist independently of the audit of the financial statements.

A41. Inherent risk is influenced by inherent risk factors. Depending on the degree to which the inherent risk factors affect the
susceptibility to misstatement of an assertion, the level of inherent risk varies on a scale that is referred to as the spectrum
of inherent risk. The auditor determines significant classes of transactions, account balances and disclosures, and their
relevant assertions, as part of the process of identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement. For example,
account balances consisting of amounts derived from accounting estimates that are subject to significant estimation
uncertainty, may be identified as significant account balances, and the auditor’s assessment of inherent risk for the related
risks at the assertion level may be higher because of the high estimation uncertainty.

A42. External circumstances giving rise to business risks may also influence inherent risk. For example, technological
developments might make a particular product obsolete, thereby causing inventory to be more susceptible to
overstatement. Factors in the entity and its environment that relate to several or all of the classes of transactions, account
balances, or disclosures may also influence the inherent risk related to a specific assertion. Such factors may include, for
example, a lack of sufficient working capital to continue operations or a declining industry characterized by a large
number of business failures.

A43. Control risk is a function of the effectiveness of the design, implementation and maintenance of controls by management
to address identified risks that threaten the achievement of the entity’s objectives relevant to preparation of the entity’s
financial statements. However, internal control, no matter how well designed and operated, can only reduce, but not
eliminate, risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, because of the inherent limitations of controls. These
include, for example, the possibility of human errors or mistakes, or of controls being circumvented by collusion or
inappropriate management override. Accordingly, some control risk will always exist. The ISAs provide the conditions
under which the auditor is required to, or may choose to, test the operating effectiveness of controls in determining the
nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures to be performed.'’

A44. The assessment of the risks of material misstatement may be expressed in quantitative terms, such as in percentages, or in
non-quantitative terms. In any case, the need for the auditor to make appropriate risk assessments is more important than the
different approaches by which they may be made. The ISAs typically refer to the “risks of material misstatement,” rather than
to inherent risk and control risk separately. However, ISA 315 (Revised 2019) requires inherent risk to be assessed separately
from control risk to provide a basis for designing and performing further audit procedures to respond to the assessed risks of
material misstatement at the assertion level, in accordance with ISA 330.

A45. Risks of material misstatement are assessed at the assertion level in order to determine the nature, timing and extent of further
audit procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.?’

A46. ISA 315 (Revised 2019) establishes requirements and provides guidance on identifying and assessing the risks of material
misstatement at the financial statement and assertion levels.

Detection Risk

A47. For a given level of audit risk, the acceptable level of detection risk bears an inverse relationship to the assessed risks of

19 ISA 330, The Auditor’s Reponses to Assessed Risks, paragraphs 6-17
2 ISA 330, paragraph 6

111 ISA 200



A48.

A49.

OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR AND THE CONDUCT OF AN
AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

material misstatement at the assertion level. For example, the greater the risks of material misstatement the auditor
believes exists, the less the detection risk that can be accepted and, accordingly, the more persuasive the audit evidence
required by the auditor.

Detection risk relates to the nature, timing and extent of the auditor’s procedures that are determined by the auditor to reduce
audit risk to an acceptably low level. It is therefore a function of the effectiveness of an audit procedure and of its application
by the auditor. Matters such as:

e adequate planning;

e proper assignment of personnel to the engagement team;
e the application of professional skepticism; and

e supervision and review of the audit work performed,

assist to enhance the effectiveness of an audit procedure and of its application and reduce the possibility that an auditor might
select an inappropriate audit procedure, misapply an appropriate audit procedure, or misinterpret the audit results.

ISA 300 2! and ISA 330 establish requirements and provide guidance on planning an audit of financial statements and the
auditor’s responses to assessed risks. Detection risk, however, can only be reduced, not eliminated, because of the inherent
limitations of an audit. Accordingly, some detection risk will always exist.

Inherent Limitations of an Audit

A50.

The auditor is not expected to, and cannot, reduce audit risk to zero and cannot therefore obtain absolute assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. This is because there are inherent limitations of
an audit, which result in most of the audit evidence on which the auditor draws conclusions and bases the auditor’s opinion
being persuasive rather than conclusive. The inherent limitations of an audit arise from:

e The nature of financial reporting;
e The nature of audit procedures; and

e The need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost.

The Nature of Financial Reporting

A51.

The preparation of financial statements involves judgment by management in applying the requirements of the entity’s
applicable financial reporting framework to the facts and circumstances of the entity. In addition, many financial statement
items involve subjective decisions or assessments or a degree of uncertainty, and there may be a range of acceptable
interpretations or judgments that may be made. Consequently, some financial statement items are subject to an inherent
level of variability which cannot be eliminated by the application of additional auditing procedures. For example, this is
often the case with respect to certain accounting estimates. Nevertheless, the ISAs require the auditor to give specific
consideration to whether accounting estimates are reasonable in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework
and related disclosures, and to the qualitative aspects of the entity’s accounting practices, including indicators of possible
bias in management’s judgments.??

The Nature of Audit Procedures

AS2.

There are practical and legal limitations on the auditor’s ability to obtain audit evidence. For example:

e There is the possibility that management or others may not provide, intentionally or unintentionally, the complete
information that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements or that has been requested by the auditor.
Accordingly, the auditor cannot be certain of the completeness of information, even though the auditor has performed
audit procedures to obtain assurance that all relevant information has been obtained.

e Fraud may involve sophisticated and carefully organized schemes designed to conceal it. Therefore, audit procedures
used to gather audit evidence may be ineffective for detecting an intentional misstatement that involves, for example,
collusion to falsify documentation which may cause the auditor to believe that audit evidence is valid when it is not.
The auditor is neither trained as nor expected to be an expert in the authentication of documents.

2l ISA 300, Planning an Audit of Financial Statements

22

ISA 540 (Revised), Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures, and ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial

Statements, paragraph 12
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e An audit is not an official investigation into alleged wrongdoing. Accordingly, the auditor is not given specific
legal powers, such as the power of search, which may be necessary for such an investigation.

Timeliness of Financial Reporting and the Balance between Benefit and Cost

AS53. The matter of difficulty, time, or cost involved is not in itself a valid basis for the auditor to omit an audit procedure for
which there is no alternative or to be satisfied with audit evidence that is less than persuasive. Appropriate planning
assists in making sufficient time and resources available for the conduct of the audit. Notwithstanding this, the relevance
of information, and thereby its value, tends to diminish over time, and there is a balance to be struck between the
reliability of information and its cost. This is recognized in certain financial reporting frameworks (see, for example, the
IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements). Therefore, there is an expectation by
users of financial statements that the auditor will form an opinion on the financial statements within a reasonable period
of time and at a reasonable cost, recognizing that it is impracticable to address all information that may exist or to pursue
every matter exhaustively on the assumption that information is in error or fraudulent until proved otherwise.

A54. Consequently, it is necessary for the auditor to:
e Plan the audit so that it will be performed in an effective manner;

e Direct audit effort to areas most expected to contain risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, with
correspondingly less effort directed at other areas; and

e Use testing and other means of examining populations for misstatements.

AS55. Inlight of the approaches described in paragraph A54, the ISAs contain requirements for the planning and performance of the
audit and require the auditor, among other things, to:

e Have a basis for the identification and assessment of risks of material misstatement at the financial statement and
assertion levels by performing risk assessment procedures and related activities;* and

* Use testing and other means of examining populations in a manner that provides a reasonable basis for the auditor to
draw conclusions about the population.?*

Other Matters that Affect the Inherent Limitations of an Audit

AS56. In the case of certain assertions or subject matters, the potential effects of the inherent limitations on the auditor’s ability to
detect material misstatements are particularly significant. Such assertions or subject matters include:

e Fraud, particularly fraud involving senior management or collusion. See ISA 240 for further discussion.
e The existence and completeness of related party relationships and transactions. See ISA 550%° for further discussion.

e The occurrence of non-compliance with laws and regulations. See ISA 250 (Revised)?® for further discussion.

o Future events or conditions that may cause an entity to cease to continue as a going concern. See ISA 570 (Revised)?’
for further discussion.

Relevant ISAs identify specific audit procedures to assist in mitigating the effect of the inherent limitations.

A57. Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the
financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with
ISAs. Accordingly, the subsequent discovery of a material misstatement of the financial statements resulting from fraud or
error does not by itself indicate a failure to conduct an audit in accordance with ISAs. However, the inherent limitations of
an audit are not a justification for the auditor to be satisfied with less than persuasive audit evidence. Whether the auditor
has performed an audit in accordance with ISAs is determined by the audit procedures performed in the circumstances, the
sufficiency and appropriateness of the audit evidence obtained as a result thereof and the suitability of the auditor’s report
based on an evaluation of that evidence in light of the overall objectives of the auditor.

3 ISA 315 (Revised 2019), paragraph 13

2 ISA 330; ISA 500; ISA 520, Analytical Procedures; ISA 530, Audit Sampling

% ISA 550, Related Parties

2% ISA 250 (Revised), Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements
27 ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern
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Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

Nature of the ISAs (Ref: Para. 18)

AS8.

AS59.

A60.

A61.

The ISAs, taken together, provide the standards for the auditor’s work in fulfilling the overall objectives of the auditor. The
ISAs deal with the general responsibilities of the auditor, as well as the auditor’s further considerations relevant to the
application of those responsibilities to specific topics.

The scope, effective date and any specific limitation of the applicability of a specific ISA is made clear in the ISA. Unless
otherwise stated in the ISA, the auditor is permitted to apply an ISA before the effective date specified therein.

In performing an audit, the auditor may be required to comply with legal or regulatory requirements in addition to the ISAs.
The ISAs do not override law or regulation that governs an audit of financial statements. In the event that such law or
regulation differs from the ISAs, an audit conducted only in accordance with law or regulation will not automatically comply
with ISAs.

The auditor may also conduct the audit in accordance with both ISAs and auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction or
country. In such cases, in addition to complying with each of the ISAs relevant to the audit, it may be necessary for the
auditor to perform additional audit procedures in order to comply with the relevant standards of that jurisdiction or country.

Considerations Specific to Audits in the Public Sector

A62.

The ISAs are relevant to engagements in the public sector. The public sector auditor’s responsibilities, however, may be
affected by the audit mandate, or by obligations on public sector entities arising from law, regulation or other authority (such
as ministerial directives, government policy requirements, or resolutions of the legislature), which may encompass a broader
scope than an audit of financial statements in accordance with the ISAs. These additional responsibilities are not dealt with in
the ISAs. They may be dealt with in the pronouncements of the International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions or
national standard setters, or in guidance developed by government audit agencies.

Contents of the ISAs (Ref: Para. 19)

A63.

A64.

A6S.

A66.

A67.

ISA 200

In addition to objectives and requirements (requirements are expressed in the ISAs using “shall”’), an ISA contains related guidance
in the form of application and other explanatory material. It may also contain introductory material that provides context relevant to
a proper understanding of the ISA, and definitions. The entire text of an ISA, therefore, is relevant to an understanding of the
objectives stated in an ISA and the proper application of the requirements of an ISA.

Where necessary, the application and other explanatory material provides further explanation of the requirements of an ISA
and guidance for carrying them out. In particular, it may:

e Explain more precisely what a requirement means or is intended to cover, including in some ISAs such as ISA 315 (Revised
2019), why a procedure is required.

e Include examples of procedures that may be appropriate in the circumstances. In some ISAs, such as ISA 315 (Revised
2019), examples are presented in boxes.

While such guidance does not in itself impose a requirement, it is relevant to the proper application of the requirements of an
ISA. The application and other explanatory material may also provide background information on matters addressed in an
ISA.

Appendices form part of the application and other explanatory material. The purpose and intended use of an appendix are
explained in the body of the related ISAs or within the title and introduction of the appendix itself.

Introductory material may include, as needed, such matters as explanation of:
e The purpose and scope of the ISA, including how the ISA relates to other ISAs.
e The subject matter of the ISA.
e The respective responsibilities of the auditor and others in relation to the subject matter of the ISA.
e The context in which the ISA is set.

An ISA may include, in a separate section under the heading “Definitions,” a description of the meanings attributed to
certain terms for purposes of the ISAs. These are provided to assist in the consistent application and interpretation of the
ISAs, and are not intended to override definitions that may be established for other purposes, whether in law, regulation or
otherwise. Unless otherwise indicated, those terms will carry the same meanings throughout the ISAs. The Glossary of
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Terms relating to International Standards issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board in the
Handbook of International Quality Management, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance, and Related Services
Pronouncements published by IFAC contains a complete listing of terms defined in the ISAs. It also includes descriptions
of other terms found in ISAs to assist in common and consistent interpretation and translation.

When appropriate, additional considerations specific to audits of smaller entities and public sector entities are included
within the application and other explanatory material of an ISA. These additional considerations assist in the application of
the requirements of the ISA in the audit of such entities. They do not, however, limit or reduce the responsibility of the
auditor to apply and comply with the requirements of the ISAs.

Scalability Considerations

A69.

A70.

AT1.

Scalability considerations have been included in some ISAs (e.g., ISA 315 (Revised 2019)), illustrating the application of the
requirements to all entities regardless of whether their nature and circumstances are less complex or more complex. Less
complex entities are entities for which the characteristics in paragraph A71 may apply.

The “considerations specific to smaller entities” included in some ISAs have been developed primarily with unlisted entities
in mind. Some of the considerations, however, may be helpful in audits of smaller listed entities.

For purposes of specifying additional considerations to audits of smaller entities, a “smaller entity” refers to an entity which
typically possesses qualitative characteristics such as:

(a) Concentration of ownership and management in a small number of individuals (often a single individual — either a
natural person or another enterprise that owns the entity provided the owner exhibits the relevant qualitative
characteristics); and

(b)  One or more of the following:
@) Straightforward or uncomplicated transactions;
(ii))  Simple record-keeping;
(i)  Few lines of business and few products within business lines;
(iv)  Simpler systems of internal control;
(v)  Few levels of management with responsibility for a broad range of controls; or
(vi)  Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties.

These qualitative characteristics are not exhaustive, they are not exclusive to smaller entities, and smaller entities do
not necessarily display all of these characteristics.

Considerations Specific to Automated Tools and Techniques

A72.

A73.

The considerations specific to “automated tools and techniques” included in some ISAs (for example, ISA 315 (Revised
2019)) have been developed to explain how the auditor may apply certain requirements when using automated tools and
techniques in performing audit procedures.

The ISAs refer to the proprietor of a smaller entity who is involved in running the entity on a day-to-day basis as the
“owner-manager.”

Objectives Stated in Individual ISAs (Ref: Para. 21)

A74.

ATS.

AT6.

Each ISA contains one or more objectives which provide a link between the requirements and the overall objectives of the
auditor. The objectives in individual ISAs serve to focus the auditor on the desired outcome of the ISAs while being specific
enough to assist the auditor in:

e Understanding what needs to be accomplished and, where necessary, the appropriate means of doing so; and
e Deciding whether more needs to be done to achieve them in the particular circumstances of the audit.

Objectives are to be understood in the context of the overall objectives of the auditor stated in paragraph 11 of this ISA. As
with the overall objectives of the auditor, the ability to achieve an individual objective is equally subject to the inherent
limitations of an audit.

In using the objectives, the auditor is required to have regard to the interrelationships among the ISAs. This is because, as indicated
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in paragraph A58, the ISAs deal in some cases with general responsibilities and in others with the application of those
responsibilities to specific topics. For example, this ISA requires the auditor to adopt an attitude of professional skepticism; this is
necessary in all aspects of planning and performing an audit but is not repeated as a requirement of each ISA. At a more detailed
level, ISA 315 (Revised 2019) and ISA 330 contain, among other things, objectives and requirements that deal with the auditor’s
responsibilities to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement and to design and perform further audit procedures to
respond to those assessed risks, respectively; these objectives and requirements apply throughout the audit. An ISA dealing with
specific aspects of the audit (for example, ISA 540 (Revised)) may expand on how the objectives and requirements of such ISAs as
ISA 315 (Revised 2019) and ISA 330 are to be applied in relation to the subject of the ISA but does not repeat them. Thus, in
achieving the objective stated in ISA 540 (Revised), the auditor has regard to the objectives and requirements of other relevant
ISAs.

Objectives to Determine Need for Additional Audit Procedures (Ref: Para. 21(a))

The requirements of the ISAs are designed to enable the auditor to achieve the objectives specified in the ISAs, and thereby
the overall objectives of the auditor. The proper application of the requirements of the ISAs by the auditor is therefore
expected to provide a sufficient basis for the auditor’s achievement of the objectives. However, because the circumstances of
audit engagements vary widely and all such circumstances cannot be anticipated in the ISAs, the auditor is responsible for
determining the audit procedures necessary to fulfill the requirements of the ISAs and to achieve the objectives. In the
circumstances of an engagement, there may be particular matters that require the auditor to perform audit procedures in
addition to those required by the ISAs to meet the objectives specified in the ISAs.

Use of Objectives to Evaluate Whether Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence Has Been Obtained (Ref: Para. 21(b))

AT8.

The auditor is required to use the objectives to evaluate whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in the
context of the overall objectives of the auditor. If as a result the auditor concludes that the audit evidence is not sufficient and
appropriate, then the auditor may follow one or more of the following approaches to meeting the requirement of paragraph 21(b):

e Evaluate whether further relevant audit evidence has been, or will be, obtained as a result of complying with other
ISAs;

e Extend the work performed in applying one or more requirements; or
e Perform other procedures judged by the auditor to be necessary in the circumstances.

Where none of the above is expected to be practical or possible in the circumstances, the auditor will not be able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and is required by the ISAs to determine the effect on the auditor’s report or on the
auditor’s ability to complete the engagement.

Complying with Relevant Requirements

Relevant Requirements (Ref: Para. 22)

AT79.

A80.

In some cases, an ISA (and therefore all of its requirements) may not be relevant in the circumstances. For example, if an
entity does not have an internal audit function, nothing in ISA 610 (Revised 2013)* is relevant.

Within a relevant ISA, there may be conditional requirements. Such a requirement is relevant when the circumstances
envisioned in the requirement apply and the condition exists. In general, the conditionality of a requirement will either be
explicit or implicit, for example:

e The requirement to modify the auditor’s opinion if there is a limitation of scope®® represents an explicit conditional
requirement.

e The requirement to communicate significant deficiencies in internal control identified during the audit to those charged
with governance,*® which depends on the existence of such identified significant deficiencies; and the requirement to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the presentation and disclosure of segment information in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,?' which depends on that framework requiring or
permitting such disclosure, represent implicit conditional requirements.

2 ISA 610 (Revised 2013), Using the Work of Internal Auditors, paragraph 2
¥ ISA 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report, paragraph 13

30

ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management, paragraph 9

31 ISA 501, Audit Evidence—Specific Considerations for Selected Items, paragraph 13
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In some cases, a requirement may be expressed as being conditional on applicable law or regulation. For example, the auditor
may be required to withdraw from the audit engagement, where withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation,
or the auditor may be required to do something, unless prohibited by law or regulation. Depending on the jurisdiction, the
legal or regulatory permission or prohibition may be explicit or implicit.

Departure from a Requirement (Ref: Para. 23)

A81. ISA 230 establishes documentation requirements in those exceptional circumstances where the auditor departs from a
relevant requirement.’? The ISAs do not call for compliance with a requirement that is not relevant in the circumstances of
the audit.

Failure to Achieve an Objective (Ref: Para. 24)

A82. Whether an objective has been achieved is a matter for the auditor’s professional judgment. That judgment takes account of
the results of audit procedures performed in complying with the requirements of the ISAs, and the auditor’s evaluation of
whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained and whether more needs to be done in the particular
circumstances of the audit to achieve the objectives stated in the ISAs. Accordingly, circumstances that may give rise to a
failure to achieve an objective include those that:

e Prevent the auditor from complying with the relevant requirements of an ISA.

e Result in its not being practicable or possible for the auditor to carry out the additional audit procedures or obtain further audit
evidence as determined necessary from the use of the objectives in accordance with paragraph 21, for example, due to a
limitation in the available audit evidence.

A83. Audit documentation that meets the requirements of ISA 230 and the specific documentation requirements of other relevant
ISAs provides evidence of the auditor’s basis for a conclusion about the achievement of the overall objectives of the auditor.
While it is unnecessary for the auditor to document separately (as in a checklist, for example) that individual objectives have
been achieved, the documentation of a failure to achieve an objective assists the auditor’s evaluation of whether such a failure
has prevented the auditor from achieving the overall objectives of the auditor.

32 ISA 230, paragraph 12
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AGREEING THE TERMS OF AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS

Introduction
Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor’s responsibilities in agreeing the terms of the audit
engagement with management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance. This includes establishing that
certain preconditions for an audit, responsibility for which rests with management and, where appropriate, those charged
with governance, are present. [SA 220 (Revised)! deals with those aspects of engagement acceptance that are within the
control of the auditor. (Ref: Para. A1)

Effective Date

2. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

Objective

3. The objective of the auditor is to accept or continue an audit engagement only when the basis upon which it is to be
performed has been agreed, through:

(a)  Establishing whether the preconditions for an audit are present; and

(b) Confirming that there is a common understanding between the auditor and management and, where appropriate,
those charged with governance of the terms of the audit engagement.

Definitions
4. For purposes of the ISAs, the following term has the meaning attributed below:

Preconditions for an audit — The use by management of an acceptable financial reporting framework in the preparation of
the financial statements and the agreement of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance to the
premise? on which an audit is conducted.

5. For the purposes of this ISA, references to “management” should be read hereafter as “management and, where
appropriate, those charged with governance.”

Requirements

Preconditions for an Audit
6. In order to establish whether the preconditions for an audit are present, the auditor shall:

(a)  Determine whether the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
acceptable; and (Ref: Para. A2-A10)

(b)  Obtain the agreement of management that it acknowledges and understands its responsibility: (Ref: Para. A11-A14,
A21)

(i) For the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework, including where relevant their fair presentation; (Ref: Para. A15)

(i)  For such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and (Ref: Para. A16-A19)

(iii)  To provide the auditor with:

a. Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. Additional information that the auditor may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and
Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

Limitation on Scope Prior to Audit Engagement Acceptance

7. If management or those charged with governance impose a limitation on the scope of the auditor’s work in the terms of a

! ISA 220 (Revised), Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements

2 ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraph 13
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proposed audit engagement such that the auditor believes the limitation will result in the auditor disclaiming an opinion on the
financial statements, the auditor shall not accept such a limited engagement as an audit engagement, unless required by law or
regulation to do so.

Other Factors Affecting Audit Engagement Acceptance

8. If the preconditions for an audit are not present, the auditor shall discuss the matter with management. Unless required by
law or regulation to do so, the auditor shall not accept the proposed audit engagement:

(a)  If the auditor has determined that the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial
statements is unacceptable, except as provided in paragraph 19; or

(b) If the agreement referred to in paragraph 6(b) has not been obtained.

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

9. The auditor shall agree the terms of the audit engagement with management or those charged with governance, as
appropriate. (Ref: Para. A22)

10. Subject to paragraph 11, the agreed terms of the audit engagement shall be recorded in an audit engagement letter or other
suitable form of written agreement and shall include: (Ref: Para. A23-A27)

(a) The objective and scope of the audit of the financial statements;

(b)  The responsibilities of the auditor;

(¢)  The responsibilities of management;

(d) Identification of the applicable financial reporting framework for the preparation of the financial statements; and
(e) Reference to the expected form and content of any reports to be issued by the auditor; and (Ref: Para. A24)

(f) A statement that there may be circumstances in which a report may differ from its expected form and content.

11. If law or regulation prescribes in sufficient detail the terms of the audit engagement referred to in paragraph 10, the auditor
need not record them in a written agreement, except for the fact that such law or regulation applies and that management
acknowledges and understands its responsibilities as set out in paragraph 6(b). (Ref: Para. A23, A28-A29)

12. If law or regulation prescribes responsibilities of management similar to those described in paragraph 6(b), the auditor may
determine that the law or regulation includes responsibilities that, in the auditor’s judgment, are equivalent in effect to
those set out in that paragraph. For such responsibilities that are equivalent, the auditor may use the wording of the law or
regulation to describe them in the written agreement. For those responsibilities that are not prescribed by law or regulation
such that their effect is equivalent, the written agreement shall use the description in paragraph 6(b). (Ref: Para. A28)

Recurring Audits

13. On recurring audits, the auditor shall assess whether circumstances require the terms of the audit engagement to be revised
and whether there is a need to remind the entity of the existing terms of the audit engagement. (Ref: Para. A30)

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Audit Engagement

14. The auditor shall not agree to a change in the terms of the audit engagement where there is no reasonable justification for
doing so. (Ref: Para. A31-A33)

15. If, prior to completing the audit engagement, the auditor is requested to change the audit engagement to an engagement that
conveys a lower level of assurance, the auditor shall determine whether there is reasonable justification for doing so. (Ref:
Para. A34-A35)

16. If the terms of the audit engagement are changed, the auditor and management shall agree on and record the new terms of
the engagement in an engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement.

17. If the auditor is unable to agree to a change of the terms of the audit engagement and is not permitted by management to
continue the original audit engagement, the auditor shall:

(a)  Withdraw from the audit engagement where possible under applicable law or regulation; and

(b) Determine whether there is any obligation, either contractual or otherwise, to report the circumstances to other
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parties, such as those charged with governance, owners or regulators.

Additional Considerations in Engagement Acceptance
Financial Reporting Standards Supplemented by Law or Regulation

18. If financial reporting standards established by an authorized or recognized standards setting organization are supplemented
by law or regulation, the auditor shall determine whether there are any conflicts between the financial reporting standards
and the additional requirements. If such conflicts exist, the auditor shall discuss with management the nature of the
additional requirements and shall agree whether:

(a) The additional requirements can be met through additional disclosures in the financial statements; or

(b) The description of the applicable financial reporting framework in the financial statements can be amended
accordingly.

If neither of the above actions is possible, the auditor shall determine whether it will be necessary to modify the auditor’s
opinion in accordance with ISA 705.> (Ref: Para. A36)

Financial Reporting Framework Prescribed by Law or Regulation—Other Matters Affecting Acceptance

19. If the auditor has determined that the financial reporting framework prescribed by law or regulation would be unacceptable
but for the fact that it is prescribed by law or regulation, the auditor shall accept the audit engagement only if the following
conditions are present: (Ref: Para. A37)

(a) Management agrees to provide additional disclosures in the financial statements required to avoid the financial
statements being misleading; and

(b) Itisrecognized in the terms of the audit engagement that:

i) The auditor’s report on the financial statements will incorporate an Emphasis of Matter paragraph, drawing
users’ attention to the additional disclosures, in accordance with ISA 706 (Revised);* and

(i1))  Unless the auditor is required by law or regulation to express the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements
by using the phrases “present fairly, in all material respects,” or “give a true and fair view” in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework, the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements will not
include such phrases.

20. If the conditions outlined in paragraph 19 are not present and the auditor is required by law or regulation to undertake the
audit engagement, the auditor shall:

(a)  Evaluate the effect of the misleading nature of the financial statements on the auditor’s report; and

(b) Include appropriate reference to this matter in the terms of the audit engagement.

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation

21. In some cases, law or regulation of the relevant jurisdiction prescribes the layout or wording of the auditor’s report in a
form or in terms that are significantly different from the requirements of ISAs. In these circumstances, the auditor shall
evaluate:

(a)  Whether users might misunderstand the assurance obtained from the audit of the financial statements and, if so,
(b)  Whether additional explanation in the auditor’s report can mitigate possible misunderstanding.’

If the auditor concludes that additional explanation in the auditor’s report cannot mitigate possible misunderstanding, the
auditor shall not accept the audit engagement, unless required by law or regulation to do so. An audit conducted in
accordance with such law or regulation does not comply with ISAs. Accordingly, the auditor shall not include any
reference within the auditor’s report to the audit having been conducted in accordance with ISAs.® (Ref: Para. A38-A39)

ISA 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report

ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor’s Report
3 ISA 706 (Revised)

See also ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, paragraph 43.
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sk

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Scope of this ISA (Ref: Para. 1)

Al.

ISQM 17 deals with the firm’s responsibilities regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and specific
engagements. The auditor’s responsibilities in respect of relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence,
in the context of the acceptance of an audit engagement and insofar as they are within the control of the auditor are dealt with
in ISA 220 (Revised).? This ISA deals with those matters (or preconditions) that are within the control of the entity and upon
which it is necessary for the auditor and the entity’s management to agree.

Preconditions for an Audit

The Financial Reporting Framework (Ref: Para. 6(a))

A2.

A3.

A condition for acceptance of an assurance engagement is that the criteria referred to in the definition of an assurance
engagement are suitable and available to intended users.” Criteria are the benchmarks used to evaluate or measure the subject
matter including, where relevant, benchmarks for presentation and disclosure. Suitable criteria enable reasonably consistent
evaluation or measurement of a subject matter within the context of professional judgment. For purposes of the ISAs, the
applicable financial reporting framework provides the criteria the auditor uses to audit the financial statements, including
where relevant their fair presentation.

Without an acceptable financial reporting framework, management does not have an appropriate basis for the preparation of
the financial statements and the auditor does not have suitable criteria for auditing the financial statements. In many cases the
auditor may presume that the applicable financial reporting framework is acceptable, as described in paragraphs A8-A9.

Determining the Acceptability of the Financial Reporting Framework

A4,

AS.

Ab6.

AT.

Factors that are relevant to the auditor’s determination of the acceptability of the financial reporting framework to be applied
in the preparation of the financial statements include:

e  The nature of the entity (for example, whether it is a business enterprise, a public sector entity or a not-for-profit
organization);

e  The purpose of the financial statements (for example, whether they are prepared to meet the common financial
information needs of a wide range of users or the financial information needs of specific users);

e  The nature of the financial statements (for example, whether the financial statements are a complete set of financial
statements or a single financial statement); and

e  Whether law or regulation prescribes the applicable financial reporting framework.

Many users of financial statements are not in a position to demand financial statements tailored to meet their specific
information needs. While all the information needs of specific users cannot be met, there are financial information needs that
are common to a wide range of users. Financial statements prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework
designed to meet the common financial information needs of a wide range of users are referred to as general purpose financial
statements.

In some cases, the financial statements will be prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework designed to meet
the financial information needs of specific users. Such financial statements are referred to as special purpose financial
statements. The financial information needs of the intended users will determine the applicable financial reporting
framework in these circumstances. ISA 800 discusses the acceptability of financial reporting frameworks designed to meet
the financial information needs of specific users.'°

Deficiencies in the applicable financial reporting framework that indicate that the framework is not acceptable may be
encountered after the audit engagement has been accepted. When use of that framework is prescribed by law or regulation,
the requirements of paragraphs 19-20 apply. When use of that framework is not prescribed by law or regulation, management

ISA 210

International Standard on Quality Management (ISQM) 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other
Assurance or Related Services Engagements, paragraph 30

ISA 220 (Revised), paragraphs 16-21
International Framework for Assurance Engagements, paragraph 22(b)(ii)

ISA 800 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with Special Purpose Frameworks, paragraph 8
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may decide to adopt another framework that is acceptable. When management does so, as required by paragraph 16, new
terms of the audit engagement are agreed to reflect the change in the framework as the previously agreed terms will no longer
be accurate.

General purpose frameworks

AS8.

At present, there is no objective and authoritative basis that has been generally recognized globally for judging the
acceptability of general purpose frameworks. In the absence of such a basis, financial reporting standards established by
organizations that are authorized or recognized to promulgate standards to be used by certain types of entities are presumed to
be acceptable for general purpose financial statements prepared by such entities, provided the organizations follow an
established and transparent process involving deliberation and consideration of the views of a wide range of stakeholders.
Examples of such financial reporting standards include:

e International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board;

e International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) promulgated by the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board; and

e  Accounting principles promulgated by an authorized or recognized standards setting organization in a particular
jurisdiction, provided the organization follows an established and transparent process involving deliberation and
consideration of the views of a wide range of stakeholders.

These financial reporting standards are often identified as the applicable financial reporting framework in law or regulation
governing the preparation of general purpose financial statements.

Financial reporting frameworks prescribed by law or regulation

A9.

In accordance with paragraph 6(a), the auditor is required to determine whether the financial reporting framework, to be
applied in the preparation of the financial statements, is acceptable. In some jurisdictions, law or regulation may prescribe the
financial reporting framework to be used in the preparation of general purpose financial statements for certain types of
entities. In the absence of indications to the contrary, such a financial reporting framework is presumed to be acceptable for
general purpose financial statements prepared by such entities. In the event that the framework is not considered to be
acceptable, paragraphs 19-20 apply.

Jurisdictions that do not have standards setting organizations or prescribed financial reporting frameworks

A10.

When an entity is registered or operating in a jurisdiction that does not have an authorized or recognized standards setting
organization, or where use of the financial reporting framework is not prescribed by law or regulation, management identifies
a financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial statements. Appendix 2 contains guidance on
determining the acceptability of financial reporting frameworks in such circumstances.

Agreement of the Responsibilities of Management (Ref: Para. 6(b))

All.

Al2.

An audit in accordance with ISAs is conducted on the premise that management has acknowledged and understands that
it has the responsibilities set out in paragraph 6(b).!! In certain jurisdictions, such responsibilities may be specified in
law or regulation. In others, there may be little or no legal or regulatory definition of such responsibilities. ISAs do not
override law or regulation in such matters. However, the concept of an independent audit requires that the auditor’s role
does not involve taking responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements or for the entity’s related internal
control, and that the auditor has a reasonable expectation of obtaining the information necessary for the audit (including
information obtained from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers) in so far as management is able to provide or
procure it. Accordingly, the premise is fundamental to the conduct of an independent audit. To avoid misunderstanding,
agreement is reached with management that it acknowledges and understands that it has such responsibilities as part of
agreeing and recording the terms of the audit engagement in paragraphs 9-12.

The way in which the responsibilities for financial reporting are divided between management and those charged with
governance will vary according to the resources and structure of the entity and any relevant law or regulation, and the respective
roles of management and those charged with governance within the entity. In most cases, management is responsible for
execution while those charged with governance have oversight of management. In some cases, those charged with governance
will have, or will assume, responsibility for approving the financial statements or monitoring the entity’s internal control related
to financial reporting. In larger or public entities, a subgroup of those charged with governance, such as an audit committee, may

" ISA 200, paragraph A4
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be charged with certain oversight responsibilities.

ISA 580 requires the auditor to request management to provide written representations that it has fulfilled certain of its
responsibilities.'? It may therefore be appropriate to make management aware that receipt of such written representations
will be expected, together with written representations required by other ISAs and, where necessary, written representations
to support other audit evidence relevant to the financial statements or one or more specific assertions in the financial
statements.

Where management will not acknowledge its responsibilities, or agree to provide the written representations, the auditor
will be unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.'> In such circumstances, it would not be appropriate for the
auditor to accept the audit engagement, unless law or regulation requires the auditor to do so. In cases where the auditor is
required to accept the audit engagement, the auditor may need to explain to management the importance of these matters,
and the implications for the auditor’s report.

Preparation of the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 6(b)(i))

AlS.

Most financial reporting frameworks include requirements relating to the presentation of the financial statements; for such
frameworks, preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the financial reporting framework includes
presentation. In the case of a fair presentation framework the importance of the reporting objective of fair presentation is
such that the premise agreed with management includes specific reference to fair presentation, or to the responsibility to
ensure that the financial statements will “give a true and fair view” in accordance with the financial reporting framework.

Internal Control (Ref: Para. 6(b)(ii))

Ale.

Al7.

Al8.

Al9.

Management maintains such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Internal control, no matter how effective, can provide
an entity with only reasonable assurance about achieving the entity’s financial reporting objectives due to the inherent
limitations of internal control.'*

An independent audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs does not act as a substitute for the maintenance of internal
control necessary for the preparation of financial statements by management. Accordingly, the auditor is required to obtain
the agreement of management that it acknowledges and understands its responsibility for internal control. However, the
agreement required by paragraph 6(b)(ii) does not imply that the auditor will find that internal control maintained by
management has achieved its purpose or will be free of deficiencies.

It is for management to determine what internal control is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements. The
term “internal control” encompasses a wide range of activities within components of the system of internal control that may
be described as the control environment; the entity’s risk assessment process; the entity’s process to monitor the system of
internal control, the information system, and communication and control activities; This division, however, does not
necessarily reflect how a particular entity may design, implement and maintain its internal control, or how it may classify any
particular component.!> An entity’s internal control (in particular, its accounting books and records, or accounting systems)
will reflect the needs of management, the complexity of the business, the nature of the risks to which the entity is subject, and
relevant laws or regulation.

In some jurisdictions, law or regulation may refer to the responsibility of management for the adequacy of accounting books
and records, or accounting systems. In some cases, general practice may assume a distinction between accounting books and
records or accounting systems on the one hand, and internal control or controls on the other. As accounting books and
records, or accounting systems, are an integral part of internal control as referred to in paragraph A18, no specific reference is
made to them in paragraph 6(b)(ii) for the description of the responsibility of management. To avoid misunderstanding, it
may be appropriate for the auditor to explain to management the scope of this responsibility.

Additional Information (Ref: Para. 6(b)(iii)b)

A20.

Additional information that the auditor may request from management for the purpose of the audit may include when
applicable, matters related to other information in accordance with ISA 720 (Revised). When the auditor expects to obtain

ISA 580, Written Representations, paragraphs 10—11

ISA 580, paragraph A26

ISA 315 (Revised 2019), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement, Appendix 3, paragraph 22
ISA 315 (Revised 2019), paragraph A91 and Appendix 3
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other information after the date of the auditor’s report, the terms of the audit engagement may also acknowledge the auditor’s
responsibilities relating to such other information including, if applicable, the actions that may be appropriate or necessary if
the auditor concludes that a material misstatement of the other information exists in other information obtained after the date
of the auditor’s report.

Considerations Relevant to Smaller Entities (Ref: Para. 6(b))

A21. One of the purposes of agreeing the terms of the audit engagement is to avoid misunderstanding about the respective
responsibilities of management and the auditor. For example, when a third party has assisted with the preparation of the
financial statements, it may be useful to remind management that the preparation of the financial statements in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting framework remains its responsibility.

Agreement on Audit Engagement Terms

Agreeing the Terms of the Audit Engagement (Ref: Para. 9)

A22. The roles of management and those charged with governance in agreeing the terms of the audit engagement for the entity
depend on the governance structure of the entity and relevant law or regulation.

Audit Engagement Letter or Other Form of Written Agreement'® (Ref: Para. 10-11)

A23. Tt is in the interests of both the entity and the auditor that the auditor sends an audit engagement letter before the
commencement of the audit to help avoid misunderstandings with respect to the audit. In some countries, however, the
objective and scope of an audit and the responsibilities of management and of the auditor may be sufficiently established
by law, that is, they prescribe the matters described in paragraph 10. Although in these circumstances paragraph 11
permits the auditor to include in the engagement letter only reference to the fact that relevant law or regulation applies
and that management acknowledges and understands its responsibilities as set out in paragraph 6(b), the auditor may
nevertheless consider it appropriate to include the matters described in paragraph 10 in an engagement letter for the
information of management.

Form and Content of the Audit Engagement Letter

A24. The form and content of the audit engagement letter may vary for each entity. Information included in the audit engagement
letter on the auditor’s responsibilities may be based on ISA 200.!7 Paragraphs 6(b) and 12 of this ISA deal with the
description of the responsibilities of management. In addition to including the matters required by paragraph 10, an audit
engagement letter may make reference to, for example:

e  Elaboration of the scope of the audit, including reference to applicable legislation, regulations, ISAs, and ethical and
other pronouncements of professional bodies to which the auditor adheres.

e  The form of any other communication of results of the audit engagement.

e  The requirement for the auditor to communicate key audit matters in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA 701.'8

e  The fact that because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal
control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is
properly planned and performed in accordance with ISAs.

e  Arrangements regarding the planning and performance of the audit, including the composition of the engagement team.
e  The expectation that management will provide written representations (see also paragraph A13).

e  The expectation that management will provide access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant
to the preparation of the financial statements, including an expectation that management will provide access to
information relevant to disclosures.

e  The agreement of management to make available to the auditor draft financial statements, including all information relevant
to their preparation, whether obtained from within or outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers (including all information

In the paragraphs that follow, any reference to an audit engagement letter is to be taken as a reference to an audit engagement letter or other suitable form of
written agreement.

17 ISA 200, paragraphs 3-9
8 ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report
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relevant to the preparation of disclosures), and the other information,'® if any, in time to allow the auditor to complete the
audit in accordance with the proposed timetable.

e  The agreement of management to inform the auditor of facts that may affect the financial statements, of which
management may become aware during the period from the date of the auditor’s report to the date the financial
statements are issued.

e  The basis on which fees are computed and any billing arrangements.

e  Arequest for management to acknowledge receipt of the audit engagement letter and to agree to the terms of the engagement
outlined therein.

A25. When the auditor is not required to communicate key audit matters, it may be helpful for the auditor to make reference in the
terms of the audit engagement to the possibility of communicating key audit matters in the auditor’s report and, in certain
jurisdictions, it may be necessary for the auditor to include a reference to such possibility in order to retain the ability to do so.

A26. When relevant, the following points could also be made in the audit engagement letter:
e  Arrangements concerning the involvement of other auditors and experts in some aspects of the audit.
e  Arrangements concerning the involvement of internal auditors and other staff of the entity.
e  Arrangements to be made with the predecessor auditor, if any, in the case of an initial audit.

e A reference to, and description of, the auditor’s responsibilities under law, regulation or relevant ethical requirements
that address reporting identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations to an appropriate authority
outside the entity.

e Any restriction of the auditor’s liability when such possibility exists.
e A reference to any further agreements between the auditor and the entity.
e  Any obligations to provide audit working papers to other parties.

An example of an audit engagement letter is set out in Appendix 1.

Audits of Components

A27. When the auditor of a parent entity is also the auditor of a component, the factors that may influence the decision whether to
send a separate audit engagement letter to the component include the following:

e  Who appoints the component auditor;

e  Whether a separate auditor’s report is to be issued on the component;
e  Legal requirements in relation to audit appointments;

e  Degree of ownership by parent; and

e  Degree of independence of the component management from the parent entity.

Responsibilities of Management Prescribed by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 11-12)

A28. If, in the circumstances described in paragraphs A23 and A29, the auditor concludes that it is not necessary to record certain
terms of the audit engagement in an audit engagement letter, the auditor is still required by paragraph 11 to seek the written
agreement from management that it acknowledges and understands that it has the responsibilities set out in paragraph 6(b).
However, in accordance with paragraph 12, such written agreement may use the wording of the law or regulation if such law or
regulation establishes responsibilities for management that are equivalent in effect to those described in paragraph 6(b). The
accounting profession, audit standards setter, or audit regulator in a jurisdiction may have provided guidance as to whether the
description in law or regulation is equivalent.

Considerations specific to public sector entities

A29. Law or regulation governing the operations of public sector audits generally mandate the appointment of a public sector
auditor and commonly set out the public sector auditor’s responsibilities and powers, including the power to access an

19

As defined in ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information
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entity’s records and other information. When law or regulation prescribes in sufficient detail the terms of the audit
engagement, the public sector auditor may nonetheless consider that there are benefits in issuing a fuller audit engagement
letter than permitted by paragraph 11.

Recurring Audits (Ref: Para. 13)

A30. The auditor may decide not to send a new audit engagement letter or other written agreement each period. However, the
following factors may make it appropriate to revise the terms of the audit engagement or to remind the entity of existing
terms:

e  Any indication that the entity misunderstands the objective and scope of the audit.

e  Any revised or special terms of the audit engagement.

e A recent change of senior management.

e A significant change in ownership.

e A significant change in nature or size of the entity’s business.

e A change in legal or regulatory requirements.

e A change in the financial reporting framework adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.

e A change in other reporting requirements.

Acceptance of a Change in the Terms of the Audit Engagement
Request to Change the Terms of the Audit Engagement (Ref: Para. 14)

A31. A request from the entity for the auditor to change the terms of the audit engagement may result from a change in circumstances
affecting the need for the service, a misunderstanding as to the nature of an audit as originally requested or a restriction on the
scope of the audit engagement, whether imposed by management or caused by other circumstances. The auditor, as required by
paragraph 14, considers the justification given for the request, particularly the implications of a restriction on the scope of the
audit engagement.

A32. A change in circumstances that affects the entity’s requirements or a misunderstanding concerning the nature of the service
originally requested may be considered a reasonable basis for requesting a change in the audit engagement.

A33. In contrast, a change may not be considered reasonable if it appears that the change relates to information that is incorrect,
incomplete or otherwise unsatisfactory. An example might be where the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding receivables and the entity asks for the audit engagement to be changed to a review engagement to
avoid a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion.

Request to Change to a Review or a Related Service (Ref: Para. 15)

A34. Before agreeing to change an audit engagement to a review or a related service, an auditor who was engaged to perform an
audit in accordance with ISAs may need to assess, in addition to the matters referred to in paragraphs A31-A33 above, any
legal or contractual implications of the change.

A35. If the auditor concludes that there is reasonable justification to change the audit engagement to a review or a related service,
the audit work performed to the date of change may be relevant to the changed engagement; however, the work required to be
performed and the report to be issued would be those appropriate to the revised engagement. In order to avoid confusing the
reader, the report on the related service would not include reference to:

(a)  The original audit engagement; or

(b)  Any procedures that may have been performed in the original audit engagement, except where the audit engagement is
changed to an engagement to undertake agreed-upon procedures and thus reference to the procedures performed is a
normal part of the report.

Additional Considerations in Engagement Acceptance
Financial Reporting Standards Supplemented by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 18)

A36. In some jurisdictions, law or regulation may supplement the financial reporting standards established by an authorized or
recognized standards setting organization with additional requirements relating to the preparation of financial statements. In
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those jurisdictions, the applicable financial reporting framework for the purposes of applying the ISAs encompasses both the
identified financial reporting framework and such additional requirements provided they do not conflict with the identified
financial reporting framework. This may, for example, be the case when law or regulation prescribes disclosures in addition
to those required by the financial reporting standards or when they narrow the range of acceptable choices that can be made
within the financial reporting standards.?’

Financial Reporting Framework Prescribed by Law or Regulation—Other Matters Affecting Acceptance (Ref: Para. 19)

A37

. Law or regulation may prescribe that the wording of the auditor’s opinion use the phrases “present fairly, in all material
respects” or “give a true and fair view” in a case where the auditor concludes that the applicable financial reporting
framework prescribed by law or regulation would otherwise have been unacceptable. In this case, the terms of the prescribed
wording of the auditor’s report are significantly different from the requirements of ISAs (see paragraph 21).

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 21)

A38.

ISAs require that the auditor shall not represent compliance with ISAs unless the auditor has complied with all of the ISAs
relevant to the audit.?! When law or regulation prescribes the layout or wording of the auditor’s report in a form or in terms
that are significantly different from the requirements of ISAs and the auditor concludes that additional explanation in the
auditor’s report cannot mitigate possible misunderstanding, the auditor may consider including a statement in the auditor’s
report that the audit is not conducted in accordance with ISAs. The auditor is, however, encouraged to apply ISAs, including
the ISAs that address the auditor’s report, to the extent practicable, notwithstanding that the auditor is not permitted to refer to
the audit being conducted in accordance with ISAs.

Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities

A39

. In the public sector, specific requirements may exist within the legislation governing the audit mandate; for example, the
auditor may be required to report directly to a minister, the legislature or the public if the entity attempts to limit the scope of
the audit.

20

21

ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 15, includes a requirement regarding the evaluation of whether the financial statements adequately refer to or describe the
applicable financial reporting framework.

ISA 200, paragraph 20
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Appendix 1
(Ref: Para. A24—-A26)

Example of an Audit Engagement Letter

The following is an example of an audit engagement letter for an audit of general purpose financial statements prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards. This letter is not authoritative but is intended only to be a guide that may be used in
conjunction with the considerations outlined in this ISA. It will need to be varied according to individual requirements and circum-
stances. It is drafted to refer to the audit of financial statements for a single reporting period and would require adaptation if intended or
expected to apply to recurring audits (see paragraph 13). It may be appropriate to seek legal advice that any proposed letter is suitable.

sk

To the appropriate representative of management or those charged with governance of ABC Company:!
[The objective and scope of the audit]

You? have requested that we audit the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
December 31, 20X1, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information. We are pleased to confirm
our acceptance and our understanding of this audit engagement by means of this letter.

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

[The responsibilities of the auditor)

We will conduct our audit in accordance with ISAs. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements. As part of an
audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.> However,
we will communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies in internal control relevant to the audit of the
financial statements that we have identified during the audit.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to

The addressees and references in the letter would be those that are appropriate in the circumstances of the engagement, including the relevant jurisdiction. It is
important to refer to the appropriate persons — see paragraph A22.

2 ELRFTE L) ”

Throughout this letter, references to “you,” “we,” “us,” “management,
appropriate in the circumstances.

those charged with governance” and “auditor” would be used or amended as

This sentence would be modified, as appropriate, in circumstances when the auditor also has responsibility to issue an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements.
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modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, there is an unavoidable risk
that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with
ISAs.

[The responsibilities of management and identification of the applicable financial -reporting framework (for purposes of this ex-
ample it is assumed that the auditor has not determined that the law or regulation prescribes those responsibilities in appropriate
terms; the descriptions in paragraph 6(b) of this ISA are therefore used).]

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that [management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance]* acknowledge
and understand that they have responsibility:

(a) For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards;’

(b)  For such internal control as [management] determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

(c) To provide us with:®

6) Access to all information of which [management] is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
such as records, documentation and other matters;

(il)  Additional information that we may request from [management] for the purpose of the audit; and
(iii)  Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

As part of our audit process, we will request from [management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance], written
confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the audit.

We look forward to full cooperation from your staff during our audit.
[Other relevant information)

[Insert other information, such as fee arrangements, billings and other specific terms, as appropriate.]

[Reporting]

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the auditor’s report including, if applicable, the reporting on other
information in accordance with ISA 720 (Revised).]

The form and content of our report may need to be amended in the light of our audit findings.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of, and agreement with, the arrangements

for our audit of the financial statements including our respective responsibilities.

XYZ & Co.

Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of ABC Company by
(signed)

Name and Title

Date

4 Use terminology as appropriate in the circumstances.

Or, if appropriate, “For the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.”

6 See paragraph A24 for examples of other matters relating to management’s responsibilities that may be included.
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Appendix 2
(Ref: Para. A10)

Determining the Acceptability of General Purpose Frameworks

Jurisdictions that Do Not Have Authorized or Recognized Standards Setting Organizations or Financial Reporting
Frameworks Prescribed by Law or -Regulation

1.

As explained in paragraph A10 of this ISA, when an entity is registered or operating in a jurisdiction that does not have an
authorized or recognized standards setting organization, or where use of the financial reporting framework is not prescribed
by law or regulation, management identifies an applicable financial reporting framework. Practice in such jurisdictions is
often to use the financial reporting standards established by one of the organizations described in paragraph A8 of this ISA.

Alternatively, there may be established accounting conventions in a particular jurisdiction that are generally recognized as
the financial reporting framework for general purpose financial statements prepared by certain specified entities operating in
that jurisdiction. When such a financial reporting framework is adopted, the auditor is required by paragraph 6(a) of this ISA
to determine whether the accounting conventions collectively can be considered to constitute an acceptable financial
reporting framework for general purpose financial statements. When the accounting conventions are widely used in a
particular jurisdiction, the accounting profession in that jurisdiction may have considered the acceptability of the financial
reporting framework on behalf of the auditors. Alternatively, the auditor may make this determination by considering
whether the accounting conventions exhibit attributes normally exhibited by acceptable financial reporting frameworks (see
paragraph 3 below), or by comparing the accounting conventions to the requirements of an existing financial reporting
framework considered to be acceptable (see paragraph 4 below).

Acceptable financial reporting frameworks normally exhibit the following attributes that result in information provided in
financial statements that is useful to the intended users:

(a)  Relevance, in that the information provided in the financial statements is relevant to the nature of the entity and the purpose
of the financial statements. For example, in the case of a business enterprise that prepares general purpose financial
statements, relevance is assessed in terms of the information necessary to meet the common financial information needs of a
wide range of users in making economic decisions. These needs are ordinarily met by presenting the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of the business enterprise.

(b)  Completeness, in that transactions and events, account balances and disclosures that could affect conclusions based on
the financial statements are not omitted.

(¢)  Reliability, in that the information provided in the financial statements:

(1)  Where applicable, reflects the economic substance of events and transactions and not merely their legal form;
and

(1)  Results in reasonably consistent evaluation, measurement, presentation and disclosure, when used in similar
circumstances.

(d)  Neutrality, in that it contributes to information in the financial statements that is free from bias.

(e)  Understandability, in that the information in the financial statements is clear and comprehensive and not subject to
significantly different interpretation.

The auditor may decide to compare the accounting conventions to the requirements of an existing financial reporting
framework considered to be acceptable. For example, the auditor may compare the accounting conventions to IFRSs. For an
audit of a small entity, the auditor may decide to compare the accounting conventions to a financial reporting framework
specifically developed for such entities by an authorized or recognized standards setting organization. When the auditor
makes such a comparison and differences are identified, the decision as to whether the accounting conventions adopted in the
preparation of the financial statements constitute an acceptable financial reporting framework includes considering the
reasons for the differences and whether application of the accounting conventions, or the description of the financial
reporting framework in the financial statements, could result in financial statements that are misleading.

A conglomeration of accounting conventions devised to suit individual preferences is not an acceptable financial reporting
framework for general purpose financial statements. Similarly, a compliance framework will not be an acceptable financial
reporting framework, unless it is generally accepted in the particular jurisdictions by preparers and users.
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International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 220, (Revised) Quality Management for an Audit of Financial Statements, should be
read in conjunction with ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance
with International Standards on Auditing.
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Introduction
Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the specific responsibilities of the auditor regarding quality
management at the engagement level for an audit of financial statements, and the related responsibilities of the engagement
partner. This ISA is to be read in conjunction with relevant ethical requirements. (Ref: Para. A1, A38)

The Firm’s System of Quality Management and Role of Engagement Teams

2. Under ISQM 1, the objective of the firm is to design, implement and operate a system of quality management for audits or
reviews of financial statements, or other assurance or related services engagements performed by the firm, that provides the
firm with reasonable assurance that: (Ref: Para. A13—A14)

(@)  The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance with such standards and requirements; and

(b)  Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the circumstances.'

3. This ISA is premised on the basis that the firm is subject to the ISQMs or to national requirements that are at least as
demanding. (Ref: Para. A2-A3)

4. The engagement team, led by the engagement partner, is responsible, within the context of the firm’s system of quality
management and through complying with the requirements of this ISA, for: (Ref: Para. A4-Al1)

(a)  Implementing the firm’s responses to quality risks (i.e., the firm’s policies or procedures) that are applicable to the
audit engagement using information communicated by, or obtained from, the firm;

(b)  Given the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement, determining whether to design and implement responses
at the engagement level beyond those in the firm’s policies or procedures; and

(c)  Communicating to the firm information from the audit engagement that is required to be communicated by the firm’s
policies or procedures to support the design, implementation and operation of the firm’s system of quality
management.

5. Complying with the requirements in other ISAs may provide information that is relevant to quality management at the
engagement level. (Ref: Para. A12)

6. The public interest is served by the consistent performance of quality audit engagements through achieving the objective of
this standard and other ISAs for each engagement. A quality audit engagement is achieved through planning and performing
the engagement and reporting on it in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements. Achieving the objectives of those standards and complying with the requirements of applicable law or
regulation involves exercising professional judgment and exercising professional skepticism.

7. In accordance with ISA 200,? the engagement team is required to plan and perform an audit with professional skepticism and
to exercise professional judgment. Professional judgment is exercised in making informed decisions about the courses of
action that are appropriate to manage and achieve quality given the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement.
Professional skepticism supports the quality of judgments made by the engagement team and, through these judgments,
supports the overall effectiveness of the engagement team in achieving quality at the engagement level. The appropriate
exercise of professional skepticism may be demonstrated through the actions and communications of the engagement team.
Such actions and communications may include specific steps to mitigate impediments that may impair the appropriate exercise
of professional skepticism, such as unconscious bias or resource constraints. (Ref: Para. A33—A36)

Scalability
8. The requirements of this ISA are intended to be applied in the context of the nature and circumstances of each audit. For
example:

(a)  When an audit is carried out entirely by the engagement partner, which may be the case for an audit of a less complex
entity, some requirements in this ISA are not relevant because they are conditional on the involvement of other

! ISQM 1, paragraph 14

2 ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing, paragraphs 15—
16 and A20-A24
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members of the engagement team. (Ref: Para. A13—-A14)

(b)  When an audit is not carried out entirely by the engagement partner or in an audit of an entity whose nature and
circumstances are more complex, the engagement partner may assign the design or performance of some procedures,
tasks or actions to other members of the engagement team.

The Engagement Partner’s Responsibilities

9. The engagement partner remains ultimately responsible, and therefore accountable, for compliance with the requirements of
this ISA. The term “the engagement partner shall take responsibility for...” is used for those requirements that the
engagement partner is permitted to assign the design or performance of procedures, tasks or actions to appropriately skilled
or suitably experienced members of the engagement team. For other requirements, this ISA expressly intends that the
requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner and the engagement partner may obtain information
from the firm or other members of the engagement team. (Ref: Para. A22—-A25)

Effective Date

10.  This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2022.

Objective

11.  The objective of the auditor is to manage quality at the engagement level to obtain reasonable assurance that quality has been
achieved such that:

(a)  The auditor has fulfilled the auditor’s responsibilities, and has conducted the audit, in accordance with professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements; and

(b)  The auditor’s report issued is appropriate in the circumstances.

Definitions
12.  For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(a) Engagement partner’ — The partner or other individual, appointed by the firm, who is responsible for the audit
engagement and its performance, and for the auditor’s report that is issued on behalf of the firm, and who, where
required, has the appropriate authority from a professional, legal or regulatory body.

(b)  Engagement quality review — An objective evaluation of the significant judgments made by the engagement team and
the conclusions reached thereon, performed by the engagement quality reviewer and completed on or before the date
of the engagement report.

(c)  Engagement quality reviewer — A partner, other individual in the firm, or an external individual, appointed by the firm
to perform the engagement quality review.

(d)  Engagement team — All partners and staff performing the audit engagement, and any other individuals who perform
audit procedures on the engagement, excluding an auditor’s external expert* and internal auditors who provide direct
assistance on an engagement.’ (Ref: Para. A15-A25)

(e)  Firm — A sole practitioner, partnership or corporation or other entity of professional accountants, or public sector
equivalent. (Ref: Para. A26)

()  Network firm — A firm or entity that belongs to the firm’s network. (Ref: Para. A27)
(g)  Network— A larger structure: (Ref: Para. A27)
(i) That is aimed at cooperation, and

(i1)  That is clearly aimed at profit or cost-sharing or shares common ownership, control or management, common
quality management policies or procedures, common business strategy, the use of a common brand name, or a
significant part of professional resources.

” <

“Engagement partner,” “partner,” and “firm” is to be read as referring to their public sector equivalents where relevant.
ISA 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Expert, paragraph 6(a), defines the term “auditor’s expert.”

ISA 610 (Revised 2013), Using the Work of Internal Auditors, establishes limits on the use of direct assistance. It also acknowledges that the external auditor
may be prohibited by law or regulation from obtaining direct assistance from internal auditors. Therefore, the use of direct assistance is restricted to situations
where it is permitted.
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(h)  Partner — Any individual with authority to bind the firm with respect to the performance of a professional services
engagement.

(i) Personnel — Partners and staff in the firm.
)] Professional standards — International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and relevant ethical requirements.

(k)  Relevant ethical requirements — Principles of professional ethics and ethical requirements that are applicable to
professional accountants when undertaking the audit engagement. Relevant ethical requirements ordinarily comprise
the provisions of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) related to audits of
financial statements, together with national requirements that are more restrictive.

Q) Response (in relation to a system of quality management) — Policies or procedures designed and implemented by the
firm to address one or more quality risk(s):

(1) Policies are statements of what should, or should not, be done to address a quality risk(s). Such statements may
be documented, explicitly stated in communications or implied through actions and decisions.

(ii))  Procedures are actions to implement policies.

(m)  Staff — Professionals, other than partners, including any experts the firm employs.

Requirements

Leadership Responsibilities for Managing and Achieving Quality on Audits

13.

14.

15.

The engagement partner shall take overall responsibility for managing and achieving quality on the audit engagement,
including taking responsibility for creating an environment for the engagement that emphasizes the firm’s culture and
expected behavior of engagement team members. In doing so, the engagement partner shall be sufficiently and appropriately
involved throughout the audit engagement such that the engagement partner has the basis for determining whether the
significant judgments made, and the conclusions reached, are appropriate given the nature and circumstances of the
engagement. (Ref: Para. A28—A37)

In creating the environment described in paragraph 13, the engagement partner shall take responsibility for clear, consistent
and effective actions being taken that reflect the firm’s commitment to quality and establish and communicate the expected
behavior of engagement team members, including emphasizing: (Ref: Para. A30-A34)

(a)  That all engagement team members are responsible for contributing to the management and achievement of quality at
the engagement level;

(b)  The importance of professional ethics, values and attitudes to the members of the engagement team;

(c)  The importance of open and robust communication within the engagement team, and supporting the ability of
engagement team members to raise concerns without fear of reprisal; and

(d) The importance of each engagement team member exercising professional skepticism throughout the audit
engagement.

If the engagement partner assigns the design or performance of procedures, tasks or actions related to a requirement of this
ISA to other members of the engagement team to assist the engagement partner in complying with the requirements of this
ISA, the engagement partner shall continue to take overall responsibility for managing and achieving quality on the audit
engagement through direction and supervision of those members of the engagement team, and review of their work. (Ref:
Para. 9, A37)

Relevant Ethical Requirements, Including Those Related to Independence

16.

17.

The engagement partner shall have an understanding of the relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence, that are applicable given the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement. (Ref: Para. A38—-A42, A48)

The engagement partner shall take responsibility for other members of the engagement team having been made aware of
relevant ethical requirements that are applicable given the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement, and the firm’s
related policies or procedures, including those that address: (Ref: Para. A23—-A25, A40-A44)

(a)  Identifying, evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with relevant ethical requirements, including those
related to independence;
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(b)  Circumstances that may cause a breach of relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence, and
the responsibilities of members of the engagement team when they become aware of breaches; and

(c)  The responsibilities of members of the engagement team when they become aware of an instance of noncompliance
with laws and regulations by the entity.°

If matters come to the engagement partner’s attention that indicate that a threat to compliance with relevant ethical
requirements exists, the engagement partner shall evaluate the threat through complying with the firm’s policies or procedures,
using relevant information from the firm, the engagement team or other sources, and take appropriate action. (Ref: Para. A43—
A44)

The engagement partner shall remain alert throughout the audit engagement, through observation and making inquiries as
necessary, for breaches of relevant ethical requirements or the firm’s related policies or procedures by members of the
engagement team. (Ref: Para. A45)

If matters come to the engagement partner’s attention through the firm’s system of quality management, or from other
sources, that indicate that relevant ethical requirements applicable to the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement
have not been fulfilled, the engagement partner, in consultation with others in the firm, shall take appropriate action. (Ref:
Para. A46)

Prior to dating the auditor’s report, the engagement partner shall take responsibility for determining whether relevant ethical
requirements, including those related to independence, have been fulfilled. (Ref: Para. A38 and A47)

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Audit Engagements

22.

23.

24.

The engagement partner shall determine that the firm’s policies or procedures for the acceptance and continuance of client
relationships and audit engagements have been followed, and that conclusions reached in this regard are appropriate. (Ref:
Para. A49-A52, A58)

The engagement partner shall take into account information obtained in the acceptance and continuance process in planning
and performing the audit engagement in accordance with the ISAs and complying with the requirements of this ISA. (Ref:
Para. A53-A56)

If the engagement team becomes aware of information that may have caused the firm to decline the audit engagement had
that information been known by the firm prior to accepting or continuing the client relationship or specific engagement, the
engagement partner shall communicate that information promptly to the firm, so that the firm and the engagement partner can
take the necessary action. (Ref: Para. A57)

Engagement Resources

25.

26.

27.

28.

The engagement partner shall determine that sufficient and appropriate resources to perform the engagement are assigned or
made available to the engagement team in a timely manner, taking into account the nature and circumstances of the audit
engagement, the firm’s policies or procedures, and any changes that may arise during the engagement. (Ref: Para. A59—A70,
A73-A74, A79)

The engagement partner shall determine that members of the engagement team, and any auditor’s external experts and
internal auditors who provide direct assistance who are not part of the engagement team, collectively have the appropriate
competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform the audit engagement. (Ref: Para. A62, A71-A74)

If, as a result of complying with the requirements in paragraphs 25 and 26, the engagement partner determines that resources
assigned or made available are insufficient or inappropriate in the circumstances of the audit engagement, the engagement
partner shall take appropriate action, including communicating with appropriate individuals about the need to assign or make
available additional or alternative resources to the engagement. (Ref: Para. A75-A78)

The engagement partner shall take responsibility for using the resources assigned or made available to the engagement team
appropriately, given the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement. (Ref: Para. A63—-A69)

Engagement Performance

Direction, Supervision and Review

29.

The engagement partner shall take responsibility for the direction and supervision of the members of the engagement team

6

ISA 250 (Revised), Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements
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and the review of their work. (Ref: Para. A80)

30. The engagement partner shall determine that the nature, timing and extent of direction, supervision and review is: (Ref: Para.
A81-A89, A94-A97)

(a)  Planned’ and performed in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures, professional standards and applicable
legal and regulatory requirements; and

(b)  Responsive to the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement and the resources assigned or made available to
the engagement team by the firm.

31. The engagement partner shall review audit documentation at appropriate points in time during the audit engagement,
including audit documentation relating to: (Ref: Para. A90—A93)

(a)  Significant matters;®

(b)  Significant judgments, including those relating to difficult or contentious matters identified during the audit
engagement, and the conclusions reached; and

(c)  Other matters that, in the engagement partner’s professional judgment, are relevant to the engagement partner’s
responsibilities.

32.  On or before the date of the auditor’s report, the engagement partner shall determine, through review of audit documentation
and discussion with the engagement team, that sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to support the
conclusions reached and for the auditor’s report to be issued. (Ref: Para. A90—-A94)

33.  Prior to dating the auditor’s report, the engagement partner shall review the financial statements and the auditor’s report,
including, if applicable, the description of the key audit matters’ and related audit documentation, to determine that the
report to be issued will be appropriate in the circumstances.'’

34.  The engagement partner shall review, prior to their issuance, formal written communications to management, those charged
with governance or regulatory authorities. (Ref: Para. A98)

Consultation
35.  The engagement partner shall: (Ref: Para. A99-A102)
(a)  Take responsibility for the engagement team undertaking consultation on:

(1) Difficult or contentious matters and matters on which the firm’s policies or procedures require consultation;
and

(i)  Other matters that, in the engagement partner’s professional judgment, require consultation;

(b)  Determine that members of the engagement team have undertaken appropriate consultation during the audit
engagement, both within the engagement team, and between the engagement team and others at the appropriate level
within or outside the firm;

(¢)  Determine that the nature and scope of, and conclusions resulting from, such consultations are agreed with the party
consulted; and

(d)  Determine that conclusions agreed have been implemented.

Engagement Quality Review
36.  For audit engagements for which an engagement quality review is required, the engagement partner shall: (Ref: Para. A103)
(a)  Determine that an engagement quality reviewer has been appointed;

(b)  Cooperate with the engagement quality reviewer and inform other members of the engagement team of their
responsibility to do so;

ISA 300, Planning an Audit of Financial Statements, paragraph 9
8 ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraph 8(c)
° ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report

ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements or ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent
Auditor’s Report
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(c)  Discuss significant matters and significant judgments arising during the audit engagement, including those identified
during the engagement quality review, with the engagement quality reviewer; and

(d)  Not date the auditor’s report until the completion of the engagement quality review. (Ref: Para. A104—A106)
Differences of Opinion

37.  If differences of opinion arise within the engagement team, or between the engagement team and the engagement quality
reviewer or individuals performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management, including those who provide
consultation, the engagement team shall follow the firm’s policies or procedures for dealing with and resolving such
differences of opinion. (Ref: Para. A107-A108)

38.  The engagement partner shall:

(a)  Take responsibility for differences of opinion being addressed and resolved in accordance with the firm’s policies or
procedures;

(b)  Determine that conclusions reached are documented and implemented; and

(c)  Not date the auditor’s report until any differences of opinion are resolved.

Monitoring and Remediation
39.  The engagement partner shall take responsibility for: (Ref: Para. A109-A112)

(a)  Obtaining an understanding of the information from the firm’s monitoring and remediation process, as communicated
by the firm including, as applicable, the information from the monitoring and remediation process of the network and
across the network firms;

(b)  Determining the relevance and effect on the audit engagement of the information referred to in paragraph 39(a) and
take appropriate action; and

(c)  Remaining alert throughout the audit engagement for information that may be relevant to the firm’s monitoring and
remediation process and communicate such information to those responsible for the process.

Taking Overall Responsibility for Managing and Achieving Quality

40.  Prior to dating the auditor’s report, the engagement partner shall determine that the engagement partner has taken overall
responsibility for managing and achieving quality on the audit engagement. In doing so, the engagement partner shall
determine that: (Ref: Para. A113—-A116)

(a)  The engagement partner’s involvement has been sufficient and appropriate throughout the audit engagement such that
the engagement partner has the basis for determining that the significant judgments made and the conclusions reached
are appropriate given the nature and circumstances of the engagement; and

(b)  The nature and circumstances of the audit engagement, any changes thereto, and the firm’s related policies or
procedures have been taken into account in complying with the requirements of this ISA.

Documentation
41.  Inapplying ISA 230, the auditor shall include in the audit documentation: (Ref: Para. A117-A120)
(a)  Matters identified, relevant discussions with personnel, and conclusions reached with respect to:

(1) Fulfillment of responsibilities relating to relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence.

(i1))  The acceptance and continuance of the client relationship and audit engagement.

(b)  The nature and scope of, and conclusions resulting from, consultations undertaken during the audit engagement and
how such conclusions were implemented.

(c)  If the audit engagement is subject to an engagement quality review, that the engagement quality review has been
completed on or before the date of the auditor’s report.

" ISA 230, paragraphs 811 and A6
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skokok

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Scope of this ISA (Ref: Para. 1)

Al. This ISA applies to all audits of financial statements, including audits of group financial statements. ISA 600'% deals with
special considerations that apply to an audit of group financial statements and when component auditors are involved. ISA
600, adapted as necessary in the circumstances, may also be useful in an audit of financial statements when the engagement
team includes individuals from another firm. For example, ISA 600 may be useful when involving such an individual to
attend a physical inventory count, inspect property, plant and equipment, or perform audit procedures at a shared service
center at a remote location.

The Firm’s System of Quality Management and Role of Engagement Teams (Ref: Para. 2-9)

A2. ISQM 1 deals with a firm’s responsibilities for designing, implementing and operating its system of quality management.

A3. Firms or national requirements may use different terminology or frameworks to describe the components of the system of
quality management. National requirements that deal with the firm’s responsibilities to design, implement and operate a system of
quality management are at least as demanding as ISQM 1 when they address the requirements of ISQM 1 and impose obligations on
the firm to achieve the objective of ISQM 1.

The Engagement Team’s Responsibilities Relating to the Firm’s System of Quality Management (Ref: Para. 4)

A4. Quality management at the engagement level is supported by the firm’s system of quality management and informed by the
specific nature and circumstances of the audit engagement. In accordance with ISQM 1, the firm is responsible for communicating
information that enables the engagement team to understand and carry out their responsibilities relating to performing
engagements. For example, such communications may cover policies or procedures to undertake consultations with designated
individuals in certain situations involving complex technical or ethical matters, or to involve firm-designated experts in specific
engagements to perform audit procedures related to particular matters (e.g., the firm may specify that firm-designated credit experts
are to be involved in auditing expected credit loss allowances in audits of financial institutions).

AS.  Firm-level responses may include policies or procedures established by a network, or by other firms, structures or organizations
within the same network (network requirements or network services are described further in ISQM 1 within the “Network
Requirements or Network Services” section).!> The requirements of this ISA are based on the premise that the firm is
responsible for taking the necessary action to enable engagement teams to implement or use network requirements or
network services on the audit engagement (for example, a requirement to use an audit methodology developed for use by a
network firm). Under ISQM 1, the firm is responsible for determining how network requirements or network services are
relevant to, and are taken into account in, the firm’s system of quality management.'

A6. Some firm-level responses to quality risks are not performed at the engagement level but are nevertheless relevant when
complying with the requirements of this ISA. For example, firm-level responses that the engagement team may be able to
depend on when complying with the requirements of this ISA include:

. Personnel recruitment and professional training processes;
. The information technology (IT) applications that support the firm’s monitoring of independence;
. The development of IT applications that support the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and audit

engagements; and
. The development of audit methodologies and related implementation tools and guidance.

A7. Due to the specific nature and circumstances of each audit engagement and changes that may occur during the audit
engagement, a firm cannot identify all quality risks that may arise at the engagement level or set forth all relevant and
appropriate responses. Accordingly, the engagement team exercises professional judgment in determining whether to design and
implement responses, beyond those set forth in the firm’s policies or procedures, at the engagement level to meet the objective of this
ISA.15

12 ISA 600, Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
13 ISQM 1, paragraph 49(b)
4 ISQM 1, paragraph 49(a)

ISA 200 requires the auditor to exercise professional judgment in planning and performing an audit of financial statements.
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The engagement team’s determination of whether engagement level responses are necessary (and, if so, what those responses
are) is influenced by the requirements of this ISA, the engagement team’s understanding of the nature and circumstances of
the engagement and any changes during the audit engagement. For example, unanticipated circumstances may arise during
the engagement that may cause the engagement partner to request the involvement of appropriately experienced personnel in
addition to those initially assigned or made available.

The relative balance of the engagement team’s efforts to comply with the requirements of this ISA (i.e., between
implementing the firm’s responses and designing and implementing engagement specific responses beyond those set forth in
the firm’s policies or procedures) may vary. For example, the firm may design an audit program to be used in circumstances
that are applicable to the audit engagement (e.g., an industry-specific audit program). Other than determining the timing and
extent of procedures to be performed, there may be little or no need for supplemental audit procedures to be added to the audit
program at the engagement level. Alternatively, the engagement team’s actions in complying with the engagement
performance requirements of this ISA may be more focused on designing and implementing responses at the engagement
level to deal with the specific nature and circumstances of the engagement (e.g., planning and performing procedures to
address risks of material misstatement not contemplated by the firm’s audit programs).

Ordinarily, the engagement team may depend on the firm’s policies or procedures in complying with the requirements of this
ISA, unless:

. The engagement team’s understanding or practical experience indicates that the firm’s policies or procedures will not
effectively address the nature and circumstances of the engagement; or

. Information provided by the firm or other parties, about the effectiveness of such policies or procedures suggests
otherwise (e.g., information provided by the firm’s monitoring activities, external inspections or other relevant
sources, indicates that the firm’s policies or procedures are not operating effectively).

If the engagement partner becomes aware (including through being informed by other members of the engagement team) that
the firm’s responses to quality risks are ineffective in the context of the specific engagement or the engagement partner is
unable to depend on the firm’s policies or procedures, the engagement partner communicates such information promptly to the firm
in accordance with paragraph 39(c) as such information is relevant to the firm’s monitoring and remediation process. For
example, if an engagement team member identifies that an audit software program has a security weakness, timely
communication of such information to the appropriate personnel enables the firm to take steps to update and reissue the audit
program. See also paragraph A70 in respect of sufficient and appropriate resources.

Information Relevant to Quality Management at the Engagement Level (Ref: Para. 6)

Al2.

Complying with the requirements in other ISAs may provide information that is relevant to quality management at the
engagement level. For example, the understanding of the entity and its environment required to be obtained under ISA 315
(Revised 2019)'¢ provides information that may be relevant to complying with the requirements of this ISA. Such
information may be relevant to the determination of:

. The nature of resources to deploy for specific audit areas, such as the use of appropriately experienced team members
for high risk areas, or the involvement of experts to deal with complex matters;

. The amount of resources to allocate to specific audit areas, such as the number of team members assigned to attend the
physical inventory count at multiple locations;

. The nature, timing and extent of review of the work performed by members of the team based on the assessed risks of
material misstatement; or

. The allocation of the budgeted audit hours, including allocating more time, and the time of more_experienced
engagement team members to those areas where there are more risks of material misstatement or the identified risks
are assessed as higher.

Scalability (Ref: Para. 2, 8)

Al3.

In a smaller firm, the firm’s policies or procedures may designate an engagement partner, on behalf of the firm, to design
many of the responses to the firm’s quality risks, as doing so may be a more effective approach to designing and
implementing responses as part of the firm’s system of quality management. Additionally, a smaller firm’s policies or
procedures may be less formal. For example, in a very small firm with a relatively small number of audit engagements, the firm

16

ISA 315 (Revised 2019), Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement
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may determine that there is no need to establish a firm-wide system to monitor independence, and rather, independence will
be monitored at the individual engagement level by the engagement partner.

Al4. The requirements relating to direction, supervision and review of the work of other members of the engagement team are
only relevant if there are members of the engagement team other than the engagement partner.

Definitions
Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 12(d))

Al5. The engagement team may be organized in a variety of ways. For example, engagement team members may be located
together or across different geographic locations and may be organized in groups by the activity they are performing.
Regardless of how the engagement team is organized, any individual who performs audit procedures'’ on the audit
engagement is a member of the engagement team.

A16. The definition of an engagement team focuses on individuals who perform audit procedures on the audit engagement. Audit
evidence, which is necessary to support the auditor’s opinion and report, is primarily obtained from audit procedures
performed during the course of the audit.'® Audit procedures comprise risk assessment procedures'® and further audit
procedures.?’ As explained in ISA 500, audit procedures include inspection, observation, confirmation, recalculation,
reperformance, analytical procedures and inquiry, often performed in some combination.?! Other ISAs may also include
specific procedures to obtain audit evidence, for example, ISA 520.2

Al7. Engagement teams include personnel and may also include other individuals who perform audit procedures who are from:
(a) A network firm; or
(b) A firm that is not a network firm, or another service provider.?

For example, an individual from another firm may perform audit procedures on the financial information of a component in a
group audit engagement, attend a physical inventory count or inspect physical fixed assets at a remote location.

A18. Engagement teams may also include individuals from service delivery centers who perform audit procedures. For example, it
may be determined that specific tasks that are repetitive or specialized in nature will be performed by a group of appropriately
skilled personnel and the engagement team therefore includes such individuals. Service delivery centers may be established
by the firm, the network, or by other firms, structures or organizations within the same network. For example, a centralized
function may be used to facilitate external confirmation procedures.

A19. Engagement teams may include individuals with expertise in a specialized area of accounting or auditing who perform audit
procedures on the audit engagement, for example, individuals with expertise in accounting for income taxes, or in analyzing
complex information produced by automated tools and techniques for the purpose of identifying unusual or unexpected
relationships. An individual is not a member of the engagement team if that individual’s involvement with the engagement is
limited to consultation. Consultations are addressed in paragraphs 35 and A99—A102.

A20. If the audit engagement is subject to an engagement quality review, the engagement quality reviewer, and any other
individuals performing the engagement quality review, are not members of the engagement team. Such individuals may be
subject to specific independence requirements.

A21. An internal auditor providing direct assistance and an auditor’s external expert whose work is used in the engagement are not
members of the engagement team.>* ISA 610 (Revised) 2013 and ISA 620 provide requirements and guidance for the auditor
when using the work of internal auditors in a direct assistance capacity or when using the work of an external expert,
respectively. Compliance with these ISAs requires the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the work
performed by an internal auditor providing direct assistance and perform audit procedures on the work of an auditor’s expert.

17" ISA 500, Audit Evidence, paragraph A10

18 ISA 200, paragraph A30

ISA 315 (Revised 2019) provides requirements related to risk assessment procedures.
2 ISA 330, The Auditor’s Responses to Assessed Risks, provides requirements related to further audit procedures, including tests of controls and substantive
procedures.

21 ISA 500, paragraphs A14-A25

2 ISA 520, Analytical Procedures

3 ISQM 1, paragraph 16(v)

2 See ISA 620, paragraphs 12—13 and ISA 610 (Revised 2013), paragraphs 21-25.

141 ISA 220 (REVISED)



QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Engagement Partner’s Responsibilities (Ref: Para. 9, 12(d))

A22. When this ISA expressly intends that a requirement or responsibility be fulfilled by the engagement partner, the engagement
partner may need to obtain information from the firm or other members of the engagement team to fulfil the requirement
(e.g., information to make the required decision or judgment). For example, the engagement partner is required to determine
that members of the engagement team collectively have the appropriate competence and capabilities to perform the audit
engagement. To make a judgment on whether the competence and capabilities of the engagement team is appropriate, the
engagement partner may need to use information compiled by the engagement team or from the firm’s system of quality
management.

The Application of Firm Policies or Procedures by Members of the Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 9, 12(d),17)

A23. Within the context of the firm’s system of quality management, engagement team members from the firm are responsible for
implementing the firm’s policies or procedures that are applicable to the audit engagement. As engagement team members
from another firm are neither partners nor staff of the engagement partner’s firm, they may not be subject to the firm’s system
of quality management or the firm’s policies or procedures. Further, the policies or procedures of another firm may not be
similar to that of the engagement partner’s firm. For example, policies or procedures regarding direction, supervision and
review may be different, particularly when the other firm is in a jurisdiction with a different legal system, language or culture
than that of the engagement partner’s firm. Accordingly, if the engagement team includes individuals who are from another
firm, different actions may need to be taken by the firm or the engagement partner to implement the firm’s policies or
procedures in respect of the work of those individuals.

A24. In particular, the firm’s policies or procedures may require the firm or the engagement partner to take different actions from
those applicable to personnel when obtaining an understanding of whether an individual from another firm:

. Has the appropriate competence and capabilities to perform the audit engagement. For example, the individual would
not be subject to the firm’s recruitment and training processes and therefore the firm’s policies or procedures may state
that this determination can be made through other actions such as obtaining information from the other firm or a
licensing or registration body. Paragraphs 19 and A38 of ISA 600 contain guidance on obtaining an understanding of
the competence and capabilities of component auditors.

. Understands the ethical requirements that are relevant to the group audit engagement. For example, the individual
would not be subject to the firm’s training in respect of the firm’s policies or procedures for relevant ethical
requirements. The firm’s policies or procedures may state that this understanding is obtained through other actions
such as providing information, manuals, or guides containing the provisions of the relevant ethical requirements
applicable to the audit engagement to the individual.

. Will confirm independence. For example, individuals who are not personnel may not be able to complete
independence declarations directly on the firm’s independence systems. The firm’s policies or procedures may state
that such individuals can provide evidence of their independence in relation to the audit engagement in other ways,
such as written confirmation.

A25. When firm policies or procedures require specific activities to be undertaken in certain circumstances (e.g., consultation on a
particular matter), it may be necessary for the firm’s related policies or procedures to be communicated to individuals who
are not personnel. Such individuals are then able to alert the engagement partner if the circumstance arises, and this enables
the engagement partner to comply with the firm’s policies or procedures. For example, in a group audit engagement, if a
component auditor is performing audit procedures on the financial information of a component and identifies a difficult or
contentious matter that is relevant to the group financial statements and subject to consultation?® under the group auditor’s
policies or procedures, the component auditor is able to alert the group engagement team about the matter.

Firm (Ref: Para. 12(e))

A26. The definition of “firm” in relevant ethical requirements may differ from the definition set out in this ISA.

“Network” and “Network Firm” (Ref: Para. 12(f)-12(g))

A27. The definitions of “network™ or “network firm” in relevant ethical requirements may differ from those set out in this ISA. The
IESBA Code also provides guidance in relation to the terms “network” and “network firm.” Networks and the other network
firms may be structured in a variety of ways, and are in all cases external to the firm. The provisions in this ISA in relation to
networks also apply to any structures or organizations that do not form part of the firm, but that exist within the network.

25

See paragraph 35.
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Leadership Responsibilities for Managing and Achieving Quality on Audits (Ref: Para. 13-15)

Taking Overall Responsibility for Managing and Achieving Quality

A28.

ISQM 1 requires the firm to establish quality objectives that address the firm’s governance and leadership that supports the
design, implementation and operation of the system of quality management. The engagement partner’s responsibility for
managing and achieving quality is supported by a firm culture that demonstrates a commitment to quality. In addressing the
requirements in paragraphs 13 and 14 of this ISA, the engagement partner may communicate directly to other members of the
engagement team and reinforce this communication through personal conduct and actions (e.g., leading by example). A
culture that demonstrates a commitment to quality is further shaped and reinforced by the engagement team members as they
demonstrate expected behaviors when performing the engagement.

Scalability

A29.

The nature and extent of the actions of the engagement partner to demonstrate the firm’s commitment to quality may depend
on a variety of factors including the size, structure, geographical dispersion and complexity of the firm and the engagement
team, and the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement. With a smaller engagement team with few engagement team
members, influencing the desired culture through direct interaction and conduct may be sufficient, whereas for a larger
engagement team that is dispersed over many locations, more formal communications may be necessary.

Sufficient and Appropriate Involvement

A30. Being sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout the audit engagement may be demonstrated by the engagement
partner in different ways, including:
° Taking responsibility for the nature, timing and extent of the direction and supervision of the members of the
engagement team, and the review of their work in complying with the requirements of this ISA; and
. Varying the nature, timing and extent of such direction, supervision and review in the context of the nature and
circumstances of the engagement.
Communication

A31. Communication is the means through which the engagement team shares relevant information on a timely basis to comply with the

A32.

requirements of this ISA, thereby contributing to the achievement of quality on the audit engagement. Communication may be
between or among members of the engagement team, or with:

(a)  The firm, (e.g., individuals performing activities within the firm’s system of quality management, including those
assigned ultimate or operational responsibility for the firm’s system of quality management);

(b)  Others involved in the audit (e.g., internal auditors who provide direct assistance®® or an auditor’s external expert®’);
and

(c)  Parties that are external to the firm (e.g., management, those charged with governance or regulatory authorities).

The nature and circumstances of the audit engagement may affect the engagement partner’s decisions regarding the
appropriate means of effective communication with the members of the engagement team. For example, to support
appropriate direction, supervision and review, the firm may use IT applications to facilitate the communication between the
members of the engagement team when they are performing work across different geographical locations.

Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 7)

A33.

A34

The engagement partner is responsible for emphasizing the importance of each engagement team member exercising
professional skepticism throughout the audit engagement. Conditions inherent in some audit engagements can create pressures
on the engagement team that may impede the appropriate exercise of professional skepticism when designing and performing
audit procedures and evaluating audit evidence. Accordingly, when developing the overall audit strategy in accordance with
ISA 300, the engagement team may need to consider whether such conditions exist in the audit engagement and, if so, what
actions the firm or the engagement team may need to undertake to mitigate such impediments.

. Impediments to the exercise of professional skepticism at the engagement level may include, but are not limited to:

26

27

See ISA 610 (Revised 2013), paragraph A41.
See ISA 620, paragraphs 11(c) and A30.
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Budget constraints, which may discourage the use of sufficiently experienced or technically qualified resources,
including experts, necessary for audits of entities where technical expertise or specialized skills are needed for
effective understanding, assessment of and responses to risks and informed questioning of management.

Tight deadlines, which may negatively affect the behavior of those who perform the work as well as those who direct,
supervise and review. For example, external time pressures may create restrictions to analyzing complex information
effectively.

Lack of cooperation or undue pressures imposed by management, which may negatively affect the engagement team’s
ability to resolve complex or contentious issues.

Insufficient understanding of the entity and its environment, its system of internal control and the applicable financial
reporting framework, which may constrain the ability of the engagement team to make appropriate judgments and an
informed questioning of management’s assertions.

Difficulties in obtaining access to records, facilities, certain employees, customers, vendors or others, which may
cause the engagement team to bias the selection of sources of audit evidence and seek audit evidence from sources that
are more easily accessible.

Overreliance on automated tools and techniques, which may result in the engagement team not critically assessing
audit evidence.

A35. Unconscious or conscious auditor biases may affect the engagement team’s professional judgments, including for example,
in the design and performance of audit procedures, or the evaluation of audit evidence. Examples of unconscious auditor
biases that may impede the exercise of professional skepticism, and therefore the reasonableness of the professional
judgments made by the engagement team in complying with the requirements of this ISA, may include:

Availability bias, which is a tendency to place more weight on events or experiences that immediately come to mind or
are readily available than on those that are not.

Confirmation bias, which is a tendency to place more weight on information that corroborates an existing belief than
information that contradicts or casts doubt on that belief.

Groupthink, which is a tendency to think or make decisions as a group that discourages creativity or individual
responsibility.

Overconfidence bias, which is a tendency to overestimate one’s own ability to make accurate assessments of risk or
other judgments or decisions.

Anchoring bias, which is a tendency to use an initial piece of information as an anchor against which subsequent
information is inadequately assessed.

Automation bias, which is a tendency to favor output generated from automated systems, even when human reasoning
or contradictory information raises questions as to whether such output is reliable or fit for purpose.

A36. Possible actions that the engagement team may take to mitigate impediments to the exercise of professional skepticism at the
engagement level may include:

Remaining alert to changes in the nature or circumstances of the audit engagement that necessitate additional or
different resources for the engagement, and requesting additional or different resources from those individuals within
the firm responsible for allocating or assigning resources to the engagement.

Explicitly alerting the engagement team to instances or situations when vulnerability to unconscious or conscious
auditor biases may be greater (e.g., areas involving greater judgment) and emphasizing the importance of seeking
advice from more experienced members of the engagement team in planning and performing audit procedures.

Changing the composition of the engagement team, for example, requesting that more experienced individuals with
greater skills or knowledge or specific expertise are assigned to the engagement.

Involving more experienced members of the engagement team when dealing with members of management who are
difficult or challenging to interact with.

Involving members of the engagement team with specialized skills and knowledge or an auditor’s expert to assist the
engagement team with complex or subjective areas of the audit.

Modifying the nature, timing and extent of direction, supervision or review by involving more experienced
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engagement team members, more in-person oversight on a more frequent basis or more in-depth reviews of certain
working papers for:

o Complex or subjective areas of the audit;
O  Areas that pose risks to achieving quality on the audit engagement;
O  Areas with a fraud risk; and
o Identified or suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations.
. Setting expectations for:

o Less experienced members of the engagement team to seek advice frequently and in a timely manner from
more experienced engagement team members or the engagement partner; and

o More experienced members of the engagement team to be available to less experienced members of the
engagement team throughout the audit engagement and to respond positively and in a timely manner to their
insights, requests for advice or assistance.

. Communicating with those charged with governance when management imposes undue pressure or the engagement
team experiences difficulties in obtaining access to records, facilities, certain employees, customers, vendors or others
from whom audit evidence may be sought.

Assigning Procedures, Tasks, or Actions to Other Members of the Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 15)

A37. Being sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout the audit engagement when procedures, tasks or actions have been
assigned to other members of the engagement team may be demonstrated by the engagement partner in different ways,
including:

. Informing assignees about the nature of their responsibilities and authority, the scope of the work being assigned and
the objectives thereof; and to provide any other necessary instructions and relevant information.

. Direction and supervision of the assignees.
. Review of the assignees’ work to evaluate the conclusions reached, in addition to the requirements in paragraphs 29—
34.

Relevant Ethical Requirements, Including Those Related to Independence (Ref: Para. 16-21)
Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 1, 16-21)

A38. ISA 2007 requires that the auditor comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence,
relating to financial statement audit engagements. Relevant ethical requirements may vary depending on the nature and
circumstances of the engagement. For example, certain requirements related to independence may be applicable only when
performing audits of listed entities. ISA 600 includes additional requirements and guidance to those in this ISA regarding
communications about relevant ethical requirements with component auditors.

A39. Based on the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement, certain law, regulation or aspects of relevant ethical
requirements, such as those pertaining to non-compliance with laws or regulations, may be relevant to the engagement, for
example laws or regulations dealing with money laundering, corruption, or bribery.

A40. The firm’s information system and the resources provided by the firm may assist the engagement team in understanding and
fulfilling relevant ethical requirements applicable to the nature and circumstances of the audit engagement. For example, the

firm may:

. Communicate the independence requirements to engagement teams.

. Provide training for engagement teams on relevant ethical requirements.

. Establish manuals and guides (i.e., intellectual resources) containing the provisions of the relevant ethical

requirements and guidance on how they are applied in the nature and circumstances of the firm and its engagements.

° Assign personnel to manage and monitor compliance with relevant ethical requirements (e.g., ISQM 1 requires that
the firm obtains, at least annually, a documented confirmation of compliance with the independence requirements

2 ISA 200, paragraphs 14 and A16-A19
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from all personnel required by relevant ethical requirements to be independent) or provide consultation on matters
related to relevant ethical requirements.

° Establish policies or procedures for engagement team members to communicate relevant and reliable information to
appropriate parties within the firm or to the engagement partner, such as policies or procedures for engagement teams
to:

o Communicate information about client engagements and the scope of services, including non-assurance
services, to enable the firm to identify threats to independence during the period of the engagement and during
the period covered by the subject matter.

o Communicate circumstances and relationships that may create a threat to independence, so that the firm can
evaluate whether such a threat is at an acceptable level and if it is not, address the threat by eliminating it or
reducing it to an acceptable level.

o Promptly communicate any breaches of the relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence.

The engagement partner may take into account the information, communication, and resources described in paragraph A40
when determining whether the engagement partner may depend on the firm’s policies or procedures in complying with
relevant ethical requirements.

Open and robust communication between the members of the engagement team about relevant ethical requirements may also
assist in:

° Drawing the attention of engagement team members to relevant ethical requirements that may be of particular
significance to the audit engagement; and

. Keeping the engagement partner informed about matters relevant to the engagement team’s understanding and
fulfillment of relevant ethical requirements and the firm’s related policies or procedures.

Identifying and Evaluating Threats to Compliance with Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 17-18)

A43.

Ad4,

In accordance with ISQM 1, the firm’s responses to address the quality risks in relation to relevant ethical requirements,
including those related to independence for engagement team members, include policies or procedures for identifying,
evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with the relevant ethical requirements.

Relevant ethical requirements may contain provisions regarding the identification and evaluation of threats and how they are
to be dealt with. For example, the IESBA Code explains that a self-interest threat to compliance with the fundamental
principle of professional competence and due care may arise if the fee quoted for an audit engagement is so low that it might
be difficult to perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards.?’

Breaches of Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 19)

A45S.

In accordance with ISQM 1, the firm is required to establish policies or procedures for identifying, communicating,
evaluating and reporting of any breaches of relevant ethical requirements and appropriately responding to the causes and
consequences of the breaches in a timely manner.

Taking Appropriate Action (Ref: Para. 20)

A4e.

Appropriate actions may include, for example:

. Following the firm’s policies or procedures regarding breaches of relevant ethical requirements, including
communicating to or consulting with the appropriate individuals so that appropriate action can be taken, including as
applicable, disciplinary action(s).

. Communicating with those charged with governance.

. Communicating with regulatory authorities or professional bodies. In some circumstances, communication with
regulatory authorities may be required by law or regulation.

. Seeking legal advice.

. Withdrawing from the audit engagement, when withdrawal is possible under applicable law or regulation.

29

IESBA Code, paragraph 330.3 A2
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Prior to Dating the Auditor’s Report (Ref: Para. 21)

A47. ISA 700 (Revised) requires that the auditor’s report include a statement that the auditor is independent of the entity in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to the audit, and that the auditor has fulfilled the auditor’s other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.3® Performing the procedures required by paragraphs 16-21 of
this ISA provides the basis for these statements in the auditor’s report.

Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities

A48. Statutory measures may provide safeguards for the independence of public sector auditors. However, public sector auditors
or audit firms carrying out public sector audits on behalf of the statutory auditor may, depending on the terms of the mandate
in a particular jurisdiction, need to adapt their approach to promote compliance with paragraph 16. This may include, where
the public sector auditor’s mandate does not permit withdrawal from the audit engagement, disclosure through a public report
of circumstances that have arisen that would, if they were in the private sector, lead the auditor to withdraw.

Acceptance and Continuance of Client Relationships and Audit Engagements (Ref: Para. 22-24)

A49. ISQM 1 requires the firm to establish quality objectives that address the acceptance and continuance of client relationships
and specific engagements.

AS50. Information such as the following may assist the engagement partner in determining whether the conclusions reached
regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and audit engagements are appropriate:

. The integrity and ethical values of the principal owners, key management and those charged with governance of the
entity;

. Whether sufficient and appropriate resources are available to perform the engagement;

. Whether management and those charged with governance have acknowledged their responsibilities in relation to the
engagement;

. Whether the engagement team has the competence and capabilities, including sufficient time, to perform the

engagement; and

° Whether significant matters that have arisen during the current or previous engagement have implications for
continuing the engagement.

AS51. Under ISQM 1, for acceptance and continuance decisions, the firm is required to make judgments about the firm’s ability to
perform the engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The engagement partner may use the information considered by the firm in this regard in determining whether the
conclusions reached regarding the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and audit engagements are
appropriate. If the engagement partner has concerns regarding the appropriateness of the conclusions reached, the
engagement partner may discuss the basis for those conclusions with those involved in the acceptance and continuance
process.

AS52. If the engagement partner is directly involved throughout the firm’s acceptance and continuance process, the engagement
partner will be aware of the information obtained or used by the firm, in reaching the related conclusions. Such direct
involvement may also provide a basis for the engagement partner’s determination that the firm’s policies or procedures have
been followed and that the conclusions reached are appropriate.

A53. Information obtained during the acceptance and continuance process may assist the engagement partner in complying with
the requirements of this ISA and making informed decisions about appropriate courses of action. Such information may
include:

. Information about the size, complexity and nature of the entity, including whether it is a group audit, the industry in
which it operates and the applicable financial reporting framework;

° The entity’s timetable for reporting, such as at interim and final stages;
. In relation to group audits, the nature of the control relationships between the parent and its components; and
. Whether there have been changes in the entity or in the industry in which the entity operates since the previous audit

engagement that may affect the nature of resources required, as well as the manner in which the work of the

3 ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 28(c)
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engagement team will be directed, supervised and reviewed.

AS54. Information obtained during acceptance and continuance may also be relevant in complying with the requirements of other
ISAs, as well as this ISA, for example with respect to:

. Establishing an understanding of the terms of the audit engagement, as required by ISA 210;3!

° Identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, in accordance with ISA 315
(Revised 2019) and ISA 240;%

° Understanding the group, its components and their environments, in the case of an audit of group financial statements
in accordance with ISA 600, and directing, supervising and reviewing the work of component auditors;

. Determining whether, and how, to involve an auditor’s expert in accordance with ISA 620; and
o The entity’s governance structure in accordance with ISA 260 (Revised)** and ISA 26534

AS5. Law, regulation, or relevant ethical requirements may require the successor auditor to request, prior to accepting the audit
engagement, the predecessor auditor to provide known information regarding any facts or circumstances that, in the
predecessor auditor’s judgment, the successor auditor needs to be aware of before deciding whether to accept the engagement.
In some circumstances, the predecessor auditor may be required, on request by the proposed successor auditor, to provide
information regarding identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations to the proposed successor auditor. For
example, if the predecessor auditor has withdrawn from the engagement as a result of identified or suspected non-compliance
with laws and regulations, the IESBA Code requires that the predecessor auditor, on request by a proposed successor auditor,
provide all relevant facts and other information concerning such non-compliance that, in the predecessor auditor’s opinion, the
proposed successor auditor needs to be aware of before deciding whether to accept the audit appointment.

A56. In circumstances when the firm is obligated by law or regulation to accept or continue an audit engagement, the engagement
partner may take into account information obtained by the firm about the nature and circumstances of the engagement.

AS57. In deciding on the necessary action, the engagement partner and the firm may conclude that it is appropriate to continue with
the audit engagement and, if so, determine what additional steps are necessary at the engagement level (e.g., the assignment
of more staff or staff with specific expertise). If the engagement partner has further concerns or is not satisfied that the matter
has been appropriately dealt with, the firm’s policies or procedures for resolving differences of opinion may be applicable.

Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities (Ref: Para. 22-24)

AS58. In the public sector, auditors may be appointed in accordance with statutory procedures and the public sector auditor may not
need to establish all policies or procedures regarding the acceptance and continuance of audit engagements. Nevertheless, the
requirements and considerations for the acceptance and continuance of client relationships and engagements as set out in
paragraphs 22-24 and A49—AS57 may be valuable to public sector auditors in performing risk assessments and in carrying out
reporting responsibilities.

Engagement Resources (Ref: Para. 25-28)

A59. Under ISQM 1, the resources assigned or made available by the firm to support the performance of audit engagements

include:

° Human resources;

. Technological resources; and
. Intellectual resources.

A60. Resources for an audit engagement are primarily assigned or made available by the firm, although there may be
circumstances when the engagement team directly obtains resources for the audit engagement. For example, this may be the
case when a component auditor is required by statute, regulation or for another reason to express an audit opinion on the
financial statements of a component, and the component auditor is also appointed by component management to perform

31 ISA 210, Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraph 9

32 ISA 240, The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements
3 ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance

3% ISA 265, Communicating Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance and Management
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audit procedures on behalf of the group engagement team.*® In such circumstances, the firm’s policies or procedures may
require the engagement partner to take different actions, such as requesting information from the component auditor, to
determine whether sufficient and appropriate resources are assigned or made available.

A61. A relevant consideration for the engagement partner, in complying with the requirements in paragraphs 25 and 26, may be
whether the resources assigned or made available to the engagement team enable fulfillment of relevant ethical requirements,
including ethical principles such as professional competence and due care.

Human Resources

A62. Human resources include members of the engagement team (see also paragraphs A5, A15-A21) and, where applicable, an
auditor’s external expert and individuals from within the entity’s internal audit function who provide direct assistance on the
audit.

Technological Resources

A63. The use of technological resources on the audit engagement may assist the auditor in obtaining sufficient appropriate audit
evidence. Technological tools may allow the auditor to more effectively and efficiently manage the audit. Technological
tools may also allow the auditor to evaluate large amounts of data more easily to, for example, provide deeper insights,
identify unusual trends or more effectively challenge management’s assertions, which enhances the ability of the auditor to
exercise professional skepticism. Technological tools may also be used to conduct meetings and provide communication
tools to the engagement team. Inappropriate use of such technological resources may, however, increase the risk of
overreliance on the information produced for decision making purposes, or may create threats to complying with relevant
ethical requirements, for example, requirements related to confidentiality.

A64. The firm’s policies or procedures may include required considerations or responsibilities for the engagement team when
using firm approved technological tools to perform audit procedures and may require the involvement of individuals with
specialized skills or expertise in evaluating or analyzing the output.

A65. When the engagement partner requires individuals from another firm to use specific automated tools and techniques when
performing audit procedures, communications with those individuals may indicate that the use of such automated tools and
techniques needs to comply with the engagement team’s instructions.

A66. The firm’s policies or procedures may specifically prohibit the use of certain IT applications or features of IT applications
(e.g., software that has not yet been specifically approved for use by the firm). Alternatively, the firm’s policies or procedures
may require the engagement team to take certain actions before using an IT application that is not firm-approved to determine
it is appropriate for use, for example by requiring:

. The engagement team to have appropriate competence and capabilities to use the IT application.
. Testing the operation and security of the IT application.
. Specific documentation to be included in the audit file.

A67. The engagement partner may exercise professional judgment in considering whether the use of an IT application on the audit
engagement is appropriate in the context of the engagement, and if so, how the IT application is to be used. Factors that may
be considered in determining whether a particular IT application, that has not been specifically approved for use by the firm,
is appropriate for use in the audit engagement include whether:

. Use and security of the IT application complies with the firm’s policies or procedures.
. The IT application operates as intended.
. Personnel have the competence and capabilities required to use the IT application.

Intellectual Resources

A68. Intellectual resources include, for example, audit methodologies, implementation tools, auditing guides, model programs,
templates, checklists or forms.

A69. The use of intellectual resources on the audit engagement may facilitate the consistent application and understanding of
professional standards, law and regulation, and related firm policies or procedures. For this purpose, the engagement team
may be required, in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures, to use the firm’s audit methodology and specific tools

3 ISA 600, paragraph 3
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and guidance. The engagement team may also consider whether the use of other intellectual resources is appropriate and
relevant based on the nature and circumstances of the engagement, for example, an industry specific methodology or related
guides and performance aids.

Sufficient and Appropriate Resources to Perform the Engagement (Ref: Para. 25)

A70.

In determining whether sufficient and appropriate resources to perform the engagement have been assigned or made available to
the engagement team, ordinarily the engagement partner may depend on the firm’s related policies or procedures (including
resources) as described in paragraph A6. For example, based on information communicated by the firm, the engagement partner
may be able to depend on the firm’s technological development, implementation and maintenance programs when using
firm-approved technology to perform audit procedures.

Competence and Capabilities of the Engagement Team (Ref: Para. 26)

AT1.

AT2.

When determining that the engagement team has the appropriate competence and capabilities, the engagement partner may
take into consideration such matters as the team’s:

. Understanding of, and practical experience with, audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity through
appropriate training and participation.

. Understanding of professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
. Expertise in specialized areas of accounting or auditing.
. Expertise in IT used by the entity or automated tools or techniques that are to be used by the engagement team in

planning and performing the audit engagement.

. Knowledge of relevant industries in which the entity being audited operates.
. Ability to exercise professional skepticism and professional judgment.
. Understanding of the firm’s policies or procedures.

Internal auditors and an auditor’s external expert are not members of the engagement team. ISA 610 (Revised 2013)*¢ and
ISA 620% include requirements and guidance relating to the assessment of the competence and capabilities of internal
auditors and an auditor’s external expert, respectively.

Project Management

A73.

A74.

In situations where there are many engagement team members, for example in an audit of a larger or more complex entity, the
engagement partner may involve an individual who has specialized skills or knowledge in project management, supported by
appropriate technological and intellectual resources of the firm. Conversely, in an audit of a less complex entity with few
engagement team members, project management may be achieved by a member of the engagement team through less formal
means.

Project management techniques and tools may support the engagement team in managing the quality of the audit engagement
by, for example:

. Increasing the engagement team’s ability to exercise professional skepticism through alleviating budget or time
constraints that may otherwise impede the exercise of professional skepticism;

. Facilitating timely performance of audit work to effectively manage time constraints at the end of the audit process
when more difficult or contentious matters may arise;

. Monitoring the progress of the audit against the audit plan,*® including the achievement of key milestones, which may

assist the engagement team in being proactive in identifying the need for making timely adjustments to the audit plan
and the assigned resources; or

. Facilitating communication among members of the engagement team, for example, coordinating arrangements with
component auditors and auditor’s experts.

3 ISA 610 (Revised 2013), paragraph 15
37 ISA 620, paragraph 9
38 See ISA 300, paragraph 9.
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Insufficient or Inappropriate Resources (Ref: Para. 27)

A7S.

A76.

AT7.

AT78.

ISQM 1 addresses the firm’s commitment to quality through its culture that exists throughout the firm, which recognizes
and reinforces the firm’s role in serving the public interest by consistently performing quality engagements, and the
importance of quality in the firm’s strategic decisions and actions, including the firm’s financial and operational priorities.
ISQM 1 also addresses the firm’s responsibilities for planning for resource needs, and obtaining, allocating or assigning
resources in a manner that is consistent with the firm’s commitment to quality. However, in certain circumstances, the
firm’s financial and operational priorities may place constraints on the resources assigned or made available to the
engagement team. In such circumstances, these constraints do not override the engagement partner’s responsibility for
achieving quality at the engagement level, including for determining that the resources assigned or made available by the
firm are sufficient and appropriate to perform the audit engagement.

In an audit of group financial statements, when there are insufficient or inappropriate resources in relation to work being
performed at a component by a component auditor, the engagement partner may discuss the matter with the component
auditor, management or the firm to make sufficient and appropriate resources available.

The engagement partner’s determination of whether additional engagement level resources are required is a matter of
professional judgment and is influenced by the requirements of this ISA and the nature and circumstances of the audit
engagement. As described in paragraph All, in certain circumstances, the engagement partner may determine that the
firm’s responses to quality risks are ineffective in the context of the specific engagement, including that certain resources
assigned or made available to the engagement team are insufficient. In those circumstances, the engagement partner is
required to take appropriate action, including communicating such information to the appropriate individuals in accordance
with paragraph 27 and paragraph 39(c). For example, if an audit software program provided by the firm has not
incorporated new or revised audit procedures in respect of recently issued industry regulation, timely communication of
such information to the firm enables the firm to take steps to update and reissue the software promptly or to provide an
alternative resource that enables the engagement team to comply with the new regulation in the performance of the audit
engagement.

If the resources assigned or made available are insufficient or inappropriate in the circumstances of the engagement and
additional or alternative resources have not been made available, appropriate actions may include:

. Changing the planned approach to the nature, timing and extent of direction, supervision and review (see also
paragraph A94).
. Discussing an extension to reporting deadlines with management or those charged with governance, when an

extension is possible under applicable law or regulation.

. Following the firm’s policies or procedures for resolving differences of opinion if the engagement partner does not
obtain the necessary resources for the audit engagement.

. Following the firm’s policies or procedures for withdrawing from the audit engagement, when withdrawal is possible
under applicable law or regulation.

Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities (Ref: Para. 25-28)

AT79.

In the public sector, specialized skills may be necessary to discharge the terms of the audit mandate in a particular
jurisdiction. Such skills may include an understanding of the applicable reporting arrangements, including reporting to the
legislature or other governing body or reporting in the public interest. The wider scope of a public sector audit may include,
for example, some aspects of performance auditing.

Engagement Performance

Scalability (Ref: Para. 29)

A80.

When an audit is not carried out entirely by the engagement partner, or in an audit of an entity whose nature and
circumstances are more complex, it may be necessary for the engagement partner to assign direction, supervision, and review
to other members of the engagement team. However, as part of the engagement partner’s overall responsibility for managing
and achieving quality on the audit engagement and to be sufficiently and appropriately involved, the engagement partner is
required to determine that the nature, timing and extent of direction, supervision and review is undertaken in accordance with
paragraph 30. In such circumstances, personnel or members of the engagement team, including component auditors, may
provide information to the engagement partner to enable the engagement partner to make the determination required by
paragraph 30.
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Direction, Supervision and Review (Ref: Para. 30)

A8l.

AB82.

A83.

AB4.

Under ISQM 1, the firm is required to establish a quality objective that addresses the nature, timing and extent of the
direction and supervision of engagement teams and review of their work. ISQM 1 also requires that such direction,
supervision and review is planned and performed on the basis that the work performed by less experienced members of the
engagement team is directed, supervised and reviewed by more experienced engagement team members.

Direction and supervision of the engagement team and the review of the work of the engagement team are firm-level
responses that are implemented at the engagement level, of which the nature, timing and extent may be further tailored by the
engagement partner in managing the quality of the audit engagement. Accordingly, the approach to direction, supervision
and review will vary from one engagement to the next, taking into account the nature and circumstances of the engagement.
The approach will generally include a combination of addressing the firm’s policies or procedures and engagement specific
responses.

The approach to the direction and supervision of the members of the engagement team and the review of their work provides
support for the engagement partner in fulfilling the requirements of this ISA, and in concluding that the engagement partner
has been sufficiently and appropriately involved throughout the audit engagement in accordance with paragraph 40.

Ongoing discussion and communication among members of the engagement team allows less experienced engagement team

members to raise questions with more experienced engagement team members (including the engagement partner) in a
timely manner and enables effective direction, supervision and review in accordance with paragraph 30.

Direction

A8S.

Direction of the engagement team may involve informing the members of the engagement team of their responsibilities, such
as:

. Contributing to the management and achievement of quality at the engagement level through their personal conduct,
communication and actions.

. Maintaining a questioning mind and being aware of unconscious or conscious auditor biases in exercising professional
skepticism when gathering and evaluating audit evidence (see paragraph A35).

. Fulfilling relevant ethical requirements.

. The responsibilities of respective partners when more than one partner is involved in the conduct of an audit
engagement.

. The responsibilities of respective engagement team members to perform audit procedures and of more experienced
engagement team members to direct, supervise and review the work of less experienced engagement team members.

. Understanding the objectives of the work to be performed and the detailed instructions regarding the nature, timing
and extent of planned audit procedures as set forth in the overall audit strategy and audit plan.

. Addressing threats to the achievement of quality, and the engagement team’s expected response. For example, budget
constraints or resource constraints should not result in the engagement team members modifying planned audit
procedures or failing to perform planned audit procedures.

Supervision

A86.

Supervision may include matters such as:

. Tracking the progress of the audit engagement, which includes monitoring:
o  The progress against the audit plan;
o  Whether the objective of work performed has been achieved; and
o  The ongoing adequacy of assigned resources.

. Taking appropriate action to address issues arising during the engagement, including for example, reassigning
planned audit procedures to more experienced engagement team members when issues are more complex than
initially anticipated.

. Identifying matters for consultation or consideration by more experienced engagement team members during the audit
engagement.
° Providing coaching and on-the-job training to help engagement team members develop skills or competencies.
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° Creating an environment where engagement team members raise concerns without fear of reprisals.
Review
A87. Review of the engagement team’s work provides support for the conclusion that the requirements of this ISA have been
addressed.
A88. Review of the engagement team’s work consists of consideration of whether, for example:
. The work has been performed in accordance with the firm’s policies or procedures, professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements;
. Significant matters have been raised for further consideration;
. Appropriate consultations have taken place and the resulting conclusions have been documented and implemented;
. There is a need to revise the nature, timing and extent of work performed;
. The work performed supports the conclusions reached and is appropriately documented;
. The evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the auditor’s opinion; and
. The objectives of the audit procedures have been achieved.
A89. The firm’s policies or procedures may contain specific requirements regarding:

. The nature, timing and extent of review of audit documentation;

. Different types of review that may be appropriate in different situations (e.g., review of each individual working paper
or selected working papers); and

. Which members of the engagement team are required to perform the different types of review.

The Engagement Partner’s Review (Ref: Para. 30-34)

A90.
A9l.

A92.

As required by ISA 230, the engagement partner documents the date and extent of the review.*

Timely review of documentation by the engagement partner at appropriate stages throughout the audit engagement enables
significant matters to be resolved to the engagement partner’s satisfaction on or before the date of the auditor’s report. The
engagement p